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Statement from our Clinical Chair and 
Accountable Officer 
 
Welcome to the NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Annual Report 
and Accounts for the 2019/20 financial year. 

This report provides an overview of our role and responsibilities as a CCG planning and 
purchasing health care services on behalf of our population of just over 250,000 people.  

The report is split into a number of sections; the performance section provides an overview of 
who we are and how we have performed against national standards.  The accountability report 
provides detail about our committees and governance structures as well as information about 
our member GP practices.   

The last section of the report is our annual accounts and provides detail about how we have 
spent the budget allocated to us to plan and purchase healthcare services on behalf of our 
local population. 

This report is our last as NHS North Durham CCG as on 1 April 2020 we formally merged with  
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCG to form NHS County Durham 
CCG.  Those of you who have read previous Annual Reports or kept updated on local NHS 
matters will know that we have always enjoyed a very close relationship with our neighbouring 
CCG.   

In recent years we have shared a joint management structure with our Durham neighbours and 
also CCGs in Darlington and on Teesside who themselves have merged three CCGs to 
become a Tees Valley CCG.   

As part of these changes, Dr Neil O’Brien will continue as our Accountable Officer but has also 
taken on a similar role across Sunderland and South Tyneside which aligns with the regional 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) structure. At the same time, it marks another milestone with 
Dr David Smart stepping down as Clinical Chair of the CCG.   

Integration is very much at the heart of what we do in County Durham and have been excited 
to continue working very closely with our partners as part of the County Durham Care 
Partnership. 

The Partnership brings together NHS organisations, Durham County Council and other health 
and care providers in a true collaboration, driving our ambition to further develop system-wide 
integrated models of care.  Over the past three years the Partnership has been successfully 
developing opportunities to provide health and social care services in an integrated way to the 
people of County Durham. This has been evidenced with the implementation of a new 
community service model, wrapped around primary care, as well as the emerging integrated 
commissioning function.  

The Teams Around Patients model is now well established and operational across 13 localities 
in County Durham and has provided an excellent platform for the emerging Primary Care 
Networks. This has further supported the development of primary care infrastructure with the 
aim of enabling greater provision of proactive, better co-ordinated care for local populations. 
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As we reflect on 2019/20, a key priority for the CCG has always been to ensure that a local 
focus is maintained across our constituencies of Chester-le-Street, Derwentside and Durham.  

This continues to be led by local clinicians working within our member practices and local 
health systems. They work to ensure a continued focus on the specific health needs of our 
local populations, working closely with Durham County Council and NHS Foundation Trusts. 

We recognise that the NHS commissioning and delivery functions are essential for improving 
quality for patients, developing services to ensure that they are fit for purpose, manage 
demand and are in line with the ambitions of the NHS Long Term Plan which was published in 
January 2019. 

From a regional perspective, we are a key NHS partner in the North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care System (ICS) which is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) 
and as previously mentioned moving forward Dr Neil O’Brien’s role is a joint one covering other 
CCGs in the Central ICP area, which ensures we have regional influence, insight and 
leadership. 

We have also maintained our focus on engaging with our patients and our population, working 
with our Patient Reference Groups and organisations such as Healthwatch and the voluntary 
sector to ensure that patients, carers, families, partners and stakeholders have the opportunity 
to be involved in service change and reconfiguration.   

In this last year, we engaged with our local population and partners on Stroke Services and 
Ward 6 at Bishop Auckland Hospital.  We began a formal public consultation on proposals to 
make changes to these services and after listening to feedback from those who participated 
and seeing unprecedented demand for inpatient beds we made the decision to withdraw the 
proposals.  We also engaged extensively on the future of services at Shotley Bridge 
Community Hospital and anticipate further engagement activity later this year.  Further 
information about our engagement activity is featured later on in this report. 

Finally, looking ahead to 2020/21 and at the time of writing we are continuing to face and deal 
with the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has had an unprecedented impact on 
the NHS and wider health and social care system as well as the lives of everyone up and down 
the country.   

We thank every member of staff working to continue to provide services across County 
Durham and our condolences go out to those who have lost loved ones to Coronavirus. 

COVID-19 and its impact will be felt for a long time even when national restrictions are lifted 
and this will undoubtedly have a significant impact on the way the NHS delivers services and 
our role as a commissioning organisation.  That said, we are optimistic that with the strong ties 
that bind our people and our partners working with us to deliver health services there is much 
to be optimistic about in the coming year across County Durham. 

 

Dr David Smart      Dr Neil O’Brien 

Clinical Chair      Accountable Officer  

  



 
 

 5  
 
 

 

PERFORMANCE REPORT   
Performance Overview 
 

NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) has an annual duty to review 
national planning guidance and agree a range of priorities for the financial year that form the 
basis of our annual operating plans.  

The purpose of the following overview section is to enable you to understand the CCG, our 
purpose, our challenges, our approach, our priorities and any associated risks to the 
achievement of those priorities. It also outlines how we have performed during the year and 
should enable you to have an overview of the CCG and work that it does without the need to 
look further into the Annual Report.   
 
The content that follows contains further detail including that about accountability and decision-
making. The sections being: 
 

• a performance analysis, 
• a Corporate Governance Report, 
• a Remuneration and Staff Report,  
• a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report, 
• the CCG’s Financial Statements. 

 
In this overview we start with information specific to our population, our geographical area and 
how our member practices work together locally to help to address health inequalities. 

We have included some information about the work done following the Governing Body’s 
decision to submit an application to merge with Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
(DDES) CCG. 

We then explain our role in regional collaborative working across the health and social care 
system across the North East and Cumbria which is the NHS England geographical area within 
which we operate.     

Focussing on local arrangements we turn to the integrated approach we take with our local 
partners as part of the County Durham Care Partnership. Our key partners include Durham 
County Council, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust which is our main 
acute and community trust, and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust our main 
provider of mental health services and services for those with learning disabilities. We 
reference our Health and Social Care Plan, our Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy and 
our County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan.   

There are also a range of other areas that are essential to the successful delivery of our 
ambitions that we try never lose sight of. These include improving quality, engaging with our 
patients and the public, tackling our performance challenges, financial stability and the 
management of risk. 
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We outline the priorities we focussed on in 2019/20 highlighting some examples of specific 
pieces of work ranging from mental health services for children, developments to improve 
cancer care and the provision of support to our veterans all of which demonstrate how our 
approach has resulted in improved pathways and better quality services for our local 
population.  

Finally we have a brief look ahead at the priorities for 2020/21 for our successor organisation, 
the new NHS County Durham CCG. 

 
About NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

Our health challenges 

People who live in the North Durham area have significant health challenges and problems. 
They are also more likely to die sooner than those living in other parts of the country. The main 
causes of early death include high levels of cancer and diseases of the heart or blood vessels. 
With an ageing population, we also experience greater demand for hospital services and an 
increase in illnesses related to older people such as stroke, long-term conditions and 
dementia.  
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The large student population in Durham City results in a demand for sexual health, alcohol and 
harm reduction services. Other key challenges facing North Durham CCG include: 

• health problems caused by unemployment and low incomes, 
• many local people are still smoking, drinking too much alcohol and are overweight, 
• people with disabilities have worse health than those without, 
• local children’s health and lifestyles are poorer than elsewhere in the country, 
• the environment can have an effect on health, for example changes in the weather or 

lots of traffic in some areas 
• social isolation. 

 

Reducing health inequalities  
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic 
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health 
profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to 
engage hard to reach groups.  
 
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We work in partnership with 
local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations and community groups to 
identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to improve health and health care 
for the local population. More detailed information is provided in the Performance Analysis 
section from page 28.  
 
As outlined below we seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual 
feedback/input, consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, 
attendance at community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus 
groups and Healthwatch. Again more detailed information is provided in the Performance 
Analysis section from page 28 onwards. 
 
Our area 
 
Our 30 member practices are organised into three constituency areas – Durham, Chester-le-
Street and Derwentside. Durham and Chester-le-Street cover a mixture of rural and urban 
areas with two main population centres - Durham City and Chester-le-Street. Derwentside 
comprises a mixture of urban, semi-urban and rural areas with the population concentrated in 
Stanley and Consett. The University of Durham is home to a large and internationally diverse 
student population. There are significant variations in health across these three areas. The 
CCG is coterminous with Durham County Council and about 97% of our population live within 
the council boundaries. The remainder live in Gateshead and Sunderland. 
 
Our Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
 
In January 2019, the NHS Long Term Plan was published, placing an emphasis on prevention, 
population health and integration.  A key part of this was the creation of Primary Care 
Networks (PCNs) which were a natural progression from the work that we had done in North 
Durham over the previous couple of years in developing Teams Around Patients (TAPs).   
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PCNs are groups of neighbouring general practices in our area working together and with 
community, mental health, social care, pharmacy, hospital, dentistry and voluntary services.  
Looking at the specific health and social care needs of patients living in their areas, PCNs are 
focusing on providing personalised, proactive and coordinated care for their patients, to help 
them live healthier for longer.  Our TAPs developed further into PCNs with some changes to 
the geographical groupings of member practices which work closely together. 
 
PCNs were officially formed on 1 July 2019 but given the way our member practices were 
already working we were able to establish them well in advance of that date.  The five PCNs in 
our area are: 
 

• Chester-le-Street, 
• Claypath and University, 
• Derwentside, 
• Durham East, 
• Durham West. 

 
Clinical Leadership 
We have continued to ensure strong clinical leadership throughout 2019/20. Our Clinical Chair, 
Clinical Accountable Officer and Medical Director are all GPs who work within the CCG’s area.  
In addition we have a number of GP Clinical Leads who provide clinical advice and local 
knowledge across the range of our clinical priorities.  They take part in our governance 
arrangements as appropriate to ensure clinical challenge. 
 
Our approach  
 
Led by our member general practices NHS North Durham CCG exists to secure high quality 
services for our local population. We are committed to ensuring that people get the same 
quality and access to health services, wherever they live. We aim to ensure that health 
services meet the needs of patients, that the health of the community is improved, health 
inequalities are reduced and that the CCG obtains value for money and efficiency from 
available resources. 
 
In doing this we follow national guidance and work collaboratively with our partners both 
regionally and locally.   

 
Merger of CCGs in County Durham 
 
We have worked closely with Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG for a number of 
years. Together we are coterminous with our local authority and our main provider of both 
acute and community services.  Following the direction of travel agreed with our Council of 
Members, in August 2019 the CCG’s Governing Body agreed to progress integration further by 
way of the submission of an application for the merger of North Durham CCG and Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG.   
 
The Governing Bodies of both CCGs were aware that substantial work had already been 
undertaken to build on the solid foundations of collaborative working, both in the separate 
County Durham and Tees Valley localities as well as the wider five-CCG geography. 
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In addition to the appointment of a shared Accountable Officer and Chief Officers, we had 
streamlined the management structure and decision-making arrangements across the CCGs in 
order to minimise duplication wherever possible and provide a consistent approach to strategic 
issues such as: clinical pathway redesign and quality improvement e.g. vascular services, 
children’s services, mental health and learning disabilities. The importance of ensuring a local 
focus was maintained was recognised and priority was given to ensuring work with our 
partners at a very local level continued to be supported, with locality facing Directors, senior 
involvement in partnership forums with local authorities and key providers, and continued 
meaningful engagement with our members, patients and the public. Similarly, a local focus was 
retained for primary care commissioning and transformation given the importance of 
maintaining support for our Primary Care Networks.   
 
Given that one of the requirements of the Long Term Plan was to have fewer more ‘strategic’ 
commissioning organisations, a reduction in running costs by at least 20%, a need to focus on 
transforming services across providers to provide better outcomes for patients and to reduce 
inequality, the CCG Governing Body requested that officers consider the potential additional 
benefits and the challenges of merging organisations to create new CCGs with a broader 
geographical reach.  
 
A significant amount of work was then undertaken from summer 2019 on a full ‘Case for 
Change’ for the proposal to merge, in readiness to submit the applications for dissolution of the 
two CCGs and the formation of the proposed new CCG.  Included in the case for change was 
the background and context relating to the proposed changes; the options considered and the 
preferred option; the legal framework within which the changes would be delivered; the 
potential benefits and challenges identified in particular those identified from feedback the 
public, member, partner, stakeholder and staff engagement process; the impact on financial 
sustainability and efficiency; the outcome of the equality impact assessment; and identified 
risks and mitigations.    
 
The application was submitted and subsequently approved by NHS England.  Dr Neil O’Brien 
was appointed as the Accountable Officer for the new NHS County Durham CCG. 
 
Similarly, our neighbouring CCGs of NHS Darlington CCG, NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-
Tees CCG and NHS South Tees CCG merged to form NHS Tees Valley CCG. 
 
 
Regional Collaboration  
 
The North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care 
Partnerships (ICPs) 
 
In June 2019 the North East and North Cumbria (NENC) was confirmed by NHS England as 
one of a small number of ‘Integrated Care Systems’ across the country. 
 
The NENC Integrated Care System (ICS) is a regional partnership between the NHS, local 
authorities, and others, taking collective responsibility for resources, setting strategic objectives 
and care standards, and improving the health of the 3.1 million people it serves. The NHS 
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Long Term Plan published in January 2019 set out clear expectations for all Integrated Care 
Systems. 
 
Our ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners and providers, and our partners, and not a 
new organisation with statutory powers. The majority of our work is focused in places and 
neighbourhoods; but, alongside this, our ICS provides a mechanism to build consensus on 
those issues that need to be tackled ‘at scale’.  
 
Our ICS builds upon existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of clinical 
commissioning groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. This involves local 
primary care networks (GPs and other health and care professionals) and NHS foundation 
trusts, working with local authority and voluntary sector partners, in improving health and 
wellbeing through extending the reach and effectiveness of our services. 
 
The NENC ICS is focussed on ‘at scale’ priorities that multiplies our collective impact around 
overarching clinical strategy and clinical networks, strategic commissioning (e.g. for ambulance 
services) and shared policy development.   It is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships 
(ICPs).  
 
During 2019/20 we have been working across three levels of scale: 
 

• Place – populations of circa 150,000 to 500,000 people will be the main focus for 
partnership working between the NHS and local authorities. In these areas, primary care 
networks (providing services to populations of circa 30,000-50,000 people) will support 
collaboration between GP practices, social care, other community based care providers 
and voluntary sector organisations.  

• Integrated care partnerships – populations of around one million (with the exception of 
North Cumbria, which has unique geographical and demographic features), focused on 
collaboration across NHS hospital trusts, to ensure safe and sustainable services. 

• Integrated care system – a population of circa 3.1 million people, focussed on ‘at 
scale’ activity that achieves efficiencies. 

 
In County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS organisations came together, 
working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a coordinated way as 
the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).   
 
NHS North Durham CCG was one of the NHS partners in the NENC ICS which agreed to work 
together at scale where it makes most sense to do so, and to protect and emphasise the 
importance of ‘place’ - local accountability to local populations and the ability to respond to 
local needs.  
 
Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) will continue to 
work with our partners to develop further care models that support the balancing of capacity 
and demand across the health economy.   
 
Based upon the Long Term Plan, Integrated Care Systems were asked to create their five-year 
strategic plans by November 2019 covering the period 2019/20 to 2023/24. Our North East and 
North Cumbia ICS Plan outlines how we will: 
 



 
 

 11  
 
 

 

• bring together local organisations in a pragmatic and practical way; 
• ensure patients get more options, better support, and properly joined-up care at the right 

time and place; 
• relieve pressure on A&Es through more effective population health management and 

service coordination; 
• strengthen our contribution to prevention and tackling health inequalities to help people 

stay healthy and moderate demand on the NHS; 
• develop a new ‘system architecture’ that delivers strategic action on workforce 

transformation, digitally-enabled care, and the collaborative approaches to innovation 
and efficiency that will restore our whole ICS to financial balance. 

 
Throughout 2019/20 the CCG played a significant role in the development of the ICS and the 
ICP with the CCG’s Accountable Officer being a member of the ICS Management Group, the 
ICS Clinical Strategy Group and Critical Care Network.   
 
The CCG’s Chief Officer led the North East and Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network 
and was the lead commissioner on behalf of the North East and Cumbria for the North East 
Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust.  Our other Chief Officer was the Senior 
Responsible Officer for learning disabilities and autism across Cumbrian and the North East. 
 
The County Durham, Darlington and Tees Valley Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 
Partnership  
 
In April 2017 the five CCGs across County Durham and the Tees Valley began a formal 
partnership arrangement with Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) with 
the aim of working together as one responsive system to plan, buy and deliver high quality, 
best value services for people living with learning disability, autism or mental health needs. The 
partnership continues to develop, working alongside our six local authorities who all have seats 
on the partnership board. The partnership was formed based on our shared aspiration for 
better quality and outcomes leading to an improved quality of life for people who need our 
services, this is set against an ever increasing financial challenge for the NHS and a 
requirement to deliver National and Local plans. 
 
The partnership identified a number of key outcomes including: 
 

• less reliance on hospital admissions through improved community services, 
• prevention, early identification and intervention, 
• shared ambitions and goals, 
• improved quality of life and peoples experience, 
• spending your money on the right things. 

 
These outcomes sit alongside our agreed principles: 

• mental health is as important as physical health, 
• we will be ambitious for the people we serve and the staff we employ, 
• we are equals in our partnership, 
• we will do the work once and avoid duplication, 
• we will share our problems and issues, 
• we will deliver services at the appropriate level, at the right time and as local as 

possible, 
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• we will be honest that some services need to be at a larger scale, 
• we will build constructive relationships with all stakeholders, 
• we will take a shared approach to managing risks. 

 
The partnership has a set of strategic outcomes which are based on a recovery and wellbeing 
approach for all of our services and an improved experience of those services for all people 
using them. We recognise that people with mental health problems, learning disabilities or 
autism often have poorer physical health than the general population and this is something we 
aim to address. In order to improve our services we need to make sure that investment is 
available and also that it is spent wisely. Over the life of the partnership we have significantly 
increased the investment in mental health and learning disability services per head of 
population by an average of more than 20%. 
 
To date the partnership has focussed its work in a number of areas and can point to a number 
of achievements including: 
 

• improved quality assurance on packages of care for vulnerable people through the 
introduction of more effective case management, 

• investment in enhanced services for people with learning disabilities, 
• working differently as a system to achieve agreed commissioning priorities 
• better shared understanding of our financial position and transparent investment 

decisions, 
• enhanced perinatal mental health services, 
• significant additional investment in our children’s mental health and learning 

disability services, 
• developed shared care arrangements for people with dementia to receive treatment 

closer to home. 
 

However this is only the beginning and we have a number of initiatives in development 
including: 
 

• further expansion of our enhanced case management, 
• further development of our mental health liaison services in our acute hospitals, 
• integration of our community mental health teams into primary care networks, 
• achieving the goals for transforming care to ensure that people with a learning 

disability or autism get out of unnecessary hospital placements, 
• development of specialist Persistent Physical Symptoms services, 
• developing individual placement support to help people into employment, 
• developing children’s’ safe space, 
• development of personal health budgets and increase options for respite care, 
• investment in our third sector providers, 
• development of new psychological wellbeing and treatment services, 
• Right Care, Right Place programme (delivery of the community mental health 

framework), 
• development of whole pathway commissioning for children and young people mental 

health services. 
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Looking beyond these developments we have a range of other targeted ambitions. We remain 
on track for delivery of the mental health and learning disability elements of the long term plan 
for the NHS. We will also further develop our autism services to reduce waiting times and 
enhance support to improve outcomes for people affected by autism. We will continue to 
explore our options for better integrated working across health and social care and we have an 
ambition to further develop our financial approaches to include other budgets responsibilities 
as the partnership develops. 
 
Partnership working locally  
 
The CCG is supported by the North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) in 
commissioning services. The CCG contracts with NECS to provide a range of support services 
including provider management, finance and data analysis. We also work closely with a range 
of partners to ensure that work is delivered in the most effective way, these include:   
 

• neighbouring CCGs,  
• acute care and ambulance providers and ambulance trusts,  
• mental health providers,  
• Durham County Council,  
• social care,  
• public health,  
• community pharmacists.  

 
Locally we worked closely and in collaboration with partners such as our Local Authority, 
Durham County Council, and provider trusts in the work that we did.  In County Durham, we 
have a strong and long-standing track record of effective partnerships and integrated working.   
 
The benefits of such an approach for local residents have included:  
 

• faster improvements in care, 
• improved health outcomes across whole populations, 
• an improved approach to prevention with a focus on joined up solutions, 
• less duplication across the system, making it easier to navigate for the public and staff, 
• maximising the impact of the Durham pound by using collective resources more 

efficiently.  
 
Local priorities are set out in strategies such as our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
We also have Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham agreed with partners which 
describes three key elements:  
 

• an Integrated Governance Framework, 
• an Integrated provider model for community services, 
• a proposed Joint Strategic Commissioning Function. 

 
County Durham Care Partnership  
 
County Durham has ambitious plans for the integration of health and social care, building on a 
strong track record of partnership working. 
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There is a clear consensus that reorganising services around people with increasingly complex 
health and social care needs will improve outcomes for people. An integrated whole system 
approach is also expected to facilitate a move away from episodic ill health and care towards a 
greater emphasis on early intervention, prevention and promoting independence.  
This requires integrated care and support by a number of different disciplines and services 
which are fundamental to a person’s good health and wellbeing, with the GP as the expert 
medical generalist at the centre of the process. Integration of care is about placing patients at 
the centre of the design and delivery of care. It leads to better outcomes for patients, safer 
services, improved patient experience and can also result in more cost-effective care.  
In 2017 Durham County Council, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, North 
Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG committed to a true 
partnership approach for the delivery and design of health and social care services with the 
creation of the County Durham Integrated Community Care Partnership (ICCP). 
 
The Partnership has responsibility for the delivery of a new, redesigned community service 
model involving integrated service delivery between community health and adult social care. A 
new Community Services contract was awarded to County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust with primary care placed at the centre of a redefined delivery model to 
support integration and joint working between community health and social care, centred 
around embracing true partnership and collaboration.  
 
This last year saw a lot happen, including building on our work in developing Teams Around 
Patients (TAPs), supporting and developing our staff through the leadership programme and 
cultural competency framework, honing governance structures, reviewing services and 
pathways, strengthening partnership working with the wider system including providers, the 
emergence of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and establishing the PCN structure and the 
appointment of the Head of Integrated Commissioning along with a new model for an 
integrated commissioning function.  
 
All of this whilst continuing to deliver high quality services to the people of County Durham in 
an environment that is pressured due to demand and available resource.  
 
In the New Year, the board renamed itself to the County Durham Care Partnership. This 
reflects the need to have the care of our local people front and centre to our work and 
reinforces the uniqueness of County Durham in terms of our heritage and geography.  
 
Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham  
 
As already outlined above County Durham, there is a strong and long-standing track record of 
effective partnerships and integrated working. Health and local authority organisations 
(provider and commissioner) work in line with the following principles for health and care 
delivery. 
 

• A whole system approach, moving from fragmented to integrated care, with a 
willingness to put the needs of the public before the needs of individual organisations. 

• Person-focused to promote wellbeing, prevention and independence. 
• Providing the right care and support, in the right place, at the right time, by the right 

person. 
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• Delivering a sustainable health and social care system within existing resources, using 
a multidisciplinary team approach. 

• A system built on trust, not only between leaders and organisations but also with local 
people and communities. 

• Supporting and developing staff to develop a shared culture, behaviours and ownership. 
• Everyone’s contribution matters – from local people, frontline teams, healthcare 

practitioners, providers, voluntary and community sector leaders and board members.  
• The integrated model will be developed to link with the wider system including housing, 

employment, the environment, voluntary and community facilities, in order to align 
priorities for the benefit of local communities. This evolving partnership approach will 
involve primary care being at the centre of patient activity and taking a proactive role in 
the commissioning of both NHS and integrated service provision. 

 
The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 
The CCG continues to be an active member of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board, with our Chief Officer holding the role of Vice-Chair. As a member of the Board the 
CCG has helped to shape the local priorities for County Durham as influenced by the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment.   
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on local authorities and CCGs to 
prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Board developed a strategy which 
included a number of areas of focus for partners across County Durham. The Strategy was 
refreshed for 2016–19 to ensure it was fit for purpose, continued to meet the health and 
wellbeing needs of the population, and that it was aligned to the Sustainable Community 
Strategy and CCG plans. We are in the final year of the current strategy our vision being to 
‘Improve the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham and reduce health 
inequalities’. Detail about the strategic objectives is included later in the report (page 62). 
 
During 2019/20 a new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) was developed for 2020-
25.  The draft strategy was been aligned to other plans including the County Durham five year 
Health and Social Care system plan and the County Durham Vision.  A wellbeing approach 
has been developed for County Durham which is the key way to implement the strategy.  A 
consultation period was undertaken, between mid-December 2019 to mid-February 2020, with 
the final strategy being signed off through governance arrangements in March 2020.   
 
The strategy focuses on starting well, living well, ageing well and has six objectives across our 
strategic priorities, that are of importance given the impact they have on people’s health and of 
where we want to be in 2025.  
 
The County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-2025 
 
Our County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-25 was 
developed in the latter part of 2019/20. The plan reflects both The County Durham Partnership 
Vision for 2035 and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25. As delivering the 
aspirations of the plan will be a priority for the new NHS County Durham CCG we have 
provided more detail later in the section on Looking Forward to 2020/21 (page 26). 
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Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) 
 
The CCG remains an active partner in each of the five Action Area Partnerships (AAPs) within 
its geography.  The partnerships also consist of members of the public, representatives for 
Durham County Council, town and parish councils, police, fire, health, housing, business, the 
University and voluntary organisations. Together we: 
 

• work with communities and organisations to meet the needs of the communities, 
through identifying local priorities and actions required to tackle them, 

• allocate funding to local organisations and support their development, 
• monitor the difference that funding and support is making to communities, 
• ensure that you can get involved with consultation activities, and are aware of what's 

going on in your community. 
 
Our other priorities areas that we never lose sight of 
 
Improving quality  
Quality is defined as care that is safe, effective and provides as positive an experience as 
possible for patients. Commissioning high-quality, person centred healthcare is at the heart of 
everything we strive to achieve for people across North Durham. 

To assist in the delivery of this we use a variety of tools, processes and mechanisms when 
reviewing our commissioned services. This work is undertaken in a collaborative manner with a 
wide range of partners and stakeholders from the health and social care economy including 
patient representatives and their carers. This approach assists us in obtaining the appropriate 
levels of evidence-based assurance as well as an understanding of the reality of how these 
services feel for patients, families and carers. These activities inform and shape our quality and 
safeguarding annual work programme. More detail is provided in the performance analysis 
report on page 28.  

 
Engaging with our patients and the public  
 
Given the importance we place on engaging with our patients and the public we have 
sustained an engagement team within the CCG adding to capacity by working closely with 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG.  During the year they have continued to work 
closely with our member practices, Teams Around Patients and Primary Care Networks to 
engage with patients, carers and their families as well as other key partners to ensure the 
patient voice is a key part of our commissioning work. 
 
This year, we launched two formal public consultations; one focusing on Stroke Services and 
the other on Ward 6, both based at Bishop Auckland Hospital.  Although both consultations 
were stopped in early 2020 due to unprecedented demand on services, we are grateful to 
those people who contributed to the engagement activity that took place and completed 
surveys. 
 
We also carried out extensive public and stakeholder engagement on services at Shotley 
Bridge Community Hospital, with a view to understanding the views of people who have used 
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services at the hospital and looking at future healthcare needs in the area as well as other 
activity focusing on 7 day access to services, rheumatology and ophthalmology services. 
Further information about our engagement and consultation activity is included later in this 
report on page 51. 
 
Our Performance Challenges 
 
Information about the CCG’s performance against the requirements under the NHS 
Constitution and the health outcome measures, against which the CCG is assessed under the 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework developed by NHS England, is included from 
page 28. It includes information about plans that have been put in place to address those 
areas where performance has been below expectations. 
 
The information within this report includes data up to and including Quarter 4 2019/20.   
 
Whilst a number of NHS Constitutional Standards have continued to be delivered for our 
patients during the year, there are certain Standards for which we recognise performance is 
not good enough and we are working hard to improve.  In particular:   
 

• the number of people waiting over 4 hours in Accident and Emergency continues to be 
below standard, with only 78.7% of patients being seen in 4 hours at our main provider, 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT), for the year, compared 
to a standard of at least 95%, 

• ambulance response times remain a challenge and we continue to work with the North 
East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust and other partners, 

• linked to this, we recognise that ambulance handover delays at our local hospital 
continue to be a problem, 

• delivery of cancer targets continues to be challenging, in line with the regional and 
national position, with four out of the nine cancer targets achieved over the year, 

• similarly capacity pressures across local providers have meant the 92% target for 
patients starting treatment within 18 weeks is not currently being achieved, with 6 North 
Durham patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment in the year, 

• there has been one reported case of MRSA in 2019/20, which is an improvement on the 
prior year although we continue to strive for a zero tolerance. There have been 45 cases 
of C.difficile which is four cases below the trajectory set by NHS England for the year, 
which again is an improvement on the prior year. 

 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Also included in this report are the CCG’s financial statements for 2019/20 (pages 125 to 147).  
One of the CCG’s strategic aims is to make the best use of public funds to ensure health care 
meets the needs of patients and is safe and effective. The financial review section includes 
information about the systems and processes in place to achieve this – see page 42 onwards.  
 
In summary during 2019/20: 
 

• all key statutory financial duties and targets have been delivered in line with our financial 
plan, 
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• an additional in-year surplus of £1.25 million has been delivered in line with NHS 
England requests, which will be returned to the CCG in future years, 

• a number of financial pressures were evident during the year, including growth on some 
secondary care acute contracts and on prescribing costs, 

• these pressures were successfully managed during the year, utilising contingency 
reserves and efficiencies generated via the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention (QIPP) plan to deliver the financial position. 

 
It is likely that these financial pressures will continue over the coming years and the 
implementation of sustainability and transformation plans and delivery of the necessary 
financial efficiencies will continue to be a significant challenge. 
 
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) Programme 2019/20 
 
The QIPP programme of work has continued into 2019/20, largely being delivered jointly with 
our main provider, CDDFT. This has consisted of a number of schemes that deliver changes in 
patient pathways, changes in prescribing and dispensing, or changes in contracts, in order to 
achieve improved patient outcomes and better value in terms of cost.  
 
Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
The CCG will not accept any level of fraud, bribery or corruption. We have continued to be 
committed to protecting our assets and are committed to promoting honesty and integrity in all 
our activities. We remain determined to prevent, deter and detect all forms of fraud, bribery and 
corruption committed against, whether by internal or external parties.  
 
Management of Risk 
 
The CCG has an effective risk management strategy, systems and controls in place. Risk is 
identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including a 
comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks to the CCG. The risk 
register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational 
and strategic level, across the five areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, 
performance and quality.  

 
All risks are reviewed on at least a monthly basis, with all corporate ‘red’ risks, identified as 
having the potential to have a significant impact on the CCG corporate objectives, escalated 
and specifically reviewed by Governing Body. For most of 2019/20 our most significant ‘red’ 
risk related to the delivery of NHS Constitutional Standards with significant pressures evident 
in certain standards, particularly in respect of A&E 4 hour waits, cancer waiting times and 
ambulance response times.  In addition, the current Covid-19 pandemic was escalated to a 
corporate risk in March 2020 and presents a significant ongoing challenge for the successor 
CCG and the health and social care system in general. 

 
More detail about the management of the risks to the CCG is included in the Governance 
Statement (page 85). 
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Equality and Diversity 
 
North Durham CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty 
and we have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work. More detail is 
available on page 57. 
 
Emergency Preparedness 
 
The CCG’s Business Continuity Plan (BCP) was updated in March 2020 to better reflect 
actions relating to potential threats. The update led to a more robust consideration of the 
identification of critical services and minimum requirements. The plan follows the NHS England 
model and complies with the NHS England checklist.   
 
We continue to work with our member practices to ensure that they have appropriate business 
continuity plans in place. 
 
At the time of the production of this Annual Report there is a national pandemic of Coronavirus 
Covid-19 and both our emergency preparedness arrangements and those of our member 
practices are being tested.  All plans will of course be reviewed again in 2020/21 once the 
pandemic is under control in order to ensure that any lessons learned are incorporated.  
 
Key priorities achieved or progressed during 2019/20 
 
The CCG prioritised a number of areas to progress during 2019/20 across a full range of 
areas.  The areas that we focussed on are outlined below. 
 
Cancer 

• Improving survivorship after one year of diagnosis and treatment.   
• Ensuring people are seen and treatment started within the nationally recommended 

waiting times. 
• Improving uptake of screening. 
• Supporting people living with and beyond cancer. 

 
Commissioning Support 

• Working collaboratively with NECS to ensure a model that will support, maintain and 
improve analytical, transformation and business support services that will strengthen 
system leadership, accelerate service transformation and deliver the best possible 
health outcomes for the people we serve. 

  
Commissioning Priorities 

• Continuing to deliver our local commissioning priorities including acute care pathway 
reviews, children’s services, implementation of the Primary Care Homes (PCHs) 
integrated community care model, primary care and mental health and learning 
disabilities. 
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Constitutional Standards 
• Improving our performance for patients in areas where it is currently not good enough, 

including 4 hour waits in A&E, ambulance response times, handover delays and cancer 
waiting times. 
 

Estates 
• Progressing our estates strategy working with NHS Property Services and our main 

providers and partners to ensure the most effective and cost effective use of estate. 
 

Learning Disabilities and/or Autism  
• Continuing to increase the number of people with learning disabilities who receive a 

quality health-check. 
• Increasing the number of people with learning disabilities who have a flu jab and who 

attend for cancer screening. 
• Reducing the number of people who are overmedicated in line with the STOMP 

guidelines (stopping over medication of people with a learning disability or autism, or 
both with psychotropic medicines). 

• Implementing the Autism strategy that has been coproduced with our families and 
partners. 

• Improving the enhanced community support services available to support people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism to remain living in their community. 

 
Patient Focussed Integrated Care 

• Designing and implementing new ways of primary care led working, organised around 
individuals and their communities via Primary Care Homes (PCHs).  

• Increasing the number of people who receive a personal health budgets and moving 
towards every person who is eligible for continuing health care being offered a personal 
health budget.  

 
Primary Care Resilience 

• Continuing to work with colleagues in primary care to support our member practices to 
ensure greater resilience against ever increasing pressures.   

 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

• Working in partnership with Durham County Council, HealthWatch and families to 
improve the support offer to children with special educational needs and disabilities in 
line with the newly approved SEND strategy. 

 
Supporting Older People 

• Ensuring that patients are supported to increase independence and reduce 
dependence. 

 
Working in Partnership 

• Continuing to play an integral role in the North East and Cumbria Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan and a future integrated care system. 

• Working with Durham County Council and partners to develop and implement a Health 
and Social Care Plan that has integrated delivery and joint conditions at its heart. 

• Working collaboratively with other CCGs and Foundation Trusts to commission, plan 
and deliver effective, sustainable and high quality health care services.  
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• Developing accountable care collaborative working arrangements further to 
include areas such as mental health services to realise potential benefits of focussing 
on complex mental health packages.   
 

Urgent and Emergency Care Services 
• Getting people to the right service first time. 
• Delivering the A&E Targets. 

 
Key pieces of work 
 
Some specific pieces of work that we are particularly proud of are highlighted below with some 
others being outlined in the section about how we engage with our patients and the public 
(page 51). 
 
Cancer 
The role of Cancer Champion has been very effective and well received by all. We have been 
successful in appointing more Cancer Champions recruited and trained in both level 1 and 
level 2 training.  Key highlights and successes included: 

• practices have changed processes which has seen an increase in uptake of screening, 
• the knowledge and skills of Champions around cancer early diagnosis has increased 

and has equipped them to have the confidence to discuss more with patients , 
• Champions have been very creative in developing eye catching display boards in 

surgery waiting rooms to pass key messages to patients and as a result patients have 
acted on these key messages. 

 
In order to prioritise and encourage improved awareness and learning amongst primary care 
colleagues with regard to achieving earlier diagnosis of Cancer; the CCG’s GP Clinical Lead 
for cancer was instrumental in the National Cancer Diagnosis Audit (NCDA).  The majority of 
our member practices have signed up to complete the audit. The data we receive as a result of 
practices completing the audit will help to inform delivery of best cancer care for patients in the 
future and also supports reflection, learning and quality improvement at general practice level.   
 
The inclusion of structured Cancer Care Review Templates was also included in our practice 
based budget scheme in order to promote cancer care in terms of enhancing holistic support 
for those patients living with cancer. 
 
We have gone into some detail of other areas of work we are doing in the performance 
analysis section (page 28). 
 
Care Navigation in our Member Practices  
Primary Care Navigation in North Durham involves members of our member general practice 
teams being trained to support patients by signposting them to the most appropriate 
professional or service. This was implemented to help patients ensure they receive the right 
care, first time and as efficiently as possible. 
 
Most of our member general practices already operated their own ‘internal navigation’ to help 
ensure a patient was seen and treated by the most appropriate member within the practice. 
Care Navigation extended the range of options and choices an individual has about accessing 
the right support for them. The signposting involved in Care Navigation includes members of 
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general practice staff as well as other NHS organisations, social care and support available in 
the community.   
 
The purpose of Care Navigation is to help provide patients with a choice of appropriate 
services and not to clinically triage them.  If there is any doubt regarding the suitability of an 
alternative service or support for a patient then they would be directed to a member of staff 
within their general practice in the first instance – typically a GP. 
 
We included the following external pathways: 

• stopping smoking 
• sexual health 
• community pharmacy 
• Citizens Advice Bureau (for example for benefits and evidence claims) 
• Well-being for Life support (for example for weight loss) 
• general practice services already provided by other members of staff, for example 

immunisations 
• Minor Eye Conditions Service  
• Veterans’ health 
• dental services 
• extended access – evening appointments in other hub practices 
• Social Prescribing Link Workers 
• musculoskeletal and First Contact Practitioners – from Spring 2020 

 
All of the Care Navigators completed Communication and Resilience Soft Skills training and 
we continued to work with them over the year to further develop their skills. 
 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health  
During 2019/20 we worked with Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG on a range of 
initiatives, producing a document that was a reflection of the work and dedication to improving 
outcomes for children and young people’s mental health and that of their families and 
communities in which they live. The document was written with thanks to all of the children, 
young people, parents and carers who engaged with the local transformation plan for County 
Durham. Also to the organisations, groups and wide range of professionals who also engaged. 
 
Review of Dermatology Services  
As part of 2017/18 contract negotiations with our main acute provider, County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, the community dermatology service was identified as one of 
the service lines where there was variation in relation to the cost of service delivery and 
contract income.  A complete review of the service was undertaken with a view to identifying 
best national practice and a new model of service was agreed which:   
 

• introduced a single point of access for all referrals other than suspected cancers which 
continue to be referred under the 2 week cancer rule; 

• identified pathway and service improvements; 
• maximised the use of technology by rolling out teledermatology across the County; 
• optimised self-management; 
• enhanced primary care services; 
• avoided the need for hospital services where appropriate. 
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Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme  
The LeDeR programme is commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership 
(HQIP) on behalf of NHS England. The third LeDeR annual report published in May 2019 
highlighted ongoing concerns about the premature deaths of people with learning disabilities 
and the overall quality of health and social care service delivery. The disparity between ages of 
death for those with a learning disability (age four years and over) and the general population 
(all ages) was reported as being 23 years for males and 27 years for females. 
 
Our Director of Nursing chaired the Regional Steering Group and is the local area contact for 
LeDeR across County Durham and Tees Valley. To further demonstrate commitment toward 
the LeDeR programme and improving outcomes for people with learning disabilities, in 
November 2019 we identified funding from the Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Partnership Board to resource dedicated LedeR reviewer posts. This will enable us to achieve 
compliance with regards to completing reviews within the mandatory six month timescales and 
ensure systems are in place to analyse themes and trends and make appropriate 
recommendations. Annual update reports including learning identified and actions taken are 
submitted to respective local authorities and CCG’s Joint Quality Committee. 
 
Medication for People with a Learning Disability and/or Autism 
In response to the STOMP programme (Stopping over Medication of People with a learning 
disability) we worked with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust for a second 
year to support a structured psychotropic medication review service to relevant patients with 
learning disability and/or autism, and where possible improve the safety of these medications 
by reducing prescribing, amending primary care clinical records and making suggestions for 
monitoring requirements.  
 
During the first year, TEWV have been able to work with nearly half of all practices and will be 
focusing on the other half during 2020/21. A recent audit of STOMP and STAMP (Supporting 
Treatment and Appropriate Medication in Paediatrics) has shown many areas of good practice 
and identified areas where we can improve, and we will focus on these areas over the next 
year. Some of the examples of good practice included, medication forming part of the Key 
Lines of Enquiry’s within Care and Treatment reviews, Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) 
been widely used within learning disability services as an alternative to medication and the 
learning disability CAMHS following the STAMP principles. 
 
Muskulo Skeletal (MSK) Pathway  
During 2019/20 we developed a new MSK pathway for both North Durham and Durham, 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) patients. The pathway covers Tier 1 and Tier 2 
physiotherapy and orthopaedics across all NHS and private providers. The pathway was be 
modelled on an ‘invest to save basis’, with any upfront investment into MSK services to be 
offset by reduced secondary care activity. The new pathway: 
 

• provides a seamless pathway of care via a high quality integrated, multidisciplinary 
service for patients with MSK conditions; 

• provides a single point of entry for all patients with MSK problems and be the only route 
to specialist care outside of acute trauma and emergencies; 

• ensures a multi-disciplinary team approach in the triage, assessment and treatment of 
patients, involving orthopaedics, rheumatology and chronic pain; 

http://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/sps/leder/LeDeR_Annual_Report_2018%20published%20May%202019.pdf
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• prevents our patients ‘bouncing’ around the system ( ensuring fewer avoidable cross 
referrals) by providing the most appropriate service before an appointment is given – 
right clinic, first time; 

• ensures that the service is efficient and cost effective by appropriately managing 
patients at all levels of the service. 

 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)  
A Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) has been appointed across the two Durham CCGs to 
support the SEND agenda. The role of the DCO is to provide a conduit between education 
settings, Social Care and families and the Health sector. As a dedicated role, this has been 
critical in developing the co-production work and improving the health element of Education, 
Health and Care plans. 
 
As the previous annual report stated, we started to work across 5 CCG areas (North Durham, 
DDES, Darlington, HaST, South Tees) and six Local Authority areas (Durham, Darlington, 
Stockton, Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Redcar and Cleveland) to improve the CCG’s response 
to the SEND agenda. The CCG appointed a Director for Children and Young People’s services 
with a team to support the delivery of the SEND agenda as well as other service improvements 
in paediatric services such as therapy services, continence and maternity.  
We continued to work to deliver the action plan which was developed following the 2017 
Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection. As anticipated, in January 2020 
Inspectors re-visited the Local Area to see if we had made sufficient progress against the 
action plan. The Local Area was found to have made sufficient progress in all four of the areas 
highlighted for development - governance and strategic oversight; joint commissioning and 
performance; quality and timeliness of Education, Health and Care plans; and co-production. 
 
Going forward NHS County Durham CCG will now continue to work closely with the colleagues 
in Durham County Council to develop a new action plan, focussing on areas for development 
as directed by parents and families of people with SEND. 
 
Urgent and Emergency Care Services 
Our Chief Officer has continued to lead the Urgent and Emergency Care Network (U&ECN) 
which was a major priority in 2019/20 and made significant progress. The Network brings 
together organisations across the Integrated Care System (ICS) to ensure the quality, safety 
and equity of urgent and emergency care services in the region. Over the past 12 months, the 
network has implemented and supported a series of improvements to ease pressure on 
services across the region. These include: 
 
Digital Record Sharing (Great North Care Record): Emergency doctors, nursing staff, 
hospital pharmacists and consultants use MIG (Medical Interoperability Gateway) to help make 
clinical decisions, with over 150,000 records viewed every month (as of January 2020).  Out of 
hours providers, North East Ambulance Service/111 clinicians and the vast majority of the 
region’s hospital trusts are now live on the system.  MIG is a secure system that provides the 
most up-to-date patient information, such as diagnoses, medications, details of hospital 
admissions and treatments.  With the network’s support, MIG has been rolled out successfully 
across the region, meaning that every GP practice now shares patients’ records with the 
clinicians involved in their care - resulting in safer, faster, more effective care, with less time 
wasted getting hold of medical records, or patients having to answer questions more than 
once. 
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Work is now in progress to introduce the Health Information Exchange (HIE).  Led by 
Newcastle Hospitals as part of the Great North Care Record, this will be a major new step 
allowing two-way sharing of data, documents and images. It will improve the flow of information 
between organisations and ultimately improve care for people in our region. 
 
Urgent Treatment Centres now provide standardised services, replacing the confusing mix of 
minor injuries units, urgent care centres and walk-in centres. All designated centres have a 
regionally standardised Directory of Services profile which is due for review following full 
regional implementation.   
 
111 Online is now available across the region, offering a fast, convenient alternative to the 111 
telephone service and a good option for people who want to access 111 digitally. Usage 
across the region continues to increase. 
 
Free NHS falls training for care home staff has been offered again this year. This specially 
designed course helps staff to confidently manage residents who suffer falls. The course is 
delivered by North East Ambulance Service with support from the network and NHS England. 
 
Service FinderBETA is now live, enabling healthcare professionals to connect patients to the 
most suitable services first time, and supporting better distribution of demand across the urgent 
and emergency care setting.  
 
A new regional communications campaign was launched to raise public awareness of how 
best to access urgent and emergency care services across the region during the winter.  
 
The UEC-RAIDR app was fully embedded across the region and gives providers, CCGs and 
GP practices real-time information on operational pressure escalation level (OPEL) ratings, 
ambulance activity, patients present, bed availability and emergency department waiting times, 
to aid the management of pressures.   
 
Every North East GP practice now accepts appointments through NHS 111, putting the 
region in the forefront of change within the NHS nationally and ensuring that patients are 
directed to the right service to meet their needs.   
 
Community Pharmacy Consultation Service went live, with 575 pharmacies across the 
region signed up.  This enables NHS 111 to access pharmacies to treat minor ailments and 
urgent repeat prescriptions.  
 
The network also provides a Surge Management Service, offering a whole systems approach 
to managing pressures, for example during winter. This includes supporting staff on call and 
establishing a command and control hub to support daily operational management of surge.  
 
Going forward the Network will continue to work on vital initiatives with an ambitious three-year 
delivery plan to reduce hospital admissions and attendances at A&E departments by making 
better use of GPs and pharmacists and to help patients improve their own health.  
 
Through the Network, the region’s hospitals will work together as a single, well-coordinated 
system, monitoring demand, sharing information in real time, and supporting each other 
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through busy periods. This means emergency responses are better coordinated and also 
reduces the risk of queuing ambulances and unnecessarily long waits in A&E.  
 

Looking forward to 2020/21  

As referenced earlier NHS North Durham CCG will cease to exist after 31 March 2020 we will 
merge with NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, the successor organisation 
being NHS County Durham CCG. 
 
Planning 

Going forward into 2020/21, the immediate priority for NHS County Durham CCG is continuing 
to manage the response to the current Covid-19 pandemic, which presents an unprecedented 
challenge for the health and social care system. 
 
Looking beyond that, the new CCG’s priorities will need to reflect the delivery requirements of 
the NHS Long Term Plan highlighted within the 2020/21 NHS Operational Planning and 
Contracting Guidance which was released in January 2020: 

 
• maintain and improve access to services, 
• expand primary and community services, 
• continue to transform services through system working, 
• meet the Mental Health Investment Standard, 
• continue to improve outcomes and care for people with a learning disability or autism, 
• begin to implement the people plan, 
• reduce the NHS Carbon Footprint, 
• live within agreed financial trajectories, 
• embed and strengthen governance of our system as we move to ‘system by default’. 
 
We will of course continue to progress the work identified to further progress our achievements 
to date, as referenced in some of the key pieces of work outlined in the previous section. 
 
Integrated Care System and Integrated Care Partnership 
 
National submissions will be made at an Integrated Care System (ICS) level to evidence 
system working to achieve these requirements but will be built from Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) and place based plans.  
 
NHS County Durham CCG will enhance existing plans to feed into the ICS level plan. 
 
With effect from 1 April 2020 Dr Neil O’Brien, the Accountable Officer for the new NHS County 
Durham CCG was also appointed as the Accountable Officer for both NHS South Tyneside 
CCG and NHS Sunderland CCG.  With a single Accountable Officer for all three CCGs within 
the ICP there will be an even greater co-ordinated and integrated approach going forward. 
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The County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-2025 
 
In County Durham a County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-
2025 was written with partners from across the health and care system toward the end of 
2019/20.  The plan reflects both The County Durham Partnership Vision for 2035, and the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25. The partners who have worked with us in 2019/20 in 
developing the plan for future years are: 
 

• NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, 
• Durham County Council, 
• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, 
• Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, 
• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (which provides children’s services), 
• North of England Commissioning Support. 

 
There are 22 chapters within the plan that cover the whole life cycle of Starting Well, Living 
Well, and Ageing Well, and include a diverse range of health and care considerations from 
maternity and oral health, to stroke and carers. Each chapter reflects not only the aims of the 
Long Term Plan, but how each subject area works across primary, community, secondary and 
social care to deliver a coordinated and system approach. Also, each chapter references how 
commissioning and delivery plans meet the following cross-cutting considerations: 
 

• health inequalities and prevention,            
• the County Durham approach to wellbeing,                 
• personalised care, 
• mental health and learning disabilities,  
• children,                
• digital integration,   
• finance,                 
• integration,          
• cultural change .              

 
The plan has been approved by each of the partner’s governance and assurance groups, 
including the CCG Executive, and the Integrated Care Board, with final approval by the County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2020. Implementation of the plan will be the key 
focus of NHS County Durham CCG in 2020/21. 
 
Expected developments in the coming year include the development of a system-wide 
performance and outcomes framework aligned to the Triple Aim of evidencing how services 
improve patient experiences, their health and care outcomes, whilst providing financially 
sustainable services. Updates on progress against the plan will be provided to the board every 
six months as the plan will evolve and mature as the system continues to work increasingly 
collaboratively. 
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Performance Analysis   
 
Performance against Constitutional Standards 
 
This section provides a summary of the CCG’s performance against key standards.  The 
information below includes data up to and including Quarter 4 2019/20.   
 
Performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that CCGs are delivering quality 
outcomes for patients both locally, and as part of the national standards. The following pages 
set out areas where the CCG and its commissioned services are performing well and where 
improvement is required.  
 
Indicators described below include:  
 

• Referral to treatment times 
• Diagnostic waiting times 
• Cancer Waiting Times 
• A&E four hour waits 
• Ambulance response times 
• Mixed sex accommodation  
• Healthcare associated infections (MRSA and Clostridium difficile) 

 
The indicators are set out in the following layout: 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Annual Comparison – 
standard line in red 

 

Statistics 
shown in 

central table 

Quarterly trend analysis. 
Green is at or above 

standard and red is below 
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Referral to Treatment (RTT)  

 

Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant led treatment within a maximum of 18 
weeks from referral.  
 
The CCG have not achieved this target throughout 2019/20, this is predominately due to 
capacity across local acute providers. Joint work is ongoing with CDDFT to develop work plans 
to address pressured specialities. 
 
During the year, the CCG developed a fully integrated musculoskeletal (MSK) patient pathway 
that provides a single point of access for all MSK/orthopaedic/pain/rheumatology referrals and 
a multi-disciplinary team approach to triage, assessment and treatment.  
 
The service went “live” in June 2019 and there has been a reduction in referrals to 
orthopaedics however, there remained a backlog which needs to be addressed before the full 
benefits can be seen through a reduction in waiting lists. 
 
Due to the increased pressures within 2 week wait referrals into dermatology, a new pathway 
was introduced on 1st May 2019 to reduce unnecessary 2 week wait referrals into secondary 
care. A photographic image is taken of the area for review and attached to the referral to 
secondary care which is then reviewed and triaged to the most appropriate service. This has 
improved patient access to dermatology services whilst helping to reduce waiting times.  
 
The service proved to be successful therefore plastic surgery has also been incorporated to 
facilitate a new skin service affording similar benefits. 
 
 
  

Standard 92.0%

2016/17 92.9% 92.0%

2017/18 93.0% 92.0%

2018/19 92.7% 92.0%

2019/20 89.8% 92.0%

2018/19 Q1 93.0%

2018/19 Q2 93.2%

2018/19 Q3 92.7%

2018/19 Q4 91.8%

2019/20 Q1 91.7%

2019/20 Q2 91.1%

2019/20 Q3 89.7%

2019/20 Q4 86.9%

RTT % patients < 18 weeks incomplete pathways
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52 Weeks Waits  
 

 
 
There have been 6 North Durham patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment during the year. 
A full investigation was undertaken to mitigate the risk and learn lessons to avoid patients 
waiting over 52 weeks in the future. 
 

Diagnostics  

 

No more that 1% of patients should wait over 6 weeks for a diagnostic test.  
 
  

Standard 0

2016/17 0 0
2017/18 2 0
2018/19 2 0
2019/20 6

2018/19 Q1 0

2018/19 Q2 1

2018/19 Q3 0

2018/19 Q4 1

2019/20 Q1 0

2019/20 Q2 2

2019/20 Q3 1

2019/20 Q4 3
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Standard 1.0%

2016/17 0.6% 1.0%

2017/18 0.6% 1.0%

2018/19 0.5% 1.0%

2019/20 1.8% 1.0%

2018/19 Q1 0.6%

2018/19 Q2 0.3%

2018/19 Q3 0.5%

2018/19 Q4 0.4%

2019/20 Q1 0.9%

2019/20 Q2 0.8%

2019/20 Q3 2.0%

2019/20 Q4 3.4%
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The CCG failed this target during Quarter 3 and Quarter 4, due to underperformance at 
CDDFT, largely related to workforce issues including sickness of specialist staff. Action plans 
are in place which include additional sessions and use of the independent sector providers to 
mitigate the risk moving forward. 
 
 
Cancer waiting times 
 

 
 

 

Standard 93.0%

2016/17 95.5% 93.0%

2017/18 94.5% 93.0%

2018/19 93.8% 93.0%

2019/20 91.2% 93.0%

2018/19 Q1 92.3%

2018/19 Q2 94.7%

2018/19 Q3 95.6%

2018/19 Q4 92.7%

2019/20 Q1 93.1%

2019/20 Q2 88.6%

2019/20 Q3 90.9%

2019/20 Q4 92.2%
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Standard 93.0%

2016/17 93.4% 93.0%

2017/18 96.5% 93.0%

2018/19 90.2% 93.0%

2019/20 88.5% 93.0%

2018/19 Q1 94.2%

2018/19 Q2 91.2%

2018/19 Q3 95.3%

2018/19 Q4 80.6%

2019/20 Q1 88.7%

2019/20 Q2 88.2%

2019/20 Q3 92.4%

2019/20 Q4 83.4%

CWT - 2 Week Wait - Breast Symptomatic 
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Standard 96.0%

2016/17 99.2% 96.0%

2017/18 98.8% 96.0%

2018/19 97.9% 96.0%

2019/20 97.3% 96.0%

2018/19 Q1 98.6%

2018/19 Q2 98.3%

2018/19 Q3 97.1%

2018/19 Q4 97.5%

2019/20 Q1 96.9%

2019/20 Q2 98.2%

2019/20 Q3 97.0%

2019/20 Q4 96.9%
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Standard 94.0%

2016/17 97.5% 94.0%

2017/18 98.2% 94.0%

2018/19 96.5% 94.0%

2019/20 92.6% 94.0%

2018/19 Q1 92.1%

2018/19 Q2 96.2%

2018/19 Q3 98.7%

2018/19 Q4 98.5%

2019/20 Q1 96.1%

2019/20 Q2 88.4%

2019/20 Q3 95.2%

2019/20 Q4 91.0%
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Standard 98.0%

2016/17 100.0% 98.0%

2017/18 99.7% 98.0%

2018/19 99.1% 98.0%

2019/20 98.8% 98.0%

2018/19 Q1 99.1%

2018/19 Q2 100.0%

2018/19 Q3 100.0%

2018/19 Q4 97.4%

2019/20 Q1 97.8%

2019/20 Q2 100.0%

2019/20 Q3 99.0%

2019/20 Q4 98.0%
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Standard 94.0%

2016/17 98.2% 94.0%

2017/18 98.2% 94.0%

2018/19 99.2% 94.0%

2019/20 98.9% 94.0%

2018/19 Q1 100.0%

2018/19 Q2 98.5%

2018/19 Q3 100.0%

2018/19 Q4 98.1%

2019/20 Q1 100.0%

2019/20 Q2 99.2%

2019/20 Q3 100.0%

2019/20 Q4 96.3%
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North Durham CCG achieved 4 out of the 9 cancer targets at Quarter 3.  
 
Regional and local cancer performance reflects the national position in terms of meeting key 
waiting time targets, in that most health care systems are struggling to consistently achieve all 
targets across all tumour groups. Increasing demand, widening health inequalities and national 
shortages of radiologists, oncologists and specialist nursing continue to add pressure to 
already complex diagnosis and treatment pathways. County Durham has therefore not been an 
outlier in its cancer waiting time performance during 2019/20, but local variation continues to 
be an issue to address.  
 
  

Standard 85.0%

2016/17 85.1% 85.0%

2017/18 84.2% 85.0%

2018/19 82.8% 85.0%

2019/20 78.3% 85.0%

2018/19 Q1 84.5%

2018/19 Q2 82.5%

2018/19 Q3 85.6%

2018/19 Q4 78.4%

2019/20 Q1 76.5%

2019/20 Q2 83.2%

2019/20 Q3 76.5%

2019/20 Q4 76.8%
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Standard 90.0%

2016/17 87.1% 90.0%

2017/18 96.7% 90.0%

2018/19 90.5% 90.0%

2019/20 87.9% 90.0%

2018/19 Q1 90.5%

2018/19 Q2 91.1%

2018/19 Q3 91.5%

2018/19 Q4 87.5%
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2019/20 Q2 87.5%
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Despite increasing pressure there has been much progress through multi-agency collaboration 
and a shift towards prioritising personalised care, prevention and addressing health 
inequalities. CDDFT have led the way in personalised care by appointing a dedicated lead in 
partnership with Macmillan and developing a new app to support the delivery of personalised 
care and self-management for breast cancer patients – this will be rolled out to other tumour 
groups in 2020/21. Northern Cancer Alliance (NCA) funding also supported a clinical audit 
within CDDFT to investigate one-year survival rates in three tumour groups as well as an 
imbalance in the number of patients presenting as emergencies for lung cancer. The findings 
of the audit will support work to address local health inequalities in Durham and Darlington. 
Our Durham CCGs continue to work alongside Public Health colleagues at Durham County 
Council in utilising intelligence data to ensure screening and prevention initiatives can be 
targeted within communities that need the most support. Joining the Dots continues to provide 
holistic support and new Macmillan funding was successfully allocated to Durham County 
Council for the Right By You programme which will further integrate cancer services.  
 
As well as the multi-agency Cancer Locality Group which is chaired by cancer lead GPs, 
collaborative efforts have been further developed during 2019/20 as Durham cancer clinicians, 
service managers and commissioners have joined NCA-led Pathway Boards in six key tumour 
groups. The boards have been set up to deliver transformational improvement across entire 
pathways in breast, lung, colorectal, upper GI, urology. Furthermore, local pathway 
improvement groups have been set up locally between CDDFT and CCGs and similar 
relationships are to be built in 2020/21 with neighbouring provider trusts who deliver tertiary 
care services. Local improvement action plans will support the large-scale transformation 
programmes that are being phased in from April 2020 including development of Rapid 
Diagnostic Centres (RDC), a 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard, Stratified Follow-Up (SFU) 
and Vague Symptoms Pathways. 
 

Four Hour Waits in Accident & Emergency: 

 

Standard 95.0%

2016/17 93.2% 95.0%

2017/18 91.4% 95.0%

2018/19 89.5% 95.0%

2019/20 80.3% 95.0%

2018/19 Q1 91.0%

2018/19 Q2 89.9%

2018/19 Q3 90.7%

2018/19 Q4 86.4%

2019/20 Q1 85.8%

2019/20 Q2 82.2%

2019/20 Q3 72.9%

2019/20 Q4 76.1%
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CDDFT have failed to achieve this target during the year, with performance deteriorating from 
2018/19, partly due to an increase in patients post reconfiguration of the Friarage Hospital 
emergency care facility.  
 
Joint work is continuing as part of Local A&E Delivery Board which is reviewing a range of 
initiatives to make improvements to the patient pathway these include: 
 

• Increased access to alternatives to A&E with maximum use of community based 
services, 

• Increased streaming and navigation to a wider range of alternative services, 
• Improvement and expansion of Same Day Emergency Care to identify acute pathways 

for diagnosis and treatment outside of the emergency department to support the 
increase of flow and reduced bed utilisation, 

• Rapid assessment and efficient flow with access to information and clinical oversight, 
• Timely and safe discharge practice with agreed protocols using community and social 

care, supporting patients back to their normal place of residence, 
• Surge and escalation actions that proactively responds to periods of pressure. 

 
 
Ambulance response times 
 
We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance Service NHS FT (NEAS) and 
specify that they comply with operational standards. New performance measures were 
introduced in 2018/19 which places calls into the following categories: 
 
Category 1 (C1) - For calls to people with immediately life-threatening and time critical injuries 
and illnesses.  These will be responded to in a mean average time of seven minutes and at 
least 9 out of 10 times before 15 minutes. 
 
Category 2 (C2) - For emergency calls. Stroke patients will fall into this category and will get to 
hospital or a specialist stroke unit quicker because the most appropriate vehicle can be 
dispatched first time.  These will be responded to in an average time of 18 minutes and at least 
9 out of 10 times before 40 minutes. 
 
Category 3 (C3) - For urgent calls. In some instances, patients in this category may be treated 
by ambulance staff in their own home. These types of calls will be responded to at least 9 out 
of 10 times before 120 minutes. 
 
Category 4 (C4) - For less urgent calls. In some instances, patients may be given advice over 
the telephone or referred to another service such as a GP or pharmacist. These less urgent 
calls will be responded to at least 9 out of 10 times before 180 minutes. 
 
NEAS have underachieved against the targets throughout 2019/20 due to an increase in call 
demands as well as incident demand, high levels of activity and delayed handovers. 
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NEAS have achieved the Category 1 response time in all four quarters of 2019/20. NEAS 
achieved the year end position with an average response time of 6 minutes and 32 seconds 
against the 7 minute target.  
 

 
 
The Category 1 90th centile response times for NEAS have been consistently achieved 
throughout the year within the national standard of 15 minutes. NEAS achieved the year end 
position with an average response time of 11 minutes and 13 seconds against the 15 minute 
target. 
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NEAS have not achieved the Category 2 response time target in 2019/20, with an average 
response time of 29 minutes and 28 seconds for the year end position.  
 

 
 
Category 2 90th centile response times for NEAS have not been achieved throughout 2019/20, 
with the response time for the year being 1 hour 01 minutes and 29 seconds. 
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The Category 3 90th centile response time has not been achieved throughout 2019/20, with an 
overall response time of 4 hours 51 minutes and 28 seconds. 
 

 
 
The Category 4 90th centile response time was only achieved in Quarter 4 of 2019/20. The 
average response time for the year was 3 hours, 11 minutes and 02 seconds.  
 
 
  



 
 

 40  
 
 

 

Mixed Sex Accommodation 
 
Mixed Sex Accommodation data is only available up to February 2020, data for March 2020 
was not submitted by providers due to COVID-19. 
 

 

Under the NHS constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate mixed 
sex accommodation. 
 
The CCG had 5 unjustified mixed sex accommodation breaches up to February 2020. Root 
Cause analysis was carried out on each case and recommendations provided to mitigate risks 
going forward. 
 
 
Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI) 
 
Reducing healthcare acquired infection remained a key challenge for the CCGs and targets 
are set by NHS England.  
 
There is a zero tolerance approach to MSRA bacteraemia (Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus 
Aureus blood stream infection), which means that all commissioner and provider targets are 
nil.  
 

Standard 0

2016/17 0 0
2017/18 1 0
2018/19 22 0
2019/20 5

2018/19 Q1 0

2018/19 Q2 2

2018/19 Q3 18

2018/19 Q4 2
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There has been one reported case of MRSA attributable to North Durham CCG reported in 
2019/20. Post infection reviews were completed and any lessons learnt were discussed with 
healthcare professionals involved in the cases. After further investigation, the North Durham 
case was most likely a contaminated specimen, therefore not a blood stream infection. 
 
 

 
 
The number of C.difficile cases attributable to the CCG for 2019/20 is 45 which is four under 
trajectory. The infection prevention and control team continue to complete RCA’s (Root Cause 
Analysis) on known cases and any lessons learnt are feedback to the relevant clinical teams. 
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Financial Review 

 
Overview  

During the year we have worked hard to secure high quality services, making every effort to 
ensure we use the resources allocated to North Durham CCG economically and with 
effectiveness and efficiency.   
 
Robust systems of financial governance and financial management processes have allowed all 
financial risks to be appropriately managed during the year enabling the delivery of financial 
targets.  
 
The CCG’s financial position has been maintained in the current year and it is pleasing to 
report that we have again been successful in achieving our key statutory and administrative 
financial duties during the financial year ended 31 March 2020.   
 
This continues to be a challenging time for the NHS with significant financial pressures and the 
financial performance outlined in the CCG’s annual accounts is pleasing to see, reflecting the 
strong financial management within the organisation. 
 

CCG allocations 

Two distinct funding streams are provided to CCGs: 
 

• Programme Budget Allocation – this funding relates to direct health care expenditure, 
• Running Cost Allowance – this funding, amounting to £21.28 per head of population, is 

to cover the administrative costs of running the CCG. 
 
The funding resources available to the CCG during the year were as follows: 
 

  
 
* funding per head of population has been calculated based on the registered population of the 
CCG, as published by NHS England, of 260,056.    

Programme 
Budget 

Allocation

Running 
Cost 

Resources
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Initial baseline allocations 374,744 5,402 380,146

Delegated primary care commissioning budgets 35,445 0 35,445

Other in-year allocation adjustments 12,084 133 12,217

Total final allocations 422,273 5,535 427,808

Total funding per head of population * £1,624 £21.28 £1,645
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Financial targets and performance for the year 

CCG surplus position 

In addition to the requirement to fulfil its statutory duties, the CCG is expected by NHS England 
to deliver a cumulative surplus of at least 1% of its funding allocation. This surplus is carried 
forward from one year to the next. 
 
For North Durham CCG, the cumulative surplus at 31 March 2019 was £12.60 million (2.9% of 
funding allocation), which carried forward to 2019/20. It was agreed with NHS England as part 
of a planned drawdown of that cumulative surplus that £4.0 million would be available to the 
CCG to spend in 2019/20 as an additional in-year allocation, leaving £8.60 million as the 
cumulative surplus. 
 
During 2019/20, North Durham CCG improved their performance against plan. This resulted in 
the CCG delivering an in-year surplus of £1.25 million in total.   
 
This additional surplus will be used by NHS England nationally to offset financial pressures on 
the wider NHS system during 2019/20 but will be available to the CCG in future years. 
 
A summary of the CCG’s final surplus position at the end of the year is as follows: 
 

 
 
It is important to note that this final surplus balance of £9.85 million is not a ‘profit’ or surplus 
generated during the financial year. The majority of it reflects a historical balance carried 
forward from previous years, with an additional £1.25 million of surplus generated during 
2019/20 as a result of improved CCG performance. 
 
The CCG’s successful results in 2019/20 are set out in the table below, with further detail 
included in note 24 of the full annual accounts published alongside this Annual Report. 
  

£ million % of total 
funding

Surplus brought forward from prior year 12.60 2.9%
Agreed 2019/20 drawdown -4.00 -0.9%

Total funding allocation received for the year 427.81 100%
Total spent by the CCG 426.56 99.7%
Additional surplus delivered in year 1.25 0.3%

Final surplus carried forward to 2020/21 9.85 2.3%
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Target Outcome 

 
Target 
Met? 

Maintain expenditure within ‘in-year’ 
funding allocation  

In-year surplus of £1.25 million 
against an in-year funding 
allocation of £427.808 million 

 

Maintain running costs within 
separate running cost allowance 

Surplus of £0.558 million delivered 
on running cost budgets 

 

Maintain capital spending within 
capital resource limit 

No capital resource required and 
no capital spend in year N/A 

Ensure cash spending is within the 
cash limit set 

Cash managed within available 
resources 

 

 
 

Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 

Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource limits within 
which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are separate resource limits set for 
revenue and capital expenditure, with revenue expenditure limits further split between 
programme spend and running costs. 
 
The CCG financial performance is reported on an in-year basis. 
 
The CCG’s final in-year programme budget allocation for 2019/20 was £422.273 million.  
 
Operational financial balance 

The funding for the CCG is based upon an allocation formula, taking into account population 
growth, deprivation and the impact of an ageing population, which has provided target 
allocations at a CCG level. 
 
A minimum rate of growth funding was applied to all CCGs in 2019/20 of 5.31%, which in total 
amounted to £18.806 million for North Durham CCG.  
 
This funding is used to fund health care services including hospital and community health 
services (for both physical and mental health), prescribing costs for drugs and appliances, and 
continuing health care. 
 
Relevant costs amounted to £421.581 million and resulted in an in-year surplus being 
delivered on programme budgets of £0.692 million. 
 
When combined with the position reported on running costs below, this resulted in a total in-
year surplus being delivered on all revenue budgets of £1.25 million. 
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Running costs 

As highlighted above, a separate running cost allowance is provided to all CCGs, amounting to 
£21.28 per head of population served for North Durham, to cover the administrative costs of 
running the CCG.   
 
There is a requirement to manage administrative costs within this allowance. 
 
Total running costs for the year amounted to £4.977 million, compared to a running cost 
allowance of £5.535 million.  That underspend on running costs was used during the year to 
increase spend on direct healthcare. 
 
Capital resource limit 

The CCG had no capital expenditure in 2019/20 and therefore did not require any capital 
resource, hence this target is not applicable in the current year.  In future the capital 
requirements of the CCG, and any related capital resource received, are expected to be 
minimal. 
 

Other financial targets and disclosures 

In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities to other NHS 
organisations to record performance against the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) 
published by the Department of Health. 
 

Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 

The BPPC requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days 
of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
 
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed 
contract terms.  
 
Details of compliance with the code are given in note 5.1 to the financial statements. 
 
Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with performance 
maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt, measured against both total 
invoice value and overall volume of invoices.  
 
Prompt Payments Code 

In addition to compliance against the BPPC, on 11 February 2014 the CCG became an 
approved signatory of The Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was devised by the 
government with The Institute of Credit Management (ICM) to tackle the crucial issue of late 
payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any company that 
signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and that there is a 
proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.  
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Approved signatories undertake to:  
 

• pay suppliers on time,  
• give clear guidance to suppliers and resolve disputes as quickly as possible,  
• encourage suppliers and customers to sign up to the code.  

 
Setting of charges for information 

The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for information. 
 
Utilisation of resources 

Financial pressures arise each year, but the CCG was able to manage these by prudent 
financial planning and careful financial management.   
 
One of the CCG’s main objectives during the year was to maintain financial stability and probity 
while ensuring that resources were used as efficiently and effectively as possible in meeting 
the strategic aims as set out in the CCG’s strategic and operational plans. 
 
A number of financial challenges and risks were identified during the year and a range of 
actions were implemented to successfully address these pressures. This included delivery of 
additional efficiencies through the CCG’s QIPP plan, as well as utilisation of relevant 
contingency funding. 
 
One of the strategic aims of the CCG is to bring care closer to home, reducing the historic 
reliance on secondary care acute services in particular. This will be essential over the coming 
years to deliver the shifts in activity from secondary care services to primary and community 
care settings that will be required to support the delivery of the NHS Five Year Forward View 
and management of the financial pressures facing the NHS. 
 
It is important that this transformation of care is managed in a planned and progressive manner 
and the CCG has remained committed to supporting its main providers of secondary care 
services to maintain a balanced local health economy. This is to ensure the delivery of key 
targets and in overall terms the majority of funding currently continues to be spent on acute 
hospital services.   
 
The utilisation of available resources in 2019/20 across the relevant areas of programme 
spend, can be seen below: 
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Pensions 

Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting policies and 
pension costs notes in the CCG’s financial statements (notes 1.8.2 and 3.5 respectively).  
Further details of senior managers’ pension benefits can be found in the Remuneration and 
Staff Report. 
 

Risk and Audit Committee 

A Risk and Audit Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by the Lay Member for 
Governance and Audit.  Details of other members of the committee can be found within the 
Members Report. 
 

External auditors 

Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the CCG, Ernst Young were 
appointed as auditors to the CCG for 2019/20. 
 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 4 of the CCG’s financial statements. 
 
The auditors bring an annual work plan to the Risk and Audit Committee for approval.  This 
states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would include any details of 
non-audit work if applicable.  When considering whether the level of any non-audit work is 
appropriate the CCG would consider the composition of the team (and whether any audit team 
members are involved) and the level of fees. 
 

Looking forward 

The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well documented, with the impact 
of an aging and growing population leading to significantly increased costs against a backdrop 
of limited financial resources. 

45%
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Significant pressures continued to be evident during 2019/20, not only for the CCG but across 
the local health economy, and it is likely these pressures will continue to grow over the coming 
years. The current COVID-19 pandemic presents a significant additional challenge for the NHS 
and adds substantial uncertainty and potential additional costs to the system. 
 
From 1 April 2020, North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
have merged to become County Durham CCG. The newly merged CCG is committed to 
working with local providers and partners as part of the Integrated Care System (ICS) and 
Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) to both manage the short term pressure associated with 
COVID-19 as well as delivering longer term plans to ensure sustainable, high quality services 
are available for our local population and across the ICS footprint. 
 

Sustainable Development  
 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a 
way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means spending 
public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, 
resilient communities. By making the most of by making the most of social, environmental and 
economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the 
context of rising cost of natural resources. Demonstrating that we consider the social and 
environmental impacts ensures that the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act (2012) are met. 

We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by 
working hard to minimise our footprint. 

Policies 

In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our 
process and procedures sustainability features. One of the ways in which an organisation can 
embed sustainability is through the use of a Sustainable Development Management Plan 
(SDMP) and this will be considered for the future. We do not currently use the Sustainable 
Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) tool. 

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare 
estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of heat waves, 
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. As an organisation 
that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we help achieve that 
goal by taking opportunities to promote the benefits of sustainability to our staff. 

Partnerships 

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms 
to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already 
sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner. Our 
procurement processes ask potential suppliers of NHS services to demonstrate consideration 
of environmental and social impacts of their business and/or service. 
 
 

https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/sdat/
https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/sdat/
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Performance 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards 
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and 
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 
baseline by 2020. Our consumption is as follows: 

 Amount Cost 
Electricity 32894 kwh £5,438 
Gas 123095 kwh £3,338 
Water 1085 m3  £426.18 
*Figures based on our headquarters at the Lavender Centre, Pelton 

Improving quality  
 
Quality is defined as care that is safe, effective and provides as positive an experience as 
possible for patients. Commissioning high-quality, person centred healthcare is at the heart of 
everything the CCG strives to achieve for people across North Durham. 
 
To assist in the delivery of this we use a variety of tools, processes and mechanisms when 
reviewing our commissioned services. This work is undertaken in a collaborative manner with a 
wide range of partners and stakeholders from the health and social care economy including 
patient representatives and their carers. This approach assists us in obtaining the appropriate 
levels of evidence-based assurance as well as an understanding of the reality of how these 
services feel for patients, families and carers. These activities inform and shape our quality and 
safeguarding annual work programme. 
 
This section of the report describes the work we have undertaken to assess and improve 
quality in the services we commission. 
 
 
Clinical Quality Assurance Framework 
 
North Durham CCG and DDES CCG continue to work to the Joint Quality Strategy (2017 to 
2020) which sets a clear vision and direction for the quality agenda across both CCGs. Clinical 
quality is fundamental to the commissioning process and the quality team within the CCGs and 
North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) continue to input into the process at various 
stages in the pathway.  
 
The Joint Quality Committee and Joint Primary Care Quality Assurance Sub-Committee are 
now well established. There has been significant work to improve the information available to 
primary care and the CCG about the quality of services and this has allowed the CCG to 
identify and support vulnerable practices. The CCG also continues to work with neighbouring 
CCGs to ensure a consistent approach to quality standards in all our providers. 
 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation CQuIn schemes 
 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQuIn) schemes are in place to drive 
improvements in health services. In 2019/20 national CQuIN schemes were developed by NHS 
England and have been implemented by providers throughout the year. We monitor and 
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evaluate providers’ performance against the CQuIN schemes to ensure targets are met, 
services and processes are improved and improved quality of care is delivered to patients. 
The 2019/20 national CQUIN scheme contains 11 indicators, aligned to the four key areas: 
Prevention of ill health, mental health, patient safety and best practice pathways. 
 
Serious incident monitoring 
 
NHS staff report incidents when aspects of care and treatment go wrong, or when care could 
have gone wrong. It is important the NHS system responds appropriately to ensure services 
and processes continue to improve. 
 
We are responsible for ensuring there is an effective governance process in place to manage 
incidents that occur within providers or within the CCG. Incident investigations are undertaken 
to identify a root cause and timeline of events. We ensure that the governance process is 
followed to manage the incident and highlight lessons learnt and ensure improvements are 
embedded into practice. 
 
The governance process is managed through the Safeguard, Incident and Risk Management 
System (SIRMS) supported by the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) and 
CCG staff. We have worked with providers throughout 2019/20 to understand the processes 
that require improvement and to agree actions that will be taken to improve quality of care.  
 
Complaints 
 
Complaints are a valuable source of information and they are monitored for themes and trends. 
Complaints that are investigated by the CCG, rather than the organisation providing the care, 
are reviewed by the Joint Quality Committee. 
 
NICE guidance compliance 
 
The CCG seeks assurance from the services it commissions that national guidance issued by 
the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance is being complied with. 
 
Committees and Groups 
 
We continued to operate the following groups that play different roles in the quality assurance 
process: 
 
Joint Quality Committee 
 
The Joint Quality Committee was established across North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCG. The role of the Joint Quality Committee is to examine 
and make recommendations with regard to the quality standards of commissioned services, 
pathway developments and quality indicators of new services against the clinical priority areas 
of the national Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF). It supports the delivery of the 
statutory duties of both North Durham CCG and DDES CCG to reduce inequalities in the 
health of the local population and to ensure equity of health and access to services. It also 
ensures that innovative ways of working are considered and tested by using safe and 
measured approaches. It approves and ratifies any necessary quality related documents prior 
to submission to the Governing Body of each CCG. 
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Joint Primary Care Quality Assurance Sub-Committee 
 
The role of the North Durham CCG and DDES CCG Joint Primary Care Quality Assurance 
Sub-committee is to support delivery of the ‘Primary Medical Services Assurance Framework’ 
(NHS England, April 2013) and implement local process as defined by NHS England (NHSE), 
Cumbria and the North East. The primary objectives of the Sub-Committee are to: 
 

• safeguard our patients from harm, 
• ensure continued development of appropriate high quality provision of primary, 
• medical care services to the population, 
• secure rapid improvements to the quality of care in failing practices, 
• drive up quality and foster a culture of safety across primary medical care. 

 
Clinical Quality Review Groups 
 
We work with local providers to monitor, evaluate and drive forward quality standards, and we 
have held or contributed to regular Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) meetings. These 
meetings include clinicians from NHS Foundation Trusts and the CCG. This enables 
productive dialogue and provides an opportunity for the Trusts to identify innovation; best 
practice; areas for improvement; and increasingly, evidence patient outcomes. It also enables 
us, through analysis of specific quality indicators, to gain an insight into the quality of care 
delivered to local people as well as share and promote lessons learned. We use the CQRGs to 
continuously monitor areas that require improvement with our local providers, detailed action 
plans are submitted and we gain assurance that providers are taking action to improve the 
quality of care provided to patients. 
 
Quality Surveillance Groups 
 
Local Quality Surveillance Groups are led by NHS England. They bring together regulators, 
commissioners and providers of services to explore quality by sharing intelligence, particularly 
that which could help identify early signs of service failure or poor quality. They also include 
primary care services such as GP practices, dentists, pharmacists and optometrists. 
 

Engaging people and communities 
 
Engaging with our patient and the public remains a priority for the CCG and we use a large 
number of methods for engaging with local communities. We encourage participation by as 
many people as possible, expressing concerns and raising awareness about the CCG’s 
responsibility to listen to local people’s views and making sure that they can influence the 
design of local health services. Further information is available in the CCG’s Communications 
and Engagement Strategy which is available on our website. 

 
CCG merger 

Through working collaboratively with partners CCGs across the ‘Southern Collaborative’ and 
local Healthwatch organisations have gathered views regarding the proposed CCG mergers.  

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/documents/strategies-and-plans/
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/documents/strategies-and-plans/
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The main focus of this engagement exercise regarding a change in the Governance 
arrangements of the respective CCGs has been in relation to partner organisations and 
scrutiny bodies. This has included presentations to the Health and Well-being Boards, 
Overview and Scrutiny committees and our member practices. Information was also provided 
to other CCGs in the surrounding areas, all NHS providers in the region as well as local MPs.  

Patients and the public were able to contribute through an online questionnaire to hear what 
opportunities or barriers they felt the proposed mergers would generate. This information was 
circulated in each locality by the relevant Healthwatch organisation working there. 

The information from the patient and public feedback was collated by Healthwatch Darlington 
on behalf of all of the Healthwatch organisations. This information was then combined with 
feedback from the above stakeholders (either from written correspondence or meeting 
discussions) and included as part of the evidence that has been provided to NHS England. 

Stroke Rehabilitation Services – Public Consultation 

This public consultation was launched on 7 October 2019 across County Durham and 
Darlington. A full range of information and materials were published on the CCGs websites so 
that people could understand the context and considerations that were involved.  

The information available included a full document and a summary of the consultation 
document. The CCG also produced a Consultation Video to help articulate the information in 
more accessible format.  

Due to the election the public consultations around Stroke Rehabilitation Services had to be 
paused. The public consultations resumed on Tuesday 14 January 2020.  As part of the pause 
for the consultations, an infographic was produced and uploaded to the website to help provide 
a snapshot of what had been happening and the types of feedback received up to that point.  

During the time the consultation was live the CCG held one public event (of the four planned), 
giving a face to face opportunity for conversations to take place with individuals. At this event, 
staff from the County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust also attended to assist the 
CCG within the table discussions and hear people’s views directly.  

During the time the consultation was live, 16 public outreach activities were undertaken. These 
included attending locations such as market days (Barnard Castle and Crook), leisure centres 
(including Woodhouse Close, Shildon and Sunnydale and Newton Aycliffe) as well as group 
presentations and discussions at Dene Valley Partnership and numerous Area Action 
Partnerships across the County.  

Comments were also captured through the online questionnaire (246 responses at the point 
the consultation was stopped) in relation to the options presented as well as wider views 
people had in relation to the care provided.  

The consultation was stopped because of on-going monitoring during the winter period 
regarding levels of demand for inpatient beds. The information being received showed that 
demand continued to exceed expectations as well as the wider pressures being faced across 
the local health system generally. Taking this into account, the decision was taken on 31 
January 2020 to stop the consultation with immediate effect and retain the current model of 
care.  

https://youtu.be/tzj0W3xkf6k
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The CCG’s involved are committed to ensuring that the issues raised as part of the 
consultation are reviewed and addressed.  

Following the end of the consultation, final reports were produced and these are available on 
the CCG website under Previous Projects and Consultations.    

 
Ward 6 / Inpatient Rehabilitation Services – Public Consultation 

This public consultation was launched on 7 October 2019 across County Durham and 
Darlington. A full range of information and materials were published on the CCGs websites so 
that individuals could understand the context and considerations that were involved.  

The information available included a full document and a summary version of the information.  
There was also a video animation produced for the consultation to help articulate the 
information in more accessible formats.  

Due to the election the public consultations around Ward 6 had to be paused. The public 
consultations resumed on Tuesday 14 January 2020. As part of the pause for the 
consultations, an infographic was produced to help provide a snapshot of what had been 
happening and the types of feedback received up to that point.  

During the winter period, continued monitoring of the levels of demand for inpatient beds far 
exceeded expectations as well as the pressures being faced across the local health system 
generally. Taking this into account and the comments that had been received up to that point; 
the decision was taken on 31 January 2020 to stop the consultation.  

During the time this consultation was live the CCG 
held one public event (of the four planned) giving a 
face to face opportunity for conversations to take 
place with individuals. At this event, staff from the 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust also attended to assist the CCG within the 
table discussions and hear people’s views directly.  

During the time the consultation was live, 13 public outreach activities were undertaken. These 
included attending locations such as market days (Barnard Castle and Crook), leisure centres 
(including Woodhouse Close, Shildon and Sunnydale and Newton Aycliffe) as well as group 
presentations and discussions at Dene Valley Partnership and numerous Area Action 
Partnerships across the County.  

Comments were also captured through the online questionnaire (113 responses at the point 
the consultation was stopped) in relation to the options presented as well as wider views 
people had in relation to the care provided.  

Following the end of the consultation, a summary infographic and consultation report were 
produced and these are available to view under the Previous Projects and Consultations 
sections of the CCG website.   

Shotley Bridge Community Hospital Services 

Extensive patient, public and stakeholder engagement took place between 27 March – 22 May 
2019. This focused on listening to individuals to help the CCG understand local people views 

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-conversations-or-consultations/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WvAekqTt4R0&feature=emb_title
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-conversations-or-consultations/
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-conversations-or-consultations/
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on the services currently delivered from Shotley Bridge Community Hospital and on the 
scenarios being considered for how services could be delivered in the future. Prior to the 
engagement work commencing, the CCG had been meeting with local Councillors in the 
Derwentside area on a regular basis to keep them informed of developing plans and to help 
them inform our work. This group continues to meet as part of the project.  

Specifically included as part of the engagement were conversations looking at a range of 
services which covered:  

• Outpatients (and community clinics such as physiotherapy rehabilitation and ante-natal)  
• Urgent Care  
• Chemotherapy  
• Rehabilitation Bed Provision  
• Diagnostics  
• Theatre  
• Endoscopy (currently suspended, not provided on 

site during the 12 months prior to engagement)  
 

The engagement undertaken saw fantastic interest and involvement from local people as well 
as a wide variety of approaches undertaken by the CCG, which consisted of; 

• an online questionnaire answered by 1,295 respondents,  
• 8 public events attended by 259 people were held,  
• 20 outreach sessions at local community centres, leisure centres and carers groups,  
• 3 young people specific sessions with Investing in Children were held,  
• 3 staff sessions at Shotley Bridge Community Hospital,  
• publicly available information on the CCG website, including video animations, plus a 

dedicated telephone number and email. 
 

Following the completion of the engagement work, a summary engagement video was 
produced to help provide feedback on what had taken place. There was also a full report 
produced in relation to the engagement activities undertaken and the range of views and 
comments captured as a result.  

Using the information obtained during the engagement the CCG has been able to refine their 
thinking in terms of the use of beds within any future arrangements in this locality. Plus, 
suggestions raised in the engagement have encouraged the CCG to broaden the scope of any 
future plans as part of ongoing efforts regarding how we can better integrate the work of health 
and social care services in the area.  

Work has been on-going with clinical staff and service managers from the wide range of teams 
that are involved in delivering services from Shotley Bridge Community Hospital. This has 
enabled a detailed exploration of what not only is provided now and is to be continued, but 
what else could be possible in the future. This is a particular point that came out from the 
public engagement exercise.  

The CCG and local provider Trust are now working towards a formal consultation, expected to 
take place in late summer 2020.  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?time_continue=1&v=mQ9ujGngaYs&feature=emb_title
https://www.youtube.com/watch?time_continue=1&v=mQ9ujGngaYs&feature=emb_title
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7 Day Access  

The consultation for the Improving 7 Day Access ended in January 2019 and the findings were 
shared in March 2019. Following this, an implementation plan was written which highlighted a 
number of areas that were raised during the consultation. These areas included, the need for 
greater awareness of NHS 111, what to do when you have a same day health care need and 
also support with transport to and from services. 

A communication and engagement plan was written which emphasised areas of focus. This 
included: 

• Engaging and involving patient groups and local councillors on the design and wording 
of the poster and leaflet for transport and a poster explaining ‘what to do when you have 
a same day health care need’. 

• Distributing the posters across the local area in key sites, GP Practices, local shops, 
libraries etc. 

• Visiting rural areas, in particular Weardale, where it was raised that people weren’t sure 
what to do when they had a same day health care need and to discuss NHS 111. 

• Involving schools in Weardale to help promote messages around what to do if you have 
a same day health care need, As a result their pupils were invited to take part in a 
competition to design a poster to highlight NHS 111 which is now being used by the 
CCG. This was done in conjunction with the Teesdale Mercury. 

• Social media posts on Facebook and Twitter promoting key messages. 
• Adverts in local newspapers which again advise people what to do if the needed to see 

a health care professional that day – simple clear messaging to try and cut through 
some of the confusion that has built up in recent years around the availability of 
services, where to go and when. 

Rheumatology 

This on-going piece of engagement work originally commenced in September 2018. The 
engagement brought staff together from across County Durham, Darlington and the Tees 
Valley areas as well as capturing patient feedback regarding Rheumatology services across 
the same areas.  

 

https://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/glossary/nhs/
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Since commencing there have been a number of phases to the engagement which have 
enabled regular exchanges of information and ideas between patients and clinicians.  

Following the detailed work with patients using questionnaires a sample of patient interviews 
were recorded and turned into a video animation of the patient experiences to help reinforce 
the information fed back to clinicians and commissioners. Over the following months 
information was shared between patients and clinicians as work continued to develop how a 
future service could operate to ensure it met the needs of patients. In particular this looked at 
what could be provided in terms of patient care in community settings, what a multi-disciplinary 
team approach would mean for patients and how support enabling them to manage their 
condition at home could best be provided. 

Information about previous engagement activity is available in the Previous projects and 
consultations area of the CCG website. 

Ophthalmology 

Glaucoma and Ophthalmology patients within County Durham were asked about how they 
would feel about receiving care in the community for their post-operative care and glaucoma 
monitoring. 

These targeted discussions which took place over a three month period from September to 
December and enabled face to face engagement with patients at clinics at University of North 
Durham, Bishop Auckland and Darlington Memorial Hospitals.  

The proposals for a change in service delivery were explained to the patients and they were 
asked a range of questions around their experience of the service, how they travelled to 
appointments, ease of access to the hospital setting, what their feelings were about receiving 
their care in a community setting / the high street and also if it was easier or harder if they 
received their follow on care in this proposed way. 

All of the feedback and comments from patients was positive and they felt that the proposals 
were a good idea and many said it would be more convenient and easier for them than having 
to get to a hospital setting.  

Patient Reference Groups 

Patient Reference Groups provide an opportunity for patient representatives to influence the 
design and delivery of health care services across the CCG. They provide an opportunity to 
enable patients, carers and members of the public to contribute to the identification of local 
healthcare priorities and the commissioning of local health care services.  

Patient Reference Groups support the CCG with engagement projects and give feedback to 
ensure things are written in plain English and avoid jargon.  

North Durham Patient, Public and Carer Engagement Committee 

The North Durham Patient, Public and Carer Engagement Committee has continued to provide 
valuable insights and assistance to the work of the CCG during the past year. Members have 
directly informed the development of the work and materials as part of the significant 
engagement and consultation projects such as Shotley Bridge Community Hospital Services, 
Ward 6 public consultation and Stroke Rehabilitation public consultation.  

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-conversations-or-consultations/
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/previous-conversations-or-consultations/
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There have also been valuable discussions directly with members of CCG staff regarding 
development of appropriate ‘Personalised Care’ conversations (BRAN versus Ask 3 
Questions) and the development of a new Primary Care Strategy for County Durham to name 
just two.  

Further information is available in the Get Involved section of the CCG website.  

North Durham Patient Reference Group 

Our dedicated team of volunteer patient representatives have continued to offer constructive 
challenge and valuable input into the work of the CCG during 2019-20.  

Members have highlighted and made efforts to raise awareness of issues such as, the 
implementation of the Minor Eye Conditions and Treatment Service, concerns around potential 
funding cuts to Public Health as well as pressures affecting Primary Care.  

Members have also provide helpful contributions to the on-going efforts of the CCG in terms of 
developing patient friendly materials used in the engagement for Shotley Bridge Community 
Hospital services and the two public consultations (Ward 6 and Stroke Rehabilitation services).  

Further information is available in the Get Involved section of the CCG website.  

  
Reducing health inequality 

Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, 
the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 
involvement and involve and consult with the public. 

We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced 
below. 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty  (PSED) which is 
set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the (Equality) Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. 

We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish: 

• Equality objectives, at least every four years.  
• Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty. 

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/patient-reference-groups/
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/patient-reference-groups/
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Governance 

Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Management 
Executive Team and the Governing Body. The committee ensures we are compliant with 
legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops 
and delivers national and regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum 
for sharing issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information 
dissemination and escalation, monitors progress against the equality strategy and supports us 
in the achievement of key equality and diversity objectives. 

A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board outlining relevant updates 
in relation to Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities. 

Equality Strategy  

Our Equality Strategy was refreshed in 2017 and will be reviewed in 2020. The strategy aims 
to ensure that the CCG promotes equality of opportunity to all our patients, their families and 
carers, and our staff, and to proactively address discrimination of any kind. 

We are fully committed to meeting the diverse needs of our local population and workforce, 
ensuring that none are placed at a disadvantage. 
 

The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives 

We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been using 
the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to 
support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance 
for the community, patients, carers and staff with protected characteristics that are outlined 
within the Equality Act 2010. Working through the EDS2 framework has provided an 
opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain insight into the local 
population’s diverse health needs. 

The Governing Body and Management Executive approved plans detailing actions we will take 
to ensure that individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. 

We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare our 
equality objectives, our action plan and objectives are outlined below: 

Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement, and ensure that services are commissioned 
and designed to meet the needs of patients in at least 6 protected characteristics. 

Objective 2 – Ensure processes are in place to provide information in a variety of 
communication methods to meet the needs of patients, in particular the ageing population and 
those with a disability. 

Objective 3 – Monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are engaged, supported and 
represent the population they serve. 
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Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and promotes Equality and 
Diversity throughout the organisation. 

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity  

We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise the 
benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our organisation. 

We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a 
disability who are identified as meeting the essential criteria for 
any advertised roles; and reasonable adjustments under the 
Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the 
recruitment process and during employment.  

By working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability Employer’ status for 
2020 - 2021 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the right people for our business 
and continually developing our people.  

 

Workforce Race Equality Standard 

In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and Diversity 
Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) 
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). 

We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts and aim 
to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic 
staff. 

The CCG assesses itself against the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
annually to ensure that: 

• data is collected and review against the nine WRES indicators, 

• an action plan is produced to close any gaps in workplace experience between white 
and Black and Ethnic Minority (BME) staff,  

• Board membership includes BME representation. 

We are required to publish a WRES annual report and action plan to address any areas for 
improvement. The CCG is committed to the WRES and you can see our most recent report 
and action plan on our website. 
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Equality Impact Assessments 

Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core business 
processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, patients and staff’s 
diverse health needs.  

The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, 
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and 
Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers,  as well as including prompts 
for engagement with protected groups the tool also aids compliance with the Accessible 
Information Standard. 

 Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, procedures 
and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take 
immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action plan set out in the tool. This will 
ensure equity of service delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously 
monitor progress against challenges identified to monitor and reduce inequality for our local 
population. 

The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Management 
Executive Team is required for monitoring and completion. 

Accessible Information Standard 

The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that disabled people have access to 
information that they can understand, and access to any communication support they might 
need. 

The standard tells organisations how to make information accessible to patients, service users 
and their carers and parents. This includes making sure that people get information in different 
formats if they need it, such as large print, braille, easy read, and via email.  

The CCG has regard to the standard by gathering feedback from patients on communication 
needs as part of service reviews.  

Further information can be found at on the NHS England website. 

Health Inequalities 

We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health 
services for our local population. 

We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic 
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health 
profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to 
engage hard to reach groups. 

We are an organisation made up of all 31 GP practices and serve a population of around 
250,000 local people across Chester-le-Street, Derwentside and Durham. 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/
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Our 31 member practices are organised into three constituency areas – Durham, Chester-le-
Street and Derwentside. Durham and Chester-le-Street cover a mixture of rural and urban 
areas with two main population centres - Durham City and Chester-le-Street.  

Derwentside comprises a mixture of urban, semi-urban and rural areas with the population 
concentrated in Stanley and Consett. The University of Durham is home to a large and 
internationally diverse student population. There are significant variations in health across 
these three areas. 

People who live in the North Durham area have significant health challenges and problems. 
They are also more likely to die sooner than those living in other parts of the country. The main 
causes of early death include high levels of cancer and diseases of the heart or blood vessels. 

With an ageing population, we also experience greater demand for hospital services and an 
increase in illnesses related to older people such as stroke, long-term conditions and 
dementia. The large student population in Durham City results in a demand for sexual health, 
alcohol and harm reduction services. 

We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations 
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to 
improve health and healthcare for the local population.  

We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 

For our CCG area, only 6% of hospitalisation records have an unknown ethnic group 
compared to the national England average of 6.6%. 

As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver 
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We aim to 
ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, where 
possible, giving local people the opportunity to influence local health services and enable 
people to have their say using a variety of communication methods enabling them to influence 
the way NHS health services are commissioned. 

Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with other local 
NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the Equality, 
Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we have been awarded 
E&D Partner status for 2016/17 and have continued to work closely with partners as part of the 
alumni programme. 

We continue to monitor the health profiles and data available which detail the health 
challenges of our population including the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and Public 
Health Profiles. 

Further information can be found at: 
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Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info 

Public Health England – Local Health:  http://www.localhealth.org.uk 

North Durham JSNA: County Durham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - Durham County 
Council 

North Durham CCG Health Inequalities RightCare Pack: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-north_durham-ccg-dec-18.pdf 

 

Health and wellbeing strategy  

The CCG continues to be an active member of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board, with our Chief Officer holding the role of Vice-Chair. As a member of the Board the 
CCG has helped to shape the local priorities for County Durham as influenced by the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment.   
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on local authorities and CCGs to 
prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Board developed a strategy which 
included a number of areas of focus for partners across County Durham. The Strategy was 
refreshed for 2016–19 to ensure it was fit for purpose, continued to meet the health and 
wellbeing needs of the population, and that it was aligned to the Sustainable Community 
Strategy and CCG plans. We are in the final year of the current strategy. The vision for the 
strategy is to ‘Improve the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham and reduce 
health inequalities’ with the strategic objectives being: 
 
Strategic Objective 1:  Children and young people make healthy choices and have the  

best start in life 
 

Strategic Objective 2:  Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
 
Strategic Objective 3:  Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for  
    people with long term conditions 

 
Strategic Objective 4:  Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 

 
Strategic Objective 5:  Protect vulnerable people from harm 

 
Strategic Objective 6:  Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and  
    support that they need 
 
The CCG has supported the Board by delivering health improvements in a number of key 
areas including the reduction in women who smoke while pregnant and the development of 
seven day integrated health and social care services.   
 
During 2019/20 a new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) was developed for 2020-
25. The draft strategy was been aligned to other plans including the County Durham five year 
Health and Social Care system plan and the County Durham Vision. A wellbeing approach has 

http://www.healthprofiles.info/
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-north_durham-ccg-dec-18.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-north_durham-ccg-dec-18.pdf
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been developed for County Durham which is the key way to implement the strategy. A 
consultation period was undertaken, between mid-December 2019 to mid-February 2020, with 
the final strategy being signed off through governance arrangements in March 2020.   
 
The strategy focuses on starting well, living well, ageing well and has six objectives across our 
strategic priorities, that are of importance given the impact they have on people’s health and of 
where we want to be in 2025.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 June 2020 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  
Corporate Governance Report 
 

Members’ Report 
 
Council of Members 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation. The Council of Members comprises of an individual 
selected by each member practice belonging to one of the CCG’s three constituencies. The 
individual selected has authority to represent the practice’s views and to act on its behalf in its 
dealings between the practice and the CCG.  
 
The Council of Members has one representative that sits on the Governing Body, representing 
the views of member practices. 
 
The Council of Members: 
 

• contributes to, changes and approves the CCG’s Constitution and any amendments 
thereafter, 

• elects relevant members of the Governing Body, 
• reviews and agrees the annual delivery plan, 
• contributes to and agrees the commissioning intentions, 
• reviews year end performance of the Governing Body, 
• holds an Annual General Meeting open to the public. 

 
Member Practices 
 
Below are hyperlinks to the websites of each of our member practices. 
 
Durham constituency: 

Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 
Bowburn Medical Centre 
Brandon Lane Surgery 
Chastleton Medical Group 
Claypath & University Medical Group 
Coxhoe Medical Practice 
Cheveley Park Medical Centre 
Dunelm Medical Practice 
The Medical Group 
West Rainton Surgery 

 
Chester-le-Street constituency: 

Bridge End Surgery 

https://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/sherburn-surgery
https://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/bowburn-medical-centre
http://www.brandonlanesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.chastletonmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.durhamstudenthealth.co.uk/
http://www.coxhoemedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.cheveleyparkmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.dunelmmedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.themedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.westraintonsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.bridgeendsurgery.com/
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Cestria Health Centre 
Great Lumley Surgery 
Middle Chare Medical Group  
Middle Chare Medical Group – Gardiner Crescent Surgery 
Pelton & Fellrose Medical Group 
Sacriston Surgery 

 
Derwentside constituency: 

Annfield Plain Surgery 
Browney House Surgery 
Cedars Medical Group 
Consett Medical Centre 
Craghead Medical Centre 
Leadgate Surgery 
Oakfields Health Centre 
Lanchester Medical Centre 
Queens Road Surgery 
Stanley Medical Group 
Tanfield View Medical Group 
The Haven Surgery 
West Road Surgery 

 
 
Governing Body   
 
The Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with 
the principles of good governance.     
 
The Governing Body is also responsible for the CCG’s budget of over £400 ensuring this is 
spent as efficiently as possible to provide high quality healthcare for the local population. 
 
Further details of the governance framework and organisational structure operating within the 
CCG, including the role of the Governing Body and related committees can be found in the 
Governance Statement.  
 
In 2019/20 the CCG has been working closely with the following CCGs as part of collaborative 
working. The work has achieved the following:   
 

• strengthen commissioning capacity and leadership by combining existing CCG skills 
and resources to enable the delivery of ambitious transformational programmes,  

• respond to the NHS Five Year Forward View which describes a number of 
organisational models where financial and clinical risks are shared across providers,  

• meet the agenda required for change - NHS England has communicated a clear policy 
position for all CCGs to consider closer partnership working.  

 
The CCGs agreed that combining existing CCG skills and resources would strengthen 
commissioning capacity and capability to deliver an ambitious transformational programme and 
support shared responsibility;  support delivery of the STP and emerging Integrated Care 

https://www.cestriahealthcentre.nhs.uk/
http://www.greatlumleysurgery.co.uk/
http://www.middlecharemedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.middlecharemedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.peltonandfellrose.nhs.uk/
http://www.sacristonsurgery.co.uk/
https://www.annfield-plain-surgery.co.uk/
http://www.browneyhousesurgery.com/
http://www.cedarsmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.consettmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.cragheadmedical.nhs.uk/
http://www.leadgate.gpsurgery.net/
http://www.oakfieldshealthcentre.co.uk/
http://www.lanchestermedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.queensroadsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.stanleymedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.tanfieldviewmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.thehavensurgery.co.uk/
http://www.westroadsurgery.com/
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Partnership working while also freeing up capacity to focus on the delivery of placed based 
work in our local communities. 
 
 
The joint leadership arrangement is outlined below:  
   

 
 
Members who have left or joined the CCG Governing Body during 2019/20 
 
There have been no changes in the membership of the Governing Body during 2019/20.  
 
Membership of the Governing Body and CCG Committees is shown in the table below, along 
with the membership of all other committees and details of attendance at relevant meetings 
throughout the year.   
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Andrew Atkin 
 

Lay Member M 
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2 
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1 

     

Nicola Bailey 
 

Chief Officer M 
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2 
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0 

Craig Blair Director of Commissioning 
Strategy and Delivery 

         IA 
1 

 

Amanda Bloor Chief Officer, Yorkshire CCGs  M 
0 

         

Mike Brierley Director of Commissioning 
Strategy and Delivery MH/LD 
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15 
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Sarah Burns Director of Commissioning 
Strategy and Delivery 
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Dr James Carlton Medical Director DDES CCG 
 

        M 
10 

M 
7 

 

Joseph Chandy Director of Commissioning 
Strategy and Delivery 
Primary Care 

M 
4 

  M 
5 

  M 
19 

M 
1 

 IA 
3 

 

Dr Derek Cruickshank Secondary Care Doctor  
Tees CCGs 

 M 
0 

         

Karen Dales Lay Member, Governance 
and Audit South Tees CCG 
 

 M 
0 

         

Dr Ian Davidson 
 

Medical Director M 
1 

  M 
1 

  M 
15 

 M 
7 

M 
4 

 

DCC AAP 
 

Andrew Megginson            

Durham Community 
Action 
 
 

Andrew Megginson 
Allyson Rose 

       M 
2 
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Denise Elliott 
 

Head of Commissioning, 
Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council 

NVM 
3 

          

Engagement Lead Daniel Blagdon 
 

       M 
6 

   

External Audit 
representative 
 

   IA 
5 

        

Gill Findley Director of Nursing and 
Quality 
 

M 
6 

  M 
3 

  M 
18 

 M 
8 

M 
9 

 

Stewart Findlay  
 
 

Chief Officer M 
7 

M 
0 

 M 
4 

IA 
2 

 M 
16 

  M 
8 

M 
0 

Caroline Gitsham 
 

Chair, South Tees CCG  M 
1 

         

Jean Golightly Director of Nursing and 
Quality, HaST and South Tees 
CCGs 

 M 
1 

       M 
1 
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Anne Greenley 
 

Account Director NECS       IA 
5 

    

Barbara Harker 
 
 

Head of Finance   IA 
5 

        

Karen Hawkins Director of Commissioning 
Strategy and Delivery 
Primary Care 

         IA 
2 

 

Amanda Healy Director of Public Health, 
Durham County Council 

NVM 
4 

          

Health and Wellbeing 
Board representative 

Amanda Healy    IA 
2 

       

Healthwatch 
representative 

Marianne Patterson 
Bernard Hume 
Julia Catherall 
 

   IA 
5 

   M 
2 

   

Richard Henderson 
 
 

Chief Finance Officer M 
8 

M 
1 

IA 
5 

M 
3 

IA 
1 

 M 
19 

  M 
9 
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HR Lead NECS 
 

     IA 
1 

      

Internal Audit 
representative 

   IA 
5 

        

Feisal Jassat Lay Member, Patient and 
Public Involvement 
 

M 
6 

 M 
4 

M 
4 

M 
1 

M 
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 M 
4 

  NVM 
3 

Lesley Jeavons Director of Integrated 
Community Services 
 

      IA 
6 

    

Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist 
 

   IA 
2 

        

Diane Murphy Director of Nursing and 
Quality Tees CCGs 
 

M 
0 

          

NECS representative - 
Finance 

Yvonne Warne       IA 
8 
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NECS representative - 
Performance 

Jeanette Brockbank       IA 
8 

    

NHSE representative 
 

    IA 
5 

       

Dr Neil O’Brien 
 

Clinical Chief Officer M 
7 

M 
1 

  IA 
3 

 M 
16 

  M 
10 

M 
4 

Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer, DDES 
and Darlington CCGs 
 

         M 
3 

 

Dr Boselaw Posmyk Clinical Chair, HaST and 
Darlington CCGs 
 

 M 
1 

         

Public Health 
representative DCC 
 

Gill O’Neill 
Chris Allan 

      IA 
16 

    

Steve Rose Lay Member, Patient and 
Public Involvement HaST CCG 
 

 M 
1 

         



 
 

 73  
 
 

 

Name 

 

Title 

G
ov

er
ni

ng
 B

od
y 

M
ee

tin
gs

 

Jo
in

t c
om

m
itt

ee
 o

f S
ou

th
er

n 
Co

lla
bo

ra
tiv

e 
5 

CC
G

s 

Au
di

t C
om

m
itt

ee
 

PC
C 

RA
TS

 

5 
CC

G
 R

em
un

er
at

io
n 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 in

 
Co

m
m

on
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

Pa
tie

nt
, P

ub
lic

 a
nd

 E
ng

ag
em

en
t 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

Jo
in

t Q
ua

lit
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

Co
m

bi
ne

d 
M

an
ag

em
en

t G
ro

up
 

N
or

th
er

n 
CC

G
s J

oi
nt

 C
om

m
itt

ee
 

Senior Governance 
Manager NECS 
 

   IA 
1 
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Dr Janet Walker Medical Director, Tees CCGs 
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John Whitehouse Lay Member, Audit and 
Governance 
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Ali Wilson Director of Strategic 
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Durham and Tees CCGs 
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Kim Lawther  
Rob Milner  
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Group Representative 
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Ian Doyle 
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Group Representative 
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Marian Morrison 
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representative ND 
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Team representative 
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11 

  

DDES Clinical Lead Dr Dilys Waller  
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Dr Rushi Mudalagiri  
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Governing Body Member Profiles  
 
Andrew Atkin, Lay Member on the Governing Body 
Andrew worked in local government for over 25 years.  For the last 14 years he was 
Assistant Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council with a focus on performance 
management, effective governance and leading major change programmes in the 
Council. Andrew is committed to making all services to the public the best they can be. 
 
Andrew is our Freedom to Speak Up Guardian in accordance with our CCG’s Raising 
Concerns (formerly whistle-blowing) Policy. 
 
Nicola Bailey, Chief Officer 
Nicola was the acting Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council and has previously 
held posts such as Director of Child and Adult Services. Nicola began her early career by 
training and working as a nurse in the NHS before moving to working in integrated services 
between the NHS and the Local Government in Cheshire. With over 20 years of working in 
a managerial and leadership capacity within health and Local Government she has had 
extensive experience of managing and leading organisations through change, developing 
integrated services and solutions and working at a senior board level. Nicola previously held 
the role of the shared Chief Operating Officer between North Durham CCG and DDES CCG 
prior to the development of the joint management arrangements for the five CCGs in 
the Southern Collaborative.  
 
She is the Cumbria and North East Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for Learning 
Disabilities Transforming Care (LDTC) Programme and Chair of the Southern 
Collaborative Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Partnership Board with Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
Nicola is our Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO). 
 
Mike Brierley, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery 
At a strategic level Mike has worked with both the public and private sector and 
assignments have ranged from leading a large Informatics service to implementing 
strategic planning frameworks and the development of organisation wide strategic plans.  
Mike is an experienced senior programme manager and has strong leadership skills and 
stakeholder and relationship management experience; with an ability to achieve results in 
complex environments. He has led numerous large scale change and redesign 
programmes, as well as short high intensity projects. Mike holds an MBA and has 
extensive experience in change management, supporting teams and individuals to 
implement whole system redesign programmes. Mike enjoys various sports and lives with 
his wife and family in Escomb outside of Bishop Auckland. 
 
Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery 
Joseph joined the NHS in 1996 as a Practice Manager in Easington. He led on GP 
Fundholding within his practice and developed his local GP Out-of-Hours co-operative from 
1998-2004. He was elected Chair of Easington Practice Based Commissioning Group from 
2005-2012. In 2011 he was appointed Director of Practice Based Commissioning for 
Durham Primary Care Trust (PCT).  In 2012 Joseph founded South Durham Federation. In 
2013 he was appointed as Director of Performance for DDES CCG before being appointed 
as Director of Primary Care in 2014.  Joseph also took up the role of Director of Primary 
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Care for North Durham CCG in April 2016 and is now working across both CCGs in this 
shared role.  Joseph was non-clinical partner in four GP practices until recently and now 
remains the Management Partner in two local East Durham GP practices.  Joseph is also a 
GP surgery property developer. 
 
Dr Ian Davidson, Medical Director 
Dr Davidson has been a GP Principal at Lanchester Medical Centre since 2003. He 
currently chairs the Northern Treatment Advisory Group and County Durham and Tees 
Valley Area Prescribing Committee. He is also a member of the Regional Medicine 
Optimisation Committee. 
 
Dr Davidson was awarded a fellowship of the Royal College of General Practitioners in 
2011.  
 
Dr Davidson is our Caldicott Guardian. 
 
Denise Elliott, Head of Commissioning, Durham County Council  
A nurse by background Denise has worked in health and social care for over 40 years 
across both acute, and community settings.  Eighteen of the years’ being worked in County 
Durham. 
 
Dr Stewart Findlay, Chief Officer 
Stewart was a GP Partner at Bishopgate Medical Centre in Bishop Auckland from 1983 
and retired from clinical practice in August 2015. He has been involved in commissioning 
health care services for the local population for over 30 years. In addition to his current role 
as Chief Officer he is also Vice Chair of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board, 
Co-Chair of the County Durham and Darlington Local Accident and Emergency (A&E) 
Delivery Board and Co-Chair of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency 
Care Operational Network.  
 
He is currently focused on integrating health and social care in County Durham. He is also 
responsible for developing Primary Care Networks and their integration with community and 
mental health services. 
 
Gill Findley, Director of Nursing and Quality 
Gill has held various nursing posts in community, secondary and tertiary care settings. 
Recent posts have included Associate Director of Nursing at County Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) covering safeguarding, risk and clinical governance, a spell 
at the North East Leadership Academy and working in North East Ambulance Services NHS 
Foundation Trust (NEAS) as Accident and Emergency (A&E) Business Manager. Gill 
trained as a Registered General Nurse and Registered Sick Children’s Nurse at Great 
Ormond Street hospital in London.  Following a period of time as a research nurse at St 
James’s hospital in Leeds, she moved to the North East and has lived here for over 20 
years. 
 
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 
Amanda has been a Director of Public Health for five years and previously worked across 
Gateshead, South Tyneside and Sunderland as a consultant in public health. She has 
worked on reducing health inequalities using an assets approach for over twenty years and 
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plays a key role in understanding both the health challenges and the positive aspects of 
health and wellbeing locally. Amanda works in collaboration with a range of partners to 
develop plans e.g., Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and has a pivotal part in 
communicating and co-ordinating key health messages and campaigns. 
 
The key aspects of work over her career include teenage pregnancy, long term conditions, 
Health and Social Care integration and she has a long standing commitment to reduce 
smoking levels.  
 
Amanda took up the role of Director of Public Health in County Durham in May 2017 and is 
committed to improving and protecting the health of local residents.  She is Chair of the 
Association of Directors of Public Health for the North East and involved in public health at a 
local, North East and national level. Amanda is the Senior Responsible Officer for the 
Prevention Board of the Integrated Care System, Cumbria and North East.  
 
Richard Henderson, Chief Finance Officer 
Richard is a qualified accountant (ACA) and brings significant financial experience to the 
CCG from a broad range of private and public sector organisations. Richard trained as an 
auditor with Deloitte LLP, working with a variety of organisations, before joining the NHS in 
a senior finance role at County Durham Primary Care Trust. 
 
Michael Houghton, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery 
Michael brings significant experience from a variety of senior leadership roles in local 
government, the NHS, the private and not for profit sector within County Durham and 
Darlington. 
 
As part of the CCG collaborative leadership arrangements across the CCGs in County 
Durham, Darlington and Teesside Michael’s portfolio in 2019/20 has focused on the 
localities of Darlington, Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees. Michael is also the co-chair of the 
County Durham, Darlington and Teesside Transforming Care Learning Disabilities 
Commissioning Hub. 
 
Feisal Jassat, Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
Feisal has worked in both the NHS and Local Government for over 30 years. His NHS 
career began in operating theatres where he worked as a paramedic supporting both 
anaesthetists and surgeons in theatre procedures. He moved into public health and 
developed his public health career by working in local government pursuing healthy public 
policy. He moved to work for Durham County Council in 2006 where he led and managed 
the Overview and Scrutiny process. Feisal is committed to reducing health inequalities and 
improving the health and health care services for local communities. He is passionate about 
involving people in decisions about their health.  
 
Dr Neil O’Brien, Clinical Accountable Officer 
Dr O’Brien has been a local GP in Chester-le-Street for over 20 years. He has developed a 
special interest in cardiology and has previously worked as a GP with special interest in this 
area.  Neil is the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) lead for the regional demand 
management work stream and Breast Cancer.  Neil is a practicing clinician, which 
strengthens his influence with local practices and other clinicians.   
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Neil is also the Clinical Accountable Officer for four other CCG’s that work collaboratively as 
part of a shared management arrangement in County Durham and the Tees Valley.  Neil is 
a member of the Integrated Care System (ICS) Management Group representing the needs 
of local populations as Cumbria and the North East progress to become a shadow ICS. 
 
Dr David Smart, Clinical Chair 
Dr Smart studied at the University of Glasgow. He qualified in 1981 and became a GP 
principal at Dunelm Medical Practice in 1985 where he remained as partner until recent 
retirement from clinical practice in September 2018. During his time in the practice he 
acquired experience as a GP trainer, GP appraiser and Clinical Governance Lead. He was 
a member of Durham and Chester-le-Street Primary Care Group (and later Primary Care 
Trust). 
 
John Whitehouse, Lay Member Governance and Audit 
John is a qualified public finance accountant. In a career spanning 37 years he has worked 
in local government, the private sector and the NHS. Within the NHS he held a number of 
senior roles in finance but most significantly in internal audit. He lives in Hartlepool with his 
wife. He has two daughters and a growing number of grandchildren with whom he spends a 
great deal of his time. 
 
John is a member of the regional Executive Strategy Group for learning disabilities. 
 
John is our Conflicts of Interest Guardian in accordance with our Standards of Business 
Conduct Policy. 
 
Dr Pat Wright, GP Clinical Lead, GP Macmillan Cancer Lead and Teams Around 
patients (TAPs) Lead  
As a former GP Partner for over 30 years at Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group, Pat now 
provides clinical leadership as GP Macmillan Cancer Lead, and chairs the County Durham 
and Darlington Cancer locality group. Pat provides leadership as the musculoskeletal and 
rheumatology clinical lead and is a member of the North Durham protected learning time 
steering committee. 
 
In October 2018, Pat was appointed as the Primary Care Urology and Prostate Cancer 
Lead for the Northern Cancer Alliance. 
 
Pat is a provider for a long established NHS commissioned and community based men’s 
health clinic based at Belmont Surgery, working as an accredited specialist practitioner in 
the management of male sexual dysfunction and andrology. 
  
 
Disclosure of information to auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms: 
 

• so far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s external auditor is unaware; and, 
 

• that the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member 
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in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 

Register of Interests 
 
All members of the Governing Body and its committees are required to declare any 
interests that they have in accordance with the CCG’s Standards of Business Conduct and 
Declarations of Interest Policy. They are required to review and update their declarations of 
interest on a bi-monthly basis. The registers of declarations of interest are maintained 
throughout the year and include details of when declarations were added or removed. The 
registers are made available to the public via the CCG’s website: 
 
Register of Interests 
 
Where any interests are identified within meetings, these are declared by the relevant 
individual and appropriate action is agreed, including whether the individual concerned 
should withdraw from discussions if appropriate. 
 
In order to further support CCGs to manage conflicts of interest, NHS England launched 
new online training. The training package was developed in collaboration with NHS Clinical 
Commissioners and aims to raise awareness of the risks of conflicts of interest and how to 
identify and manage them. The training has been rolled out to all relevant staff and 100% 
compliance was achieved ahead of the deadline on 31 January 2019. 
 
Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
There have been no personal data related incidents or data security breaches during 
2018/19 that required disclosure to the Information Commissioner. 
 
Modern Slavery Act  
 
North Durham CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery 
and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year 
ending 31 March 2019 is published on our website:  
 
Modern Slavery Statement. 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms:  

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 
report,  

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  

  

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/documents/register-of-interests/
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/our-work/safeguarding/
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed 
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Clinical 
Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of North Durham CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:  
 

• the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable,  

• for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them 
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),  

• for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), 

• the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 
• ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

• ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the 
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and 
cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis, 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis, 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts,  

• prepare the accounts on a going concern basis,  
• confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 
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Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 
out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and 
in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I also confirm that:  
 

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps 
that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 June 2020 
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Governance Statement 
Governance Statement by Dr Neil O’Brien as the Accountable Officer of NHS North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Introduction and Context 
 
North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by 
NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for 
the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange 
for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet 
the reasonable requirements of its local population.   
 
As at 1 April 2019, the CCG was not subject to any directions from NHS England issued 
under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set 
out in this governance statement. 
 
Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness 
 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 
are relevant to it. 
 
The CCG has a Constitution based on NHS England’s original model template. The 
Constitution has been reviewed against NHS England’s revised Model Template, 
released in 2019/20 in order to ensure it remains legally compliant and takes into 
account any guidance provided and legal requirements put in place since its original 
adoption. The review reflected the CCG’s management structure and closer 
collaborative working.   
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Review of the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-
certification checklist, including: 
 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions, 
• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the functions of 

the Governing Body, 
• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions, 
• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health services 

are being, or may be, provided pursuant to its commissioning arrangements are 
involved, 

• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests, 

• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency 
about the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

 
Throughout 2019/20 the CCG has continued to operate with a governance structure that 
reflects guidance and best practice. 

 
Throughout 2019/20 the governance arrangements to enable more effective joint working 
between North Durham CCG and DDES CCG have continued.   

 
Where appropriate the CCG’s committee meetings have continued to be held ‘in common’ 
with the equivalent committee in DDES CCG. The arrangements have enabled common 
issues across both CCGs to be discussed together and have provided greater 
opportunities for sharing knowledge and learning across the two CCG’s committees.  
 
Although all meetings are held in common, these do not represent joint committees, with 
each CCG committee continuing to operate in its own right, making any relevant decision 
in line with existing governance arrangements and voting rights. 
 
These joint working arrangements have ensured both CCGs are well-prepared for the 
formal merger of the two CCGs with effect from 1 April 2020, with minimal changes 
required to the governance arrangements and committee structure. 
 
The detailed committee structure has remained largely consistent with the prior year.  The 
Governance structure is outlined on page 66. 

 
Terms of reference have been agreed for all committees, which support the organisation in 
the delivery of effective governance. The terms of reference are included as appendices to 
the CCG’s Constitution which can be found on the CCG’s website. 
 
The Members’ Report provides further detail relating to the membership practices, the 
role of the Council of Members, Governing Body and other committees, including 
membership and meeting attendance records. 
 
The governance arrangements in place meet the requirements of best practice guidance 
in respect of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability framework has 
been established. They reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and 
openness and specify as Accountable Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these 
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values are met within the CCG. 
 
The Governing Body has an ongoing role in reviewing the CCG’s governance 
arrangements to ensure that these continue to reflect the principles of good governance. 
The Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role in supporting this by providing assurance 
to the Governing Body around the risk and governance processes within the CCG. 
 
During the year 2019/20 the CCG’s Governing Body met formally on eight occasions with 
meetings held in public. Those meetings have been held in common with the DDES CCG 
Governing Body. An annual business cycle is in place, with agendas structured to deal 
with items for decision, discussion and information covering strategic, performance, quality 
assurance, risk and governance issues. Highlights of the work performed during the year 
by the Governing Body within this business cycle include: 
 

• approval of CCG strategic and operational plans, 
• review and approval of CCG budgets for the year, 
• review and approval of corporate governance arrangements related to 

collaborative working, including review of committee terms of reference, 
• approval of recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee,  
• monthly review of progress against plans, financial targets, performance 

measures, clinical quality standards and significant risks to the CCG. 
 
The Governing Body also met on six occasions during 2019/20 as part of a programme 
of development sessions covering a range of areas including strategic and financial 
planning, Primary Care Network implementation, Integrated Care System (ICS) and 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) collaborative working, health and social care 
integration across County Durham, future CCG configuration and subsequent merger 
proposals and talent management.  
 
Description of the Established Governing Body Committees 

 
The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out broadly below. The 
Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to establish 
sub committees or sub groups to enable them to fulfil their role. Each of the Governing Body 
Committees has detailed Terms of Reference. Each committee is authorised by the 
Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of reference which are 
subsequently approved by the CCG’s Council of Members.   
 
Each committee is authorised by the Governing Body to operate within the scheme of 
reservation and delegation. The Governing Body receives the confirmed minutes of its 
Committees to enable it to consider the work and effectiveness of the respective Committee 
and to receive assurance relating to the delivery of their terms of reference.  
 
Management Executive 
 
The Governing Body has delegated the day to day operational management of the CCG to 
the Management Executive. This includes the implementation and delivery of plans 
agreed by the Governing Body. 
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As with all other committees, the Management Executive has an agreed business plan. It 
usually meets formally twice per month and has met 22 times during 2019/20. Highlights 
of the work performed during the year by the Management Executive include: 
 

• detailed review of CCG strategic and operational plans, 
• prioritisation of commissioning intentions and agreement of a delivery plan for 

the year, including monthly review of progress against the delivery plan, 
• review of clinical quality indicators and concerns, 
• detailed review of financial performance as well as delivery against NHS 

Constitutional Standards and other performance metrics, 
• monitoring of the quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) plans,  
• monthly review of CCG risk register and detailed review of the assurance 

framework, 
• monthly review of activity and financial performance on major healthcare 

contracts, with agreement of relevant actions as required including contract 
management queries and agreement of practice variation reporting, 

• monthly review of continuing health care (CHC) financial, quality and 
performance  highlights, 

• review and approval of CCG policies and procedures, 
• received regular updates relating to ‘Transforming Care for people with Learning 

Disabilities’,  
• monitoring of the development of local Primary Care Networks (PCNs).  

 
Since June 2017, all Management Executive meetings have been held in common with the 
equivalent executive committee in DDES CCG. 
 
 
Combined Management Group 
 
The Combined Management Group was established in May 2018 by the CCGs within the 
Southern Collaborative.  The aim of the Group was to discuss items appertaining to all five 
CCGs within the collaborative. 
 
In 2019/20 the Group met on 11 occasions. Highlights of the work performed during the 
year include: 

• monitoring of the Southern Collaborative work plan, 
• consideration and agreement of corporate policies across the collaborative, 
• consideration of procurements that covered the collaborative, 
• leading on the discussions around the merger of the CCGs within the collaborative 

into two new CCGs,  
• review of risk management processes across the collaborative. 
 

 
Joint Quality Committee  
 
The Joint Quality Committee is a formal joint committee between North Durham CCG and 
DDES CCG. 
 
The duties of the Joint Quality Committee are driven by the priorities for the CCG and any 
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associated risks or areas of clinical quality across commissioned services and primary 
care services. The CCG also has a duty to make the best use of research and innovation 
to deliver health gain and improve patient safety and experience through services 
commissioned. A key component of innovation is being aware of existing best practice and 
seeking to embed it in the CCG’s commissioned services. It is also required to benchmark 
practice against national and local standards to measure the effectiveness of services 
commissioned. 
 
The primary objectives of the committee are to safeguard patients from harm, develop 
high quality services and foster a culture of safety. 
 
The Joint Quality Committee met 11 times, highlights of the work performed by the 
Committee during the year are: 

 
• monthly review of the clinical quality standards of our health care providers, 
• agreement of the annual CQUIN (commissioning quality and innovation) schemes, 
• development of a quality improvement scheme to drive up quality in primary care, 
• clinical agreement and assurance with regard to the CCG’s clinical support 

information and the rapid specialist opinion scheme, 
• a forward plan for clinical audit, measuring the effectiveness of commissioned 

services, 
• clinical agreement of new service specifications and expected clinical 

outcomes for patients, 
• monthly review and management of clinical quality risks, 
• oversight of the programme of clinical research and implications for practice, 
• quarterly assurance that we meet statutory safeguarding requirements, 
• compliance with the safe management and storage of controlled drugs. 

 
Patient, Public and Carer Engagement (PPCE) Committee 
 
The PPCE Committee was established to provide assurance to the CCG’s Governing 
Body in relation to patient, public and carer engagement. The committee is responsible 
for developing the communications and engagement strategy of the CCG, reviewing, 
challenging and evaluating CCG engagement processes and providing a two way 
communication channel between the CCG and patients, public and carers. 
 
The Committee meets formally on a bi-monthly basis, meeting six times during the year, 
and its work included: 

 
• reviewing of the CCG’s engagement work plan and delivery against these objectives, 
• receiving regular quarterly engagement reports and feedback from the 

Patient Reference Group and Voluntary and Community Sector 
representatives, 

• having a key role in relation to the continued work to review healthcare 
across Derwentside / North West Durham including the future plans for 
the use of Shotley Bridge Hospital, 

• considering the 360 degree stakeholder survey for the CCG, 
• leading the engagement activities around various work streams including 

rheumatology, review of stroke rehabilitation services and review of the use of 
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Ward 6 at Bishop Auckland Hospital.  
 
 
Risk and Audit Committee 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee supports the Governing Body in its main function of ensuring 
the CCG has made appropriate arrangements to ensure functions are exercised effectively, 
efficiently and economically and that all relevant principles of good governance are adhered 
to. 
 
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS Codes of 
Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the CCG with an independent and 
objective review of systems of internal control, risk and governance processes and 
arrangements, and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. 
The committee is a non-executive committee of the Governing Body and has no executive 
powers. Its work aligns with that of the Joint Quality Committee to seek assurance that 
robust clinical quality systems are in place. 
 
The committee’s cycle of business includes review of the CCG’s risk management 
processes, including the Assurance Framework and corporate risk register. The committee 
considers the work of both internal and external audit, together with other assurance 
functions including in particular those relating to North of England Commissioning Support 
(NECS), upon which the CCG is dependent for the majority of commissioning support, to 
fulfil its role of providing assurance to the Governing Body. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides regular updates to 
the Governing Body together with an Annual Report of its work. The draft report covering 
the financial year 2019/20 was made available alongside the final Annual Report and 
Accounts in May 2020 to support the final Governance Statement. The principal purpose of 
the report is to provide assurance to the Governing Body and to support the Accountable 
Officer’s review of the internal control arrangements. The Risk and Audit Committee has a 
business cycle which enables the committee to carry out its key objectives necessary to 
support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal controls. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee met five times during the financial year 2019/20, and 
highlights from the year’s work include:  

 
• agreement of the internal audit plan and review of progress against that plan, 
• agreement of annual counter fraud plan and remedial action plan to improve CCG 

counter fraud arrangements, 
• review of risk management processes, including risk management policy, assurance 

framework and corporate risk register, 
• review and agreement of financial governance arrangements, including standing 

financial instructions, 
• review of assurance processes and reports in respect of outsourced functions, 
• review and approval of the Annual Report and Accounts of the CCG under delegated 

authority from the Governing Body. 
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The committee has previously undertaken a self-assessment against both the requirements 
of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and other areas of best practice with no significant 
issues identified. The requirements of the Audit Committee Handbook and the committee’s 
terms of reference are used to develop the committee’s annual work plan. 
  
The Risk and Audit Committee met five times during the year with all meetings continuing to 
be held in common with the equivalent Audit and Assurance Committee of DDES CCG, as 
the ‘Audit Committees in Common’. 
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 

 
The Committee is established to make recommendations to the Governing Body on 
remuneration, fees, pensions, allowances and conditions for senior employees of the CCG 
and people who provide services to the CCG. This includes remuneration for executive 
officers as well as the Chair and independent lay members and other Governing Body 
members. The committee also considers any business cases for early retirement and 
redundancy. The committee reviews the performance of the Accountable Officer and other 
senior team members and determines annual salary awards. It is also responsible for 
considering the severance payments of the Accountable Officer and of other senior staff. 
 
The Committee met on three occasions throughout the year. All of those meetings were 
held in Common with the DDES CCG equivalent committee and reviewed all senior 
managers’ remuneration for the year whilst making recommendations to the Governing 
Body.  
 
Key areas that the Committee have focussed on during the year include: 

• consideration of employer pension contributions, 
• consideration of County Durham Integration arrangements and the proposed role of 

Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning,  
• agreement of Clinical Chair and Lay Member terms of office, 
• consideration of the arrangements for Clinical Chair and Elected Health 

Professionals for the proposed new County Durham CCG. 
 

The Committee also met on two occasions ‘in common’ with the equivalent Remuneration 
Committees of the CCGS within the Southern Collaborative.  Discussions at those meetings 
mainly comprised of; remuneration of the Medical Directors across the collaborative, 
discussion of non-agenda for change contracts and 2019/20 Pay Award for those with Very 
Senior Manager (VSM)  Terms and Conditions working for or governing the CCGs. 
 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 

 The Primary Care Commissioning Committee, which is accountable to the group’s 
Governing Body, has been established in accordance with the statutory provisions enabling 
NHS England to delegate to the CCG authority to exercise the primary care commissioning 
functions set out in Schedule 2 in accordance with section 13Z of the NHS Act. The 
committee makes collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary 
care services in North Durham under delegated authority from NHS England. The role of the 
Committee is to carry out the functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical 
services under section 83 of the NHS Act, including: 
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• GMS, PMS and APMS contracts. 
• Newly designed enhanced services.  
• Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 

Framework (QOF). 
• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area; 
• Approving practice mergers. 
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer schemes). 

 
In addition the Committee carries out the following activities: 
 

• Planning, including needs assessment, primary medical care services in North 
Durham. 

• Undertaking reviews of primary medical care services in North Durham. 
• Co-ordinating a common approach to the commissioning of primary care services 

generally. 
• Managing the budget for commissioning of primary medical care services in North 

Durham. 
 
The terms of reference of the Committee reflect relevant national guidance, with the 
committee made up of a majority of non-conflicted members. The committee met five times 
during 2019/20, with all meetings held in public and ‘in common’ with the equivalent 
committee in DDES CCG. 
 
Joint Committees 
 
Joint Committee of the Southern Collaborative of CCGs 
 
The Joint Committee of the Southern Collaborative of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(hereafter referred to as the Joint Committee) is a joint committee of: NHS Darlington CCG, 
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, NHS North Durham CCG, NHS 
Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG, NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 
and NHS South Tees CCG with the primary purpose of arranging formal public consultation 
in relation to service reconfiguration. 
 
During the year 2019/20, the Joint Committee met on one occasion.  The Committee 
considered the CCG Merger cases for change to develop a County Durham CCG and a 
Tees Valley CCG and North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System: 
Memorandum of Understanding. 
 
Cumbria and the North East CCGs Joint Committee 
 
The CCG is a member of the Cumbria and the North East CCG Joint Committee. 
Organisation membership includes: 
 

- NHS Darlington CCG 
- NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
- NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 
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- NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 
- NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 
- NHS North Cumbria CCG 
- NHS North Durham CCG 
- NHS Northumberland CCG 
- NHS North Tyneside CCG 
- NHS South Tees CCG 
- NHS South Tyneside CCG 
- NHS Sunderland CCG 

 
In common with all CCGs in the region, we have continued to play an active role in the 
Northern CCGs Joint Committee.  During 2019/20 the Joint Committee considered the 
following: 
 

• North East and North Cumbria Prescribing Forum; 
• Individual Funding Requests (IFR) – A System Review Update; 
• Value Based Commissioning (VBC); 
• North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Annual Review and customer 

board reports; 
• Developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) in the North East and North Cumbria 
• Developing a Lay Member Network; 
• Governance items; 
• Research and Evidence; 
• Flash Glucose Monitoring; 
• The use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD; 
• Cyber security; 
• Specialised Commissioning; 
• Breast Services Review; 
• Use of antivirals for flu prophylaxis and treatment. 

 

A work plan for the Joint Committee for 2020/21 is currently being developed. Where 
appropriate, meetings are held in public and members of the public are welcome to attend 
to observe the Joint Committee at work. 
 

 
Other committees on which the CCG is a partner  
 
Health and Wellbeing Board – Durham County Council 
The CCG is a member of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board and membership 
is in accordance with the Council’s governance arrangements.  
 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board and Durham County Council 
Safeguarding Adults Board 
The CCG is also a statutory member on the County Durham Local Safeguarding Children 
Board, County Durham Safeguarding Adults Board, and the County Durham-wide 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Board.  These bodies are led by our local authority 
partners. 
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Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Partnership Board 
The CCG is a key partner of the Durham, Darlington and Tees Valley NHS Mental Health 
and Learning Disability Partnership (formerly the Accountable Care Partnership).  The aim 
of the partnership is to enable the five local CCGs of the Southern Collaborative to work 
together with our main provider Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, to 
improve the quality of care across the system.  
 
 
UK Corporate Governance Code 
 
Although NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate 
Governance, the CCG takes a robust approach to its application of good governance 
principles and continuous improvement. Throughout 2019/20, this has included holding 
dedicated development sessions held with the Governing Body as well as regular staff 
meetings that have also incorporated elements of governance to ensure an embedded 
approach.  
 
The guidance contained within the Code enables assessment of Governing Body 
effectiveness against the criteria of: leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration 
and relations with stakeholders. There are numerous arrangements in place within the 
CCG’s assurance processes that capture performance and progress against these, for 
example the Improvement Assessment Framework carried out by NHS England. 
 
Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
During establishment of the CCG, the arrangements put in place to govern the organisation 
were developed with extensive expert, external legal input to ensure compliance with all 
relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for the Clinical 
Council of Members and Governing Body decisions and scheme of delegation. All 
subsequent changes to the Constitution or Scheme of Delegation have been confirmed as 
appropriate by NHS England. 
 
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that 
the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
 
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
 
Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best practice in compliance with 
accepted standards. A Risk Management Policy is in place which takes into account current 
guidance on risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 
31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety 
Agency in its approach to assessing risk. It is also consistent with NHS England’s Risk 
Management Policy and Process guidance. 
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The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and 
management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to 
commission high quality and safe services. This includes clear CCG processes and 
procedures to identify, evaluate and control risks. The Risk Management Policy provides 
guidance for the systematic and effective management of risk to prevent risk, to deter risks 
from arising and to manage current risks. Key elements of the Risk Management Policy 
include: 
 

• a clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for delivery of the 
policy; 

• clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process; 
• a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an  implementation 

plan to ensure that the framework and risk management awareness is communicated 
to all staff; 

• details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk; 
• an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from adverse 

events supported by a “fair blame” culture and approach; 
• confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register. 

 
Our risk management framework is the systematic application of management policies, 
procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying, monitoring, mitigating and managing 
risk. All CCG risks are, once identified, recorded and managed in the electronic Safeguard 
Incident Risk Management System (SIRMS). Additionally, the CCG assurance framework 
enables the Management Executive, Risk and Audit Committee and the Governing Body to 
ensure effective arrangements are in place for the management of risks to principal 
strategic objectives and for the sound governance of the organisation. 
 
Our approach to risk management ensures: 
 

• risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control systems within the 
corporate governance framework supported by robust risk management systems and 
processes, 

• the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating to health and 
safety and data protection, 

• all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the CCG is 
committed to managing risk appropriately, 

• staff can access support and risk management training and development is provided 
across the organisation by the NECS governance team, 

• updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff. 
 
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s position in respect of risk appetite, being 
the amount of risk that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at 
any point in time. The CCG endeavours to reduce risks to the lowest possible level 
reasonably practicable. Where risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort will be 
made to mitigate the remaining risk. 
 
All our policies are assessed utilising a nationally recognised Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA) tool. This process of analysing a new or existing service, policy or process enables us 
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to identify what is the (likely) effect of implementation for different groups within the 
community (including patients, public and staff), allowing risks to be identified and managed 
appropriately. 
 
The CCG has a well-established and transparent incident reporting and management 
system which is embedded across the organisation and used to identify any related risks. 
The CCG openly encourages and supports incident reporting by ensuring that there a 
robust Incident Reporting and Management Policy and Standard Operating Procedure 
(SOP) in place which is reviewed annually and that the appropriate training is provided in a 
timely manner. 
 
Capacity to Handle Risk  
 
Strong leadership and an effective governance structure are vital elements of the CCG’s 
capacity to handling risk. The governance arrangements as outlined above meet the 
requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a 
strong accountability framework has been established and is maintained. 
 
The CCG has clear lines of accountability with defined responsibilities and objectives 
relating to all aspects of risk reporting and management. The Accountable Officer has 
overall responsibility for ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management 
strategy, systems and controls. Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for the 
management of strategic and operational risk in their specific areas, including ensuring that 
all areas of risk are assessed appropriately, in a timely manner and action taken to 
implement improvements. 
 
The Governing Body has overall responsibility for governance, assurance and management 
of risk and therefore a clear oversight of the CCG’s performance. The Governing Body has 
a duty to assure itself that the CCG has properly identified the risks it faces and that it has 
processes and controls in place to mitigate those risks and the impact they have. The 
Governing Body monitors the key risks relating to the achievement of the strategic 
objectives through the Governing Body Assurance Framework. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and providing assurance to the 
Governing Body on the systems in place across the CCG for governance and risk 
management including internal control. 
 
The Management Executive, Joint Quality Committee and the Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee are responsible for ensuring that all risks relevant to their respective areas of 
responsibility are identified, addressed and reported to the Governing Body as appropriate.  
 
Identifying, reporting and management of risk is ‘everybody’s’ responsibility within the CCG 
and all staff are familiar with the main risks in their area of activity which ensures the 
submission of timely and accurate information to support the assessment of CCG risks to 
ensure compliance with statutory obligations. 
 
Risk management training is provided to all executive members and risk leads/risk 
coordinators where requested. An annual training requirements discussion is undertaken by 
the CCG risk lead and NECS Senior Governance Officer .Staff at present have a good 
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working knowledge and understanding of the risk management framework and the 
risk/incident module of SIRMS and generally refer to the “Risk Management Standard 
Operating Procedure” (SOP) instruction guide (tailored to the CCG) for the information they 
need. However if staff require refresher risk management training or if there is a new starter 
to the organisation, modules of risk management training are provide by the CSU on 
request. 
 
Risk Assessment  
 
Whenever risks have been identified it is important to assess and record the risk so that 
appropriate controls are put in place to eliminate the risk or mitigate its effect.  To do this, a 
standard risk matrix is used, as outlined in the CCG Risk Management Policy, the matrix in 
our risk assessment guidance is based on current national guidance and also adapted to 
suit the CCG risk appetite. 
 
Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including a 
comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks to the 
organisation. The risk register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the 
organisation at an operational and strategic level, across the five areas of delivery, 
development and transition, finance, performance and quality. 
 
The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in terms of consequence 
and likelihood to produce an overall risk score, together with the mitigating action then being 
taken to manage those risks. 
 
Each risk is assigned to a responsible director/senior manager, who maintains overall 
responsibility for the risk, with each risk also aligned to a Governing Body committee based 
on the respective delivery area. Finance, performance, delivery and development risks are 
aligned to the Management Executive and quality risks aligned to the Joint Quality 
Committee. Risks relating to primary care commissioning are aligned to the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee. 
 
All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by the respective aligned committee to ensure that 
risks are appropriately assessed and that where required action is being taken, with the 
Management Executive and Governing Body performing an overall review of all risks. 
 
All corporate red risks identified as having the potential to have a significant impact on the 
CCG corporate objectives are then escalated and specifically reviewed by Governing Body. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee ensures the CCG works within and adheres to robust risk 
reporting and management processes and systems. An annual review and update of the 
CCG’s Risk Management Policy ensures that risk management processes and systems are 
updated in line with current best practice guidance. The process for identifying and 
assessing risks within the CCG has remained unchanged throughout the year; see diagram 
1 below for the CCG risk process. 
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Diagram 1 Identifying and Assessing Risk 
 
  
Current major risks to governance, risk management and internal control 
 
A summary of the significant corporate risks which the CCG has faced during the year and 
which continue to be the most significant risks to the CCG currently is set out below: 
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The outcomes and assessment of all risks reported and managed across the organisation 
are firmly aligned to good management practice and ensuring that effective processes and 
responsibilities for managing the risks are clear within the organisation. All risks are 
managed and aligned actions assessed on an individual risk by risk basis. The CCG is keen 
to ensure that risk management is not seen as an end in itself, but rather a part of an overall 
management approach that supports the organisation in developing achievable 
management action plans. 
 

Risk 
Ref Description Controls Assurances Score 

Performance 

0010 

Delivery of NHS 
Constitutional 
Standards  
There is a risk of failure 
to achieve NHS 
Constitutional Standards 
for our patients. 
Significant pressures 
are evident in certain 
standards, particularly in 
respect of A&E 4 hour 
waits, cancer waiting 
times, HCAI targets and 
ambulance response 
times. Any failure to 
deliver the standards 
has the potential to 
adversely impact on 
patient care, as well as 
posing a reputational 
risk for the CCG and 
potentially reducing the 
value of any quality 
premium funding 
available to the CCG.  

Contract management processes in place 
to manage delivery of constitutional 
standards  
 
Performance is monitored in detail by the 
Executive Committee, as well as via 
monthly contract management meetings 
with providers  
 
Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) has 
been implemented along with the 
implementation of the Clinical Advice Line 
(CAL) keeping the provision in house to 
provide better support and management    
 
Resilience schemes have proved 
successful and are now an embedded part 
of daily practice in with supporting patients 
with long term conditions in the 
community.   
 
The CCG introduced an all morning 
visiting scheme for primary care to avoid 
the batching of ambulances.  This should 
both help the delivery of the ambulance 
standard and potentially help with the 
delivery of the 4 hour A&E standard. 
 
A new tele-triage pathway was 
implemented for 2ww for skin cancer 
which has reduced the need for patients to 
be seen unnecessarily in clinics.  This is 
now being considered on how this can 
work with other specialities.  
 
Action plans in place with providers to 
manage relevant pressure areas 

Performance monitored bi-monthly 
by Governing Bodies in Common 
and monthly by Executive 
Committee 
 
Director leads established for 
individual Constitutional Standards  
Monthly contract review meetings in 
place  
 
Performance reviewed monthly by 
Local A&E Delivery Board. 
Several initiative implemented and 
monitored by Local A&E Delivery 
Board 
 
Task and finish group established to 
improve ambulance handover 
delays  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Root cause analysis undertaken on 
HCAI and cancer breaches  
 
 
Quarterly review against NHS 
Assurance Framework indicators          

16 

0002 

Coronavirus (Covid-
19) 
There is a risk around 
the ability of the local 
health system to 
manage increased 
demand, whilst 
maintaining quality and 
safe services for 
patients. 
There is  potential for 
the coronavirus 
outbreak to interrupt the 
business of the CCG, 
either due to increased 
staff sickness or 
potential disruption to 
supply chain 

The CCGs have tested business 
continuity plans in operation, which will be 
invoked should the situation arise 
 
COVID-19 Tactical Command Cell (TCC) 
implemented to manage CCG response 
 
Daily CCG directors call to review 
progress and actions 
 
Working with providers to agree re-
prioritisation of clinical services, following 
NHSE guidance, as appropriate 
 
Review and monitoring of quality of 
services continues as normal 

Business continuity plans have been 
tested and enacted  
 
 
Action log and updates provided to 
daily directors call 
 
 
Action/decisions log in place, 
reported to formal Executive 
Committee meetings 
 
 
 
Well established quality review 
arrangements 

15 
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Potential future risks 
 
The current pressures on the health service as a result of COVID-19 are substantial and 
well documented. The challenge of meeting the current additional demands on services 
arising from COVID-19, whilst continuing to maintain quality and ensure services are safe 
for all patients will continue to be a significant risk in the short term.   
 
In addition to the immediate pressure and demand on the health economy, the longer-term 
recovery of services to meet the demands of less urgent treatment for patients will represent 
a potential risk and challenge through 2020/21.   
 
The impact of COVID-19 on the health service and wider health economy is unprecedented 
and an evolving picture, which will continue to be managed over the coming months.     
 
 
Other Sources of Assurance  
 
Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of 
internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all 
risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control was in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2020.  
The system of internal control was closely aligned to that of DDES CCG and has been 
implemented in the newly merged CCG from 1 April 2020. 
 
The CCG’s system of internal control includes the governance framework and 
arrangements highlighted in the governance arrangements and effectiveness section above, 
with the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Standing Financial Instructions and 
supporting financial and operational policies. The Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role 
in reviewing the adequacy of the internal control framework and providing assurance to the 
Governing Body on the effectiveness of internal control arrangements. 
 
This includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the work of internal audit who evaluate the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of the CCG’s system of internal control. 
 
Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management  
 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 
template audit framework.  
 
An internal audit was undertaken during quarter four of 2019/20.   
The objective of this audit is to review the arrangements that the CCGs have in place to 
manage conflicts of interest and gifts and hospitality, including compliance with NHS 
England's statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs.  
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The scope of the audit included: 
 
• Procurement decisions and contract monitoring processes 
• Completeness of registers of interest, gifts and hospitality 
• Governance structures for managing conflicts of interest 
• Managing conflicts when making joint decisions with other partners e.g. other CCGs or 

Local Authorities 
• Conflicts of Interest training 
• Accepting gifts, hospitality and sponsorship 
• Management of conflicts of interest in meetings 
• Appointments to and changes of roles and responsibilities within decision-making bodies 
 
The CCG received substantial assurance with three minor recommendations.  
 
Data Quality  
 
The CSU Data Management service has processes and systems in place to assess the 
quality and completeness of commissioning data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through CSU systems and finally on publication of 
reports/analysis. Data is compared against historic and planned levels to provide assurance 
on completeness as well as with peer organisations in the form of benchmarking analysis. 
 
Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a monthly basis, 
feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing routines as required. The 
CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure high quality data is captured at 
source and to minimise any updating of data once received by commissioners. 
Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any discrepancies between provider and 
commissioner data that are then investigated and resolved. 
 
Significant validations steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to ensure poor 
quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently used as the basis for 
commissioning decisions. 
 
The CCG relies on NECS to process other types of personal data, for example Human 
Resources or some patient data in order to fulfil its functions. NECS complies with the data 
quality requirements of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit and has procedures in 
place to ensure the quality of the data. 
 
Data Security and Protection / Information Governance 
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems 
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  We have 
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established an information governance management framework comprising an approved 
strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of mandatory training, 
an Information Governance Handbook for staff, information risk management, incident 
management and has also adopted and implemented NHS Digital’s (HSCIC) Guide to the 
Notification of Data Security and Protection Incidents. 
 
The organisation has in place an incident reporting and management framework for the 
reporting of data security and protection incidents to the Information Commissioner. This 
framework outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be 
used in the event of a data security breach. There have been no Information Governance 
‘reportable’ breaches during 2019/20. 
 
The Information Governance agenda is heard at the Management Executive which also 
oversees the day-to-day management of IG systems and processes. The CCG has also 
appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Dr Ian Davison) and Senior Information Risk Owner (Nicola 
Bailey). 
 
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit has been provided by NHS Digital to support 
performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS. The CCG has 
published the Data Security and Protection Toolkit Version for 2019/20 and has answered 
all mandatory requirements. 
 
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 
year, the CCG received 218 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and three 
subject access requests under the Data Protection Act 2018. All the requests were 
responded to within the statutory timescales. 
 
Business Critical Models 
 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business critical 
models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report and I consider that 
appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality assurance. 
 
Third Party Assurances   
 
The majority of commissioning support services are procured from the CSU, including risk 
and governance expertise, together with the management of the majority of internal control 
systems and processes, for example in relation to finance systems and controls. 
 
A service auditor reporting process has continued to provide assurance over the 
effectiveness of controls and processes within the CSU.  A report has been received to 
cover the year to 31 March 2020. The detailed findings of the report and in particular those 
control objectives which were not achieved for the full period have been reviewed and are 
not considered to significantly impact on the CCG. Additional controls are in place within the 
CCG in terms of the review of transactions processed by the CSU which mitigate any risk 
arising from deficiencies in these control objectives.  
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The CCG also has additional systems of control and review mechanisms internally over the 
work performed by the CSU which provide additional assurance that there have been no 
significant internal control issues which have impacted on the CCG. 
 
In addition to the majority of commissioning support services which are provided by the 
CSU, the CCG has also outsourced certain other systems and services to third party 
providers. The national Integrated Single Financial Environment (ISFE) and procurement 
systems are provided by NHS Shared Business Services and the national Electronic Staff 
Records (ESR) system is provided by McKesson. There are also various other outsourced 
services and systems relating to primary care services, including the Exeter System 
provided by NHS Digital and systems operated by Capita who provide the services of all 
primary care support teams. 
 
Assurance over the relevant control environments in place for these systems has been 
gained from independent auditor reports for the year ended 31 March 2020, in accordance 
with ISAE3402. No significant control deficiencies have been identified from these auditor 
reports which cause a concern for the CCG, although the report in respect of those services 
provided by Capita is not expected to be received before the sign-off of this annual report. 
 
The reports provided in respect of Capita from 2016/17 to 2018/19 did identify a number of 
deficiencies in the operation of controls, although significant improvements had been seen 
over that time, with only a small number of control exceptions being identified in 2018/19.  
This provides some assurance that progress was being made to address gaps in the control 
environment although it is disappointing that the 2019/20 report has been delayed. 
 
Appropriate substantive work has been performed by the CCG’s external auditors which 
helps to mitigate the lack of assurance over the operation of control environment within 
Capita. 
 
Payroll services are also received from a third party provider in Northumbria Healthcare 
NHS Foundation Trust. The CCG’s own system of internal controls provides assurance over 
the operation of payroll, this includes the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation and prime 
financial policies which govern and set levels of authorisation, together with subsequent 
monthly payroll reviews. Again no significant issues have been identified from the review of 
payroll information during the year, with substantial assurance being provided from internal 
audit review of the payroll services. 
 
Control Issues 
 
No significant control issues have been identified during the year requiring disclosure within 
this governance statement 
 
Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the use of Resources 
 
The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its resources. 
Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained throughout the year, 
including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, and Prime Financial 
Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, supplemented by the CCG’s Standing 
Financial Instructions and detailed financial limits, all of which provide the framework 



 
 

 104  
 
 

 

through which the CCG discharges its business. This is supported by comprehensive and 
well established systems of internal control which help to govern the effective use of 
resources. 
  
Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, based on the 
operational and financial plan, which set the basis on which resources will be utilised. The 
strategic and operational planning process incorporates a review and prioritisation of 
commissioning intentions and investment decisions to enable the most effective and 
efficient use of available resource. Annual budgets, and the longer term financial plans, are 
reviewed and approved by the Governing Body. This includes plans to deliver against the 
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) agenda. 
 
As part of the planning process, a range of benchmarking tools are used, including the 
commissioning for value packs and CCG outcomes benchmarking support packs published 
by NHS England. These tools provide comparative information on the CCG’s spend and 
resulting outcomes, allowing the effectiveness of CCG spending to be assessed and 
incorporated into strategic plans and budgets. This benchmarking is a key element of all 
commissioning processes to help determine value for money for new services and 
pathways. 
 
The Management Executive plays a key role in managing performance and delivery against 
financial plans, ensuring appropriate action is taken to address any issues as required and 
providing assurance to the Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line with 
plans, and that expected outcomes are being delivered. In addition, reports are also 
reviewed at each Governing Body meeting, showing both performance against budgets and 
financial targets, as well as progress against the CCG’s delivery plan and performance 
against health outcome indicators. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee also plays a key role in providing assurance to the 
Governing Body in relation to financial governance arrangements and the effectiveness of 
systems and processes of internal control. A significant component of this assurance is the 
work of the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 
 
Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to satisfy 
themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by examining documentary 
evidence and through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is made available 
to and reviewed by the Risk and Audit Committee. Although the work of the external 
auditors does not form part of the CCG’s internal control environment, their conclusions in 
respect of this use of resources work provides further assurance that the processes 
implemented by the CCG are robust. 
 
The CCG’s internal control framework comprises several elements including the CCG 
Constitution, assurance framework, risk management, incident management, financial 
management, policy management, audit and governance assurance reporting, which work 
in harmony to complement each other. Controls and assurances are monitored through the 
Governing Body and committee structure as described above. 
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As part of the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) developed by NHS 
England, the quality of the CCG’s leadership is assessed. The Quality of Leadership 
indicator is one of the indicators in the CCG IAF, assessing the quality of a CCG’s 
leadership, how CGGs work with partners and the governance arrangements that CCGs 
have in place to ensure they act with integrity. 
 
The CCG IAF has now been incorporated into the NHS Oversight Framework 2019/20.  The 
latest available assessment of the CCG is for 2018/19 when the CCG was rated as ‘good’ 
overall.  Further information about the assessment and the latest available information can 
be found at https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/ 
 
Due to the impact of Covid-19 it is expected that the assessment of CCG performance for 
2019/20 will be delayed until later in 2020/21. 
 
Delegation of Functions  
 
Delegation arrangements exist through the CCGs governance process and committee 
structures, as set out in the role and remit of each committee. The systems and processes 
to ensure resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively, together with the 
related assurance mechanisms highlighted above, apply throughout the organisation, 
covering all relevant committees and delegations.  
 
This includes the governing body which oversees the work of all committees, with formal 
reporting arrangements, together with the other assurance processes summarised above.  
 
Specifically in respect of primary care delegated arrangements with effect from 1 April 2015, 
the Primary Care Commissioning Committee was established to carry out the relevant 
functions relating to that delegation, with relevant reporting and assurance arrangements 
summarised above. 
 
Counter Fraud Arrangements 
 
The CCG adheres to NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption.  A comprehensive counter fraud service, including an accredited 
Counter Fraud Specialist is commissioned through our internal auditors to undertake 
counter fraud work proportionate to identified risks. 
 
Our Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s financial 
viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the Risk and Audit 
Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of 
fraud.  Progress against this plan is regularly monitored by the Risk and Audit Committee 
with an annual counter fraud report also received. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee also receives a report against the Standards for 
Commissioners at least annually and considers the relevant actions being implemented to 
address any identified deficiencies. There is executive support and direction for a 
proportionate work plan to address identified risks. 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
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The Chief Finance Officer is proactively responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and 
corruption.  Counter-fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed 
with both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year to cement their 
knowledge and understanding of counter-fraud arrangements, with all employees also 
required to complete e-learning training. In addition, notifications and briefings regarding 
actual and potential fraud are circulated to key staff to ensure counter-fraud vigilance is 
maintained and enable payment systems to be reviewed for emerging risks. 
 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded 
that: 
 
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances 
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpins the 
organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. This 
Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 
• Overall opinion. 
• Basis for the opinion. 

 
In providing this opinion, it is important that to recognise the additional limitations on our 
work caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. These limitations include access to CCG personal 
and the timely supply of information that would available to us in normal operating 
circumstances. However, as your Head of Internal Audit I am satisfied that we have 
sufficient evidence, largely based upon the completion of Core Internal Audit plan and 
carefully considered professional judgements, to provide the CCG with a robust Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion. 

 
Overall Opinion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Basis of the Opinion  
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of risk; 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing an opinion of 
substantial assurance that the system of internal control, governance and risk 
management has been effectively designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 
and that controls are being consistently applied. 
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2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit assignments, 

contained within risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year. This 
assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and 
management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses. Work is split 
between core assurance and assurance arising from additional advisory and 
assurance audits, with core assurance being provided on an annual basis in those 
areas central to the operation of the CCG. Additional advisory and assurance audits 
are carried out on a cyclical basis, in line with the CCG’s risk profile and the contents 
of the CCG’s Assurance Framework; 

 
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 

 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations, 

and 
 

5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS North Durham CCG for the co-
operation and assistance provided to my team during the year.  
 
Carl Best 
Director of Internal Audit 
AuditOne 
10 June 2020 
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Summary of Final Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Audit area  Assurance Level 

CORE ASSURANCE 
 
ND DDES CCG 2019-20/01: Governance Structures and Risk 
Management Arrangements [Final] 

Substantial 

ND DDES CCG 2019-20/02: Conflicts of Interest [Final] Substantial 
ND DDES CCG 2019-20/03: Financial and Strategic Planning 
and Budget Setting [Final] 

Substantial 

ND DDES CCG 2019-20/04: Financial Management and QIPP 
Reporting [Final] 

Substantial 

ND DDES CCG 2019-20/05: Continuing Healthcare and 
Funded Nursing Care [Final] 

Substantial 

ND DDES CCG 2019-20/06: Contract and Performance 
Monitoring [Final] 

Substantial 

ND DDES CCG 2019-20/07: Primary Medical Care 
Commissioning [Final] 

Substantial 

ND CCG 2019-20/08: Data Security and Protection Toolkit 
[Draft] 

Substantial 

ADDITIONAL ADVISORY AND ASSURANCE 
 
Tees and Durham CCGs 2018-19/09: Serious Incidents [Final] 
 

Substantial 

 
Definitions of Assurance Levels assigned to individual audit assignments 
 

  
Assurance Levels 

 
Substantial Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide 

substantial assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. 
Compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place.  

Good Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good 
level of assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.  A high 
level of compliance with the control framework was found to be taking 
place. Minor remedial action is required 

Reasonable Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide 
reasonable assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. 
Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking place in 
a consistent manner.  Some moderate remedial action is required. 

Limited Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide limited 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance 
with the control framework was not found to be taking place.  Immediate 
and fundamental remedial action is required. 
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No governance, risk management or control issues which were significant to the 
organisation or which impact on this governance statement have been identified from any of 
the internal audit reports during the year.  
 
 
Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 
the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I 
have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports. I have 
been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing Body, 
Management Executive, the Risk and Audit Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 
 
As part of the CCG’s risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has been in 
place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive method for the 
effective and focused management of the principal risks and assurances to meeting and 
delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance Framework reflects the principal risks 
associated with the delivery of the CCGs strategic objectives. This includes risks around the 
delivery of the CCGs strategic aims, financial stability including QIPP delivery, and 
development of effective corporate governance and risk management. 
 
The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in place against 
each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in controls and 
assurances where required. This is supplemented by detailed risk registers that record the 
full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and strategic level 
across the five areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, performance and 
quality. 
 
The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 
controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles objectives have been 
reviewed. 
 
As highlighted above, the Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role in providing assurance 
to the Governing body on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and 
governance arrangements operated by the CCG. As part of this the work of both internal 
and external audit and other sources of assurance are considered. No significant internal 
control issues have been identified from the work of the Risk and Audit Committee. 
 
Similarly, no significant governance or internal control issues have been identified through 
Governing Body, Management Executive or any other assurance process which impact 
upon my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 
 
As described within the third party assurances section above, external assurances have 
been obtained over all significant outsourced services, including commissioning support 
services from NECS. No significant issues have been identified which impact upon the CCG 
or this review. 
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The Head of Internal Audit opinion is set out above. This contributes to the assurances 
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing 
Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG’s system of internal control. The 
Head of Internal Audit provides good assurance that there is a generally sound system of 
internal control. 
 
Conclusion 
 
No significant internal control issues have been identified.  
 
 
 
 

Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 June 2020 
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Remuneration and Staff Report  
 
Remuneration report 
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
 
The Remuneration and Terms of Service (RATS) Committee was established to advise the 
Governing Body about pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer 
and other senior staff.  The Committee also advises/recommends to the Governing Body 
remuneration for the role of Chair, remuneration and terms of service of Governing Body 
clinical representatives and any independent lay members and reviews any business cases 
for early retirement and redundancy. 
 
The Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s constitution, standing orders 
and scheme of delegation. The Committee was made up as follows for the year ended 31 
March 2020: 
 
Dr David Smart CCG Chair and Chair of RATS Committee 
Feisal Jassat Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement  
John Whitehouse Lay Member for Governance and Audit  
Andrew Atkin Lay Member  
 
From 1 April 2020, following the merger of the CCG with DDES CCG, the RATS Committee 
for the new County Durham CCG is chaired by Dr Jonathan Smith, CCG Chair.  The 
remaining members of the RATS Committee remain unchanged from those above. 
 
The RATS Committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the 
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG.   
 
The Chief Officer, Chief Financial Officer and HR advisor have provided advice and 
guidance to the Committee in relation to pay rates and terms and conditions for relevant 
staff, although they were specifically excluded from any discussions in relation to their own 
pay rates and terms and conditions.  
 
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers 
 
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined in 
accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.   
 
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. 
Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. There 
were no individual performance review payments made to any senior managers during the 
year and there are no plans to make such payments in future years. This is in accordance 
with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department 
of Health and Social Care.  
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Contracts of employment in relation to the majority of senior managers employed by the 
CCG are permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ notice of 
termination by either party.  The GP Clinical Leads, practice manager and practice nurse 
representatives are usually employed on a fixed term of 24 months.  Lay members and the 
Secondary Care Doctor have been appointed for a period of two years (up to three years for 
the Secondary Care Doctor).  From 1 April 2020, lay members and the Secondary Care 
Doctor have been appointed for a period of three years for County Durham CCG. 
 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for within 
NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations for 
those who are members of the scheme.  No awards have been made during the year to 
past senior managers. 
 
Remuneration of Senior Managers 
 
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the CCG has considered the definition of 
‘senior managers’ within the 2019/20 CCG Annual Reporting Guidance and the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual and considers that the Governing Body members represent the 
senior managers of the CCG.  
 
Details of the relevant salaries and allowances for all of the senior managers of the CCG 
can be found in the tables below, both for 2019/20 and also relevant comparative figures for 
2018/19. 
 
The following disclosures within the Remuneration and Staff Report are subject to audit by 
the CCG’s external auditors: 

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior officers on page 113 and related 
narrative notes on pages 115 to 117; 

• the table of pension benefits of senior managers on pages 119 to 120; 

• the analysis of staff numbers and costs on page 122; and 

• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 118. 
 
 
Important Note regarding ‘All Pension Related Benefits’ stated in the tables below: 
 
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement 
expected over twenty years. This value has been determined in accordance with the 
HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee 
pension contributions made in 2019/20 have been deducted from the total. Pension related 
benefits shown in the table above relate to the NHS pension scheme members only.  The 
figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the 
individual during the financial year. 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ salaries and allowances - 2019/20:  
Name  Title 2019/20 

   
Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 

bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 
    £100) 

 
     

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr N O’Brien Accountable Officer 35 - 40 1,500 - - 5  - 7.5 45 - 50 
N Bailey Chief Officer 30 - 35 1,300 - - - 30 - 35 
S Findlay Chief Officer  30 - 35 1,200 - - - 30 - 35 
Dr I Davidson Medical Director 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 
Dr J Carlton Medical Director 35 - 40 4,600 - - 7.5 - 10 50 - 55 
R Henderson Chief Finance Officer 20 – 25 - - - 5 – 7.5 25 - 30 
M Pickering Chief Finance Officer 15 – 20 1,000 - - 7.5 – 10 25 – 30 
G Niven Chief Finance Officer 55 - 60 2,000 - - 2.5 - 5 60 - 65 
G Findley Director of Nursing and Quality 20 - 25 - - - 12.5 - 15 30 - 35 
J Golightly Director of Nursing and Quality 20 – 25 - - - 7.5 - 10 25 – 30 
D Murphy Director of Nursing and Quality 10 – 15 - - - - 10 - 15 
M Houghton Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  20 – 25 1,400 - - 10 – 12.5 35 – 40 
M Brierley Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  20 – 25 - - - 2.5 – 5 25 – 30 
J Chandy Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  20 – 25 - - - - 20 - 25 
S Burns Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  20 – 25 1,300 - - 5 – 7.5 25 – 30 
K Hawkins Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  20 – 25 - - - 5 – 7.5 25 – 30 
C Blair Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  15 – 20 - - - - 15 - 20 
A Sinclair Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  15 – 20 - - - 5 – 7.5 25 – 30 
        

Dr D Smart Chair 55 - 60 - - - - 55 - 60 
F Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
J Whitehouse Lay Member, Governance and Audit 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
A Atkin Lay Member 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
Dr I Spencer Secondary Care Doctor 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
Dr P Wright GP Clinical Lead 45 - 50 - - - - 45 - 50 
        

A Healy Director of Public Health - - - - - - 
D Elliott Durham County Council Representative  - - - - - - 

 
Note: the remuneration for G Niven includes the CCGs share of the redundancy cost in salary band £30k - £35k. 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ salaries and allowances - 2018/19 comparative figures:  
Name  Title 2018/19 

   
Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 

bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 
    £100) 

 
     

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr N O’Brien Accountable Officer 75 - 80 2,700 - - 22.5 - 25 100 - 105 
N Bailey Chief Officer 50 - 55 2,100 - - - 50 - 55 
S Findlay Chief Officer (from 1 October 2018) 15 - 20 600 - - - 15 - 20 
Dr I Davidson Medical Director 65 - 70 - - - - 65 - 70 
J Chandy Director of Primary Care  55 - 60 - - - 2.5 - 5 60 - 65 
R Henderson Chief Finance Officer 100 - 105 - - - 22.5 - 25 125 - 130 
G Findley Director of Nursing 45 - 50 - - - 25 - 27.5 70 - 75 
M Houghton Director of Commissioning and Development 95 - 100 6,300 - - 47.5 - 50 150 - 155 

M Brierley 
Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations 100 - 105 - - - 40 - 42.5 140 - 145 

        

Dr D Smart Chair 55 - 60 - - - - 55 - 60 
F Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
J Whitehouse Lay Member, Governance and Audit 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
A Atkin Lay Member 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
Dr I Spencer Secondary Care Doctor (from 1 April 2018) 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
Dr P Wright GP Clinical Lead 50 - 55 - - - - 50 - 55 
        

A Healy Director of Public Health - - - - - - 
D Elliott Durham County Council Representative  - - - - - - 

 



 

 115 
 
 

Notes: 
 
The taxable benefits included in the tables above all relate to car allowance and lease car 
benefits.   
 
No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior officers. 
 
All pension related benefits disclosed in this report relate to ‘officer employment’ only, i.e. 
for any general practitioners, the figures exclude any benefits derived from practitioner 
employment.   
 
Following a review of off-payroll arrangements in previous years, all senior officer 
remuneration is now provided through the CCG’s payroll, including all remuneration 
disclosed in the tables above for 2019/20 and 2018/19. 
 
Shared Management Arrangements 
 
Throughout 2019/20, the senior officers listed below operated in a shared management 
role across the following five CCGs; Darlington CCG, Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield (DDES) CCG, North Durham CCG, Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees (HAST) 
CCG and South Tees CCG.  The costs of those individuals have been shared across the 
five CCGs based on relative CCG population sizes. 
 
Dr N O’Brien   Accountable Officer (until 29 February 2020) 
N Bailey   Chief Officer 
S Findlay   Chief Officer 
R Henderson   Chief Finance Officer 
M Pickering   Chief Finance Officer 
G Niven   Chief Finance Officer 
G Findley   Director of Nursing and Quality 
J Golightly   Director of Nursing and Quality 
D Murphy   Director of Nursing and Quality 
M Houghton   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
M Brierley   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
J Chandy   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
S Burns   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
K Hawkins   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
C Blair   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
A Sinclair   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
 
From 1 March 2020, changes in the Accountable Officer arrangements meant that role 
was only performed across North Durham CCG and DDES CCG, with related costs shared 
across the two CCGs on a 50:50 basis. 
 
The remuneration shown above for those posts represents only the share that relates to 
the North Durham CCG role.  The total remuneration earned by each individual for all work 
across the five CCGs in 2019/20 is shown below: 
 
 
 



 

 116 
 
 

Name  Title 2019/20 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
    £100)   
  £000 £ £000 
Dr N O’Brien Accountable Officer 160 - 165 5,100 165 - 170 
N Bailey Chief Officer 145 - 150 6,500 155 – 160 
S Findlay Chief Officer 160 - 165 5,900 165 - 170 
R Henderson Chief Finance Officer 105 - 110 - 105 - 110 
M Pickering Chief Finance Officer 85 – 90 5,000 90 - 95 
G Niven Chief Finance Officer 275 -280 9,500 285 - 290 
G Findley Director of Nursing and Quality 100 – 105 - 100 – 105 
J Golightly Director of Nursing and Quality 100 – 105 - 100 – 105 
D Murphy Director of Nursing and Quality 55 – 60 - 55 – 60 

M Houghton 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 100 – 105 6,900 110 – 115 

M Brierley 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 100 – 105 - 100 – 105 

J Chandy 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 120 – 125 - 120 – 125 

S Burns 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 95 – 100 6,500 100 - 105 

K Hawkins 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 100 – 105 - 100 – 105 

C Blair 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 90 – 95 - 90 – 95 

A Sinclair 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 90 – 95 - 90 – 95 

 
The level of total annual remuneration for the Accountable Officer and two Chief Officer 
posts exceeds £150,000 which reflects that the roles are being performed across multiple 
CCGs.  The actual cost to each organisation is significantly lower than £150,000. 
 
The remuneration of the Accountable Officer role also reflects the clinical nature of the role 
and has been benchmarked against other Clinical Chief Officer roles and equivalent 
general practice earnings.   
 
Also included in the remuneration in the above table is the redundancy cost for G Niven, 
Chief Finance Officer in salary band £155k - £160k. 
 
In addition to the shared posts identified above, the following senior officers are employed 
in joint posts shared with North Durham CCG on a 50:50 basis: 
 
Dr N O’Brien   Accountable Officer (from 1 March 2020) 
Dr I Davidson  Medical Director 
Dr J Carlton   Medical Director 
Dr I Spencer   Secondary Care Doctor 
F Jassat   Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
J Whitehouse  Lay Member, Audit and Governance 
A Atkin   Lay Member 
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The remuneration shown above for these posts represents only the share that relates to 
the North Durham CCG role.  The total remuneration earned by each individual for all work 
across the two CCGs in 2019/20 is shown below: 
 
Name  Title 2019/20 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
    £100)   
  £000 £ £000 
Dr I Davidson Medical Director 35 - 40 - 35 - 40 
Dr J Carlton Medical Director 75 - 80 9,200 85 - 90 
Dr I Spencer Secondary Care Doctor 10 - 15 - 10 - 15 

F Jassat 
Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Involvement 15 - 20 - 15 - 20 

J Whitehouse 
Lay Member, Audit and 
Governance 15 - 20 - 15 - 20 

A Atkin Lay Member 10 - 15 - 10 - 15 
 
Senior managers with multiple roles 
 
The following individuals were employed in multiple roles during the year, including both a 
senior manager role and other roles which would not meet the definition of a senior 
manager: 
 
F Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
Dr P Wright GP Clinical Lead 
 
The amounts disclosed in the table above reflect total remuneration for all roles, including 
remuneration which did not relate to the senior manager role.  The relevant amount of the 
remuneration which relates only to the senior manager role for North Durham CCG is 
shown below: 
 
Name  Title 2019/20 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

     
  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
    £100)   
  £000 £ £000 

F Jassat 
Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Involvement   5 - 10 - 5 - 10 

Dr P Wright GP Clinical Lead   15 - 20 - 15 - 20 
 
The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration 
from the CCG for their role as Governing Body members: 
 
A Healy Director of Public Health 
D Elliott Durham County Council Representative  
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Pay multiples 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the CCG in the financial year 
2019/20 was £55-60k (2018/19: £100-105k).  This was 1.20 times (2018/19: 2.4 times) the 
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £47,861 (2018/19: £43,041). 
 
In 2019/20, no employees (2018/19: none) received remuneration in excess of that of the 
highest paid director.  Full time equivalent remuneration for employees ranged from 
£7,750 to £164,219 (2018/19: £9,852 to £167,508). 
 
For the purposes of identifying the highest paid director for this disclosure, it is the cost to 
the CCG of an individual that is considered, rather than the total of that individual’s 
remuneration.   
 
The decrease in the banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the CCG during 
the year reflects the shared arrangements for Chief Officer and Director posts agreed 
across multiple CCGs during the year, with the calculation of the highest paid director 
reflecting only the cost to the CCG. 
 
The remuneration of £7,750 relates to the CCG’s lay members and secondary care 
clinician who receive an annual remuneration for a time-commitment below the CCG’s 
normal contractual hours.  As this represents the annual remuneration for the full required 
time-commitment, this is considered to represent the full time equivalent remuneration for 
that role although it relates to a time-commitment significantly below the CCG’s normal 
contractual hours. 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  Accordingly the total 
remuneration figures reflected here exclude the pension related benefits shown in the 
salaries and allowances table on page 113. 
 
  2019/20 2018/19 
   

 Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration 
(£'000) 

55 - 60 100 - 105 

    
Median Total Remuneration (£) 47,861 43,041 
    
Ratio 1.20 2.38 

 
Due to the small number of staff employed by the CCG, the median remuneration can be 
impacted by relatively small changes.  The movement in the current year reflects the 
impact of changes to the agenda for change pay framework and the implementation of 
shared arrangements across five CCGs for Chief Officer and Director posts. 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ pension benefits 2019/20: 
Name and Title Real 

increase / 
(reduction) 
in pension 

at age 60 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

 Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 60 

(bands of 
£2,500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2020 (bands of 

£5,000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31 

March 2020 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at  1 
April 2019 

Real 
increase 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2020 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2020 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr N O’Brien 
Clinical Chief Officer 2.5 - 5 - 15 - 20 15 - 20 224 10 257 - 

Dr I Davidson 
Medical Director - - - - - - - 1 

Dr J Carlton 0 – 2.5 - 5 - 10 0 - 5 98 8 117 - 

R Henderson 
Chief Finance Officer 0 - 2.5 - 15 - 20 - 176 8 198 - 

M Pickering 
Chief Finance Officer 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 30 - 35 75 - 80 562 41 614 - 

G Niven 
Chief Finance Officer - 2.5 - 5 55 - 60 130 - 135 1,059 8 1,083 - 

G Findley  
Director of Nursing and Quality 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 50 - 55 75 - 80 722 55 791 - 

J Golightly 
Director of Nursing and Quality 0 – 2.5 5 – 7.5  20 - 25 70 - 75 496 51 561 - 

D Murphy 
Director of Nursing and Quality - - - - - - - 1 

M Houghton 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 40 - 45 105 - 110 808 62 884 - 
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Name and Title Real 
increase / 

(reduction) 
in pension 

at age 60 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

 Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 60 

(bands of 
£2,500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2020 (bands of 

£5,000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31 

March 2020 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at  1 
April 2019 

Real 
increase 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2020 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2020 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

M Brierley 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 0 - 2.5 - 25 - 30 50 - 55 468 20 503 - 

J Chandy 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery - - 35 - 40 70 - 75 697 - 609 - 

S Burns 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 20 - 25 40 -45 300 17 330 - 

K Hawkins 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 20 - 25 40 -45 336 22 372 - 

C Blair 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 0 – 2.5 - 20 - 25 50 - 55 353 - 354 - 

A Sinclair 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 20 - 25 45 - 50 360 27 399 - 
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The table above includes only those senior managers who are members of the NHS 
pension scheme where the CCG made contributions to the scheme as an employer 
during the year. 
 
The figures included above reflect total pension benefits accrued within the NHS 
Pension Scheme, not just those accrued from employment within the CCG.  No lump 
sum is shown for employees who only have membership in the 2008 section of the 
NHS Pension Scheme.  
 
The real increase figures shown above relate only to the period each individual was 
in post as a senior officer. 
 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a 
payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of 
their membership of the pension scheme. This may be for more than just their 
service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be 
noted at the foot of the table). The CETV figures and the other pension details 
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing 
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are 
calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) 
Regulations 2008.  
 
Real Increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period. 
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Staff report 
  
Staff Numbers 
 
Details of staffing costs for the year and the average number of employees can be 
found in notes 3.1 and 3.2 of the financial statements respectively. 
 
The CCG’s senior officers are listed in the remuneration report.  Two of the senior 
officers are on very senior manager bandings, three of the senior officers are on 
agenda for change band 9 and the remaining senior officers are either paid on a 
sessional basis or are non-executive members and hence have no agenda for 
change banding. 
 
Staff Composition 
 
The CCG staff gender profile is given in the table below.  This reflects our gender 
representation on the Governing Body and other CCG staff.   
 

 Female Male 
Governing Body 3 13 
Employees 54 7 

 
These figures are as at 31 March 2020 and reflect the number of employees rather than full time 
equivalent figures.   
 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement 
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and 
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work 
rated as of equal value, and being entitled to equal pay. 
 
Staff Sickness Absence 
 
The table below provides staff sickness absence data for the 12 months ended 31 
December 2019 (with comparative figures for the 12 months to December 2018), 
showing the total number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff days lost to sickness 
absence and the total number of FTE years available, based on the total number of 
FTE staff members within the CCG.  This equates to an average number of days’ 
sickness per FTE member of staff of 3.8 (3.8 for the 12 months to 31 December 
2018): 
 
 2019 

Number of days 
2018 

Number of days 
Total number of days lost to sickness absence 240 182.0 
Total staff years 48 47.5 
Average number of working days lost to 
sickness absence  

 
5 

 
3.8 
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Staff Policies 
 
The CCG is committed to giving full and fair consideration to all applications for 
employment received including those received from disabled persons, having regard 
to their particular aptitudes and abilities.   
 
To support the human resource function the CCG has a suite of HR policies, 
implementation of which is supported by Human Resource Team within North of 
England Commissioning Support.  They cover the full range of HR issues including 
recruitment, training and career development.   
 
All appropriate support would be provided to any employee who might become a 
disabled person during the period when they were employed by the CCG. 
 
Expenditure on Consultancy 
 
Details of expenditure on consultancy services can be found in note 4 of the financial 
statements, with expenditure on agency staff shown in note 3.1 of the financial 
statements.   
 
Off-Payroll Engagements 
 
Following a review of off-payroll engagements in previous years, all senior officers 
were transferred on to the CCG’s payroll and all senior officer remuneration for the 
year has been transacted through payroll.   
 
There have been no off-payroll engagements during the year of greater than £245 
per day and lasting longer than 6 months. 
 
Exit Packages 
 
No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2018/19: none). The CCG 
has contributed to termination payments in other CCGs as part of shared 
management arrangements but has no exit packages for anyone directly employed 
by the CCG. Details of these termination benefits are shown in note 3.1 of the 
financial statements.   
 
 
 
  
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 June 2020 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
North Durham CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report. Where relevant, disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and 
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial 
Statements of this report in pages 130 to 147.   
 
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 148. 

 

 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 June 2020 
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020

2019/20 2018/19
Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Other operating income 2 -                        (180)          
Total operating income -                        (180)          

Gross employee benefits 3.1 2,304                2,359        
Purchase of goods and services 4 424,072            399,472    
Other operating costs 4 182                   133           
Total operating expenditure 426,558            401,964    

Investment revenue 7 -                        -                
Other (gains)/losses 8 -                        -                
Finance costs 9 -                        -                
Net operating costs for the financial year 426,558            401,784    

Of which:
Administration costs
Other operating income 2 -                        -                
Total operating income -                        -                

Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,725                1,694        
Purchase of goods and services 4 3,070                3,264        
Other operating costs 4 182                   133           
Total operating expenditure 4,977                5,091        

Net administration costs 4,977                5,091        

Programme expenditure
Other operating income 2 -                        (180)          
Total operating income -                        (180)          

Gross employee benefits 3.1 579                   665           
Purchase of goods and services 4 421,002            396,208    
Other operating costs 4 -                        -                
Total operating expenditure 421,581            396,873    

Net programme costs 421,581            396,693    

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 426,558            401,784    
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
Note £000 £000

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 11 624 944
Cash and cash equivalents 12 0 158
Total current assets 624 1,102

Total assets 624 1,102

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (30,975) (26,036)
Borrowings 16 (101) 0
Total current liabilities (31,076) (26,036)

Total assets less current liabilities (30,452) (24,934)

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund (30,452) (24,934)
Total taxpayers' equity (30,452) (24,934)

The notes on pages 130 to 147 of the Annual Report form part of this statement.

Dr Neil O'Brien
Accountable Officer
24 June 2020

The financial statements on pages 126 to 147 were approved and authorised for issue by the Audit and 
Assurance Committee on 12 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019/20:

Balance at 1 April 2019 (24,934) (24,934)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2019/20
Net operating costs for the financial year (426,558) (426,558)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (426,558) (426,558)

Net Parliamentary funding 421,040 421,040

Balance at 31 March 2020 (30,452) (30,452)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018/19:

Balance at 1 April 2018 (22,252) (22,252)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2018/19
Net operating costs for the financial year (401,784) (401,784)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (401,784) (401,784)

Net Parliamentary funding 399,102 399,102
Balance at 31 March 2019 (24,934) (24,934)
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020

2019/20 2018/19
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (426,558) (401,784)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 11 320 1,246
Increase in trade and other payables 13 4,939 1,501
Net cash outflow from operating activities (421,299) (399,037)

Net cash outflow before financing (421,299) (399,037)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received 421,040 399,102
Net cash inflow from financing activities 421,040 399,102

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 12 (259) 65

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 158 93

Cash and cash equivalents including bank overdrafts at the end of the financial year (101) 158
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the 
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019/20 issued by the 
Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow 
International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as 
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 
of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going 
concern basis.

NHS North Durham CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having joined with NHS Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield CCG to establish NHS County Durham CCG with effect from 1 April 2020. This followed approval at 
the NHS England Assurance and Development Committee meeting of 9 March 2020.

In March 2020, NHS England and NHS Improvement announced the suspension of the operational planning 
process for 2020/21 and revised arrangements for NHS contracting and payment to apply for part of the 2020/21 
year. In May 2020, CCGs were issued with revised financial management guidance for the corresponding period. 
The contracting arrangements for the rest of 2020/21 and beyond are still to be determined. It remains the case 
that the Government has issued a mandate to NHS England and NHS Improvement for the continued provision of 
services in England in 2020/21 and CCG allocations have been set for the remainder of 2020/21. While these 
allocations may be subject to minor revision as a result of the COVID-19 financial framework, the guidance has 
been clarified to inform CCGs that they will be provided with sufficient funding for the year.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.3 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 
activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:
•                the assets the CCG controls;
•                the liabilities the CCG incurs;
•                the expenses the CCG incurs; and,
•                the CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
•                the CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
•                the CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
•                the CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management 
has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme 
expenditure; 
•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment 
spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date;    
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services; and
•  the estimate of prescribing expenditure for the final two months of the year based on the ten months of actual 
charges received from the Prescription Pricing Division. 

1.5  Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the standard have been employed. These
are as follows:
• as per paragraph 121 of the standard the CCG will not disclose information regarding the performance
obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less;
• the CCG is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient
offered in paragraph B16 of the standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with the value of
the performance completed to date.

The main source of funding for the CCG is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general 
fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 
deferred.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.6 Employee Benefits

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.8.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.9 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cash flows 
from the Statement of Financial Position date:
•                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 0.51% (2018/19: minus 0.76%)
•                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 0.55% (2018/19: minus 1.14%)
•                Timing of cash flows (10 to 40 years inclusive): Minus 1.99% (2018/19: minus 1.99%)
•                Timing of cash flows (over 40 years): Minus 1.99% (2018/19: minus 1.99%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.11 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS 
Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. 
Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains 
with the CCG.

1.12 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. This is a risk pooling scheme under which the 
CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims 
arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims, are 
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.13 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to 
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is 
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.



134

NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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1.14 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case 
of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•                Financial assets at amortised cost;
•                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income;
•                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set 
out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as financial assets at amortised cost.

1.14.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This 
includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.14.2 Impairment

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except 
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract 
assets, the CCG recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.

The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss 
allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 
2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 
other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer 
Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The CCG therefore does not recognise loss 
allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally the Department of Health and 
Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and 
the CCG does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at 
the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any 
adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.15 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.

1.15.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from the Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the 
asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.16 Value Added Tax

1.17 Losses and Special Payments

1.18 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2018/19
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Other non contract revenue -                     -                     -                     180                
Total other operating revenue -                     -                     -                     180                

The impact of IFRS15 has been considered and has no material impact on the financial statements.

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health 
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special 
control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way 
that individual cases are handled.

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Programme revenue is revenue received that is directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG 
and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 April 2021), but not yet adopted by the FREM: early adoption is not therefore permitted;

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2019/20, were they applied in 
that year.

The Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual does not require the following Standards and 
Interpretations to be applied in 2019/20.  These standards are still subject to HM Treasury FREM adoption, with IFRS 16 being 
delayed for implementation to 2021/22, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury 
consideration.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including 
losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance 
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021) but not yet adopted by the FREM: early adoption is not 
therefore permitted;
• IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019).
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2019/20

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages 1,700           1,700             -                   1,211           1,211           -                   489              489              -                   
Social security costs 178              178                -                   136              136              -                   42                42                -                   
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 327              327                -                   279              279              -                   48                48                -                   
Termination benefits 99                99                  -                   99                99                -                   -                   -                   -                   
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,304           2,304             -                   1,725           1,725           -                   579              579              -                   

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2018/19: none).

3.1 Employee benefits (prior year) 2018/19

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages 1,936           1,936             -                   1,360           1,360           -                   576              576              -                   
Social security costs 200              200                -                   158              158              -                   42                42                -                   
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 223              223                -                   176              176              -                   47                47                -                   
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,359           2,359             -                   1,694           1,694           -                   665              665              -                   

3.2 Average number of people employed
2018/19

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 33 33 0 34

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2018/19: none).

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2019/20 2018/19
Number Number

Total Days Lost 240                182              
Total Staff Years 48                  47                
Average working days lost 5                    4                  

The staff sickness absence data for 2019/20 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2019 (2018/19: 12 months ended 31 December 2018).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2018/19: none).

2019/20

Admin ProgrammeTotal

Total Admin Programme

Termination benefits include a contribution to 3 exit packages, 1 agreed in Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees CCG and 2 agreed in South Tees CCG at a cost of £33,120 per package as part of shared 
management arrangements across the CCGs and subsequent CCG mergers.  
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2018/19: none).  The CCG has contributed to termination payments 
in other CCGs as part of shared management arrangements but has no exit packages for anyone directly employed by the 
CCG.

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable 
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

Both Schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health, in England and Wales. The Schemes are not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, each Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in 
the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that Scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that 
would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FREM requires that “the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pension Schemes increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. For 2019/20, 
the CCG continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on 
behalf of the CCG. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.

3.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) 
as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction 
with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust 
figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data 
at 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial 
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FREM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the 
annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

3.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into 
account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme 
members. The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2016.   The 
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019.  The Department of Health and Social 
Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of 
pensionable pay from this date.

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following 
the 2012 valuation.  Following a judgement from the Court of Appeal in December 2018, the Government announced a pause 
to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.



138

NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4. Operating expenses
2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2018/19
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,602          1,712          4,314          4,889          
Services from foundation trusts 17               273,196      273,213      247,350      
Services from other NHS trusts -                  493             493             701             
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                  64,472        64,472        65,733        
Prescribing costs -                  43,119        43,119        42,089        
Pharmaceutical services -                  96               96               106             
Primary Medical Services Costs (GPMS/APMS and PCTMS) -                  35,298        35,298        34,169        
Supplies and services – general 26               8                 34               1,516          
Consultancy services 20               13               33               10               
Establishment 51               188             239             298             
Transport 1                 1                 2                 3                 
Premises 125             2,172          2,297          2,149          
Audit fees 28               -                  28               28               
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services 2                 -                  2                 1                 
Other professional fees 170             207             377             298             
Legal fees 6                 -                  6                 34               
Education and training 22               27               49               98               
Total purchase of goods and services 3,070          421,002      424,072      399,472      

Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 121             -                  121             130             
Clinical negligence 3                 -                  3                 3                 
Other expenditure 58               -                  58               -                  
Total other operating expenditure 182             -                  182             133             

Total operating expenses 3,252          421,002      424,254      399,605      

Included within Other professional fees is £32,674 (2018/19: £28,544) paid for Internal Audit Services.

Limitation of auditor's liability:
The CCG's contract for external audit services provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability of £1,000,000 (2018/19: £1,000,000).

Included within Other expenditure is £58,185 as a contribution towards restructuring costs associated with shared Accountable 
Officer arrangements across County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland CCGs.
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5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2019/20 2019/20 2018/19 2018/19
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 16,978 108,043 17,747 104,632
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 16,942 107,787 17,652 104,222
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.79% 99.76% 99.46% 99.61%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 2,684 279,654 2,510 264,581
Total NHS Trade invoices paid within target 2,676 279,263 2,505 264,287
Percentage of NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.70% 99.86% 99.80% 99.89%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2019/20 (2018/19: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities (2018/19: none).

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2019/20 (2018/19: none).

8. Other gains and losses

There were no other (gains) and losses in 2019/20 (2018/19: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2019/20 (2018/19: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of 
receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense
2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2018/19

Buildings Other Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 123              1                  124              2,101           
Total 123              1                  124              2,101           

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2018/19

Buildings Other Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:
No later than one year 43                -                   43                59                
Between one and five years 30                -                   30                87                
Total 73                -                   73                146              

The CCG has a lease with NHS Property Services Limited for the occupation of premises at the Lavender Centre. 
This note includes future minimum lease payments for the Lavender Centre only.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  The charges shown in note 
10.1.1 from NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the cost of occupancy, calculated based on 
market rents by NHS Property Services Limited. This note no longer includes the cost of void space, attributable 
to the CCG as seen in the previous year, hence the significant reduction in minimum lease payments. 

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and 
the lease of photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by 
individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.
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11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2020 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 311                   -                        191                   -                        
NHS prepayments 3                       -                        339                   -                        
NHS accrued income -                        -                        155                   -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 128                   -                        121                   -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 123                   -                        82                     -                        
VAT 58                     -                        56                     -                        
Other receivables 1                       -                        -                        -                        
Total trade and other receivables 624                   -                        944                   -                        

Total current and non current 624                   944                   

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March 2020 31 March 2019

£000 £000

By up to three months 124                   74                     
By three to six months 35                     8                       
Total 159                   82                     

£121k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: none).

11.2  Expected credit losses on financial assets

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As 
CCGs are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The CCG has reviewed all receivables to determine whether an impairment value is required.  In determining the recoverability of 
a receivable, the CCG considers any change in credit quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the 
reporting date.  The overall level of credit risk is considered to be relatively low due to the proportion of the customer base which 
is comprised of NHS bodies.

The CCG does not expect any credit losses on financial assets in 2019/20 (2018/19: £nil).
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12. Cash and cash equivalents

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 158                93                  
Net change in year (259)               65                  
Balance at 31 March (101)               158                

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service -                     158                
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position -                     158                

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service (101) -                     
Total bank overdrafts (101) -                     

Balance at 31 March (101)               158                

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2020 on behalf of patients (31 March 2019: £nil).

13. Trade and other payables
Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2020 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 3,589             -                     1,231             -                     
NHS accruals 1,872             -                     1,431             -                     
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 2,137             -                     2,120             -                     
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 22,614           -                     20,253           -                     
Social security costs 37                  -                     37                  -                     
Tax 38                  -                     37                  -                     
Other payables 688                -                     927                -                     
Total trade and other payables 30,975           -                     26,036           -                     

Total current and non-current 30,975           26,036           

Other payables include £376k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: £311k).

14. Provisions

There were no provisions to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: none).

15. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: none).

16. Borrowings
Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2020 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
Bank Overdrafts £000 £000 £000 £000
Government Banking Service 101                -                     -                     -                     
Total Overdrafts 101                -                     -                     -                     

Total current and non-current 101                -                     

16.1 Repayment of Principal falling due
DHSC Other Total

£000 £000 £000
Within one year -                     101                101                
Total -                     101                101                

At 31 March 2020, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early 
retirement over 5 years (31 March 2019: none).

The CCG completed a BACS payments run on 31 March 2020 which was due to clear the bank account 3 April 2020 
to enable it to clear balances owed to suppliers prior to the merger. This resulted in the CCG having a credit ledger 
cash position of £101k.  This is acceptable and only reflects a timing difference between the drawdown process and 
cash being available in the bank account on 1 April 2020. This is only a technical adjustment and the amount that the 
CCG has overdrawn its bank account is recorded in note 16 Borrowings below. 
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17. Commitments

18. Financial instruments

18.1 Financial risk management

18.1.1 Currency risk

18.1.2 Interest rate risk

18.1.3 Credit risk

18.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from Parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through Parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk 
than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG 
has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-
to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2020 which are 
not otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2019: none).



144

NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2019/20

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

18. Financial instruments (continued)

18.2 Financial assets

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost Total

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost Total
31 March 2020 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables:
·          NHSE bodies 99                       99                   232                     232                 
·          Other DHSC group bodies 227                     227                 155                     155                 
·          External bodies 114                     114                 80                       80                   
Cash at bank and in hand -                          -                      158                     158                 
Total at 31 March 440                     440                 625                     625                 

18.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total
31 March 2020 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other payables:
·          NHSE bodies 239                     239                 502                     502                 
·          Other DHSC group bodies 16,961                16,961            13,514                13,514            
·          External bodies 13,700                13,700            11,019                11,019            
Other financial liabilities 101                     101                 927                     927                 
Total at 31 March 31,001                31,001            25,962                25,962            

19. Operating segments

20. Pooled budgets

No other pooled budget arrangements were in place during either 2019/20 or 2018/19. 

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2019/20 was £19,299k which was used to commission a range of 
health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund (2018/19: £18,415k).  
This contribution to the BCF is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure.

The CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Durham County Council and Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield CCG in respect of the Better Care Fund (BCF), with effect from 1 April 2015, through a section 75 
agreement.  The BCF operates under a lead commissioner arrangement, with services being commissioned by a 
lead organisation on behalf of the pooled budget, rather than being a jointly controlled operation or jointly 
controlled asset arrangement.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 
operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to 
be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  
As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare 
services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and Statement of Financial Position respectively.
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21. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

*South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)
Cestria Health Centre 1,990         24            29            2            
Chester le Street Health Federation 793            -               28            -             

*South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)
North of England Commissioning Support Unit 4,552         337          164          34           

*South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)
North of England Commissioning Support Unit 4,552         337          164          34           

R Henderson
Chief Finance Officer *South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)

G Findley
Director of Nursing and Quality *South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)

J Chandy
Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 
Delivery *South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)

M Brierley
Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 
Delivery *South CCGs Collaborative (see details below)

Lanchester Medical Centre 722            14            3              2            
Derwentside Healthcare Limited 1,741         10            20            -             
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             

Dr I Spencer
Secondary Care Clinician Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             

Central Durham GP Providers Ltd 1,353         24            -               -             
Dunelm Medical Practice 1,706         -               2              -             
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust (CDDFT) 165,136      -               861          -             

Dr Wright Mens Health Clinic 23              -               -               -             
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust (CDDFT) 165,136      -               861          -             

North Cumbria CCG 88              7              -               -             

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             
A Atkin
Lay Member Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             

F Jassat
Lay Member Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             

Durham County Council 28,065        8,449       3,145       24           
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             

Darlington CCG 15              191          -               1            
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 3,150         782          -               -             
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 144            194          9              1            
South Tees CCG 253            336          -               1            

• NHS England; • NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts; • NHS Resolution; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

* South CCG Collaborative
Senior Officers of the CCG have operated in a 
shared management role across the five CCGs, 
therefore have related party transactions with 
these organisations.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities 
for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. 
Most of these transactions have been with Durham County Council.

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or 
parties related to any of them:

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

Dr I Davidson
Medical Director

A Healey / D Elliott
Durham County Council

Dr N O'Brien
Accountable Officer 

N Bailey
Chief Officer

S Findlay 
Chief Officer

J Whitehouse             
Lay Member

Dr P Wright
GP Constituency Lead

Dr D Smart
Chair
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21. Related party transactions (continued)

2018/19 comparative figures:

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cestria Health Centre 1,964          22            29            -             
Chester le Street Health Federation 439             -               -               -             
Darlington CCG 9                 150          -               6            
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 27               233          40            -             
South Tees CCG 48               57            -               -             
Academic Health Science Network 15               -               -               -             

Darlington CCG 9                 150          -               6            
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 27               233          40            -             
South Tees CCG 48               57            -               -             

Darlington CCG 9                 150          -               6            
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 27               233          40            -             
South Tees CCG 48               57            -               -             
North of England Commissioning Support Unit 5,079          69            64            31          

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          
Phoenix Medical Group 3                 -               -               -             
Lanchester Medical Centre 674             -               1              -             
Derwentside Healthcare Limited 1,270          6              20            -             

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          

Dunelm Medical Practice 1,557          1              2              -             
Central Durham GP Providers Limited 881             33            72            -             
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust (TEWV) 44,202        8              143          -             
County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 153,859      -               809          313        

Dr P Wright
GP Constituency Lead Dr Wright Mens Health Clinic 27               -               - -             

North Cumbria CCG 42               10            -               -             
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          

A Atkin
Lay Member Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          

F Jassat
Lay Member Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          

Durham County Council 30,349        7,291       673          -             

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 2,311          758          204          51          

Dr I Spencer
Secondary Care Clinician

Dr D Smart
Chair

J Whitehouse                                              
Lay Member

A Healey / D Elliott
Durham County Council

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

J Chandy
Director of Primary Care 
Development (non-clinical)
Dr I Davidson
Medical Director

During 2018/19 the CCG undertook transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key 
management staff, or parties related to any of them:

Dr N O'Brien
Clinical Chief Officer 

N Bailey
Chief Officer

S Findlay (from 1st October)
Chief Officer
G Findley
Director of Nursing
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22. Events after the end of the reporting period

23. Losses and special payments

There were no losses or special payments identified in 2019/20 (2018/19: none).

24. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2019/20 2019/20 2018/19 2018/19
Target Performance Target Performance

£000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure not to exceed income 427,808          426,558          403,964           401,964          
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions -                      -                      -                       -                      
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 427,808          426,558          403,784           401,784          
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions -                      -                      -                       -                      
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 35,445            34,878            34,322             33,772            
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 5,535              4,977              5,422               5,091              

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 422,273          5,535               427,808          
Net operating cost for the financial year 421,581          4,977               426,558          
Underspend against revenue resource 692                 558                  1,250              

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 398,362          5,422               403,784          
Net operating cost for the financial year 396,693          5,091               401,784          
Underspend against revenue resource 1,669              331                  2,000              

From 1 April 2020 NHS North Durham CCG was dissolved with all functions, assets and liabilities transferred to the newly 
established NHS County Durham CCG.

The CCG received no capital resource during 2019/20 and incurred no capital expenditure (2018/19: none).

The CCG has delivered an in-year surplus of £1.25m in 2019/20, in line with plans agreed with NHS England.  

CCG financial performance is reported on an in-year basis.  The figures within this note reflect only the in-year position, being 
the difference between the in-year allocation (plus any pre-approved surplus drawdown) and total expenditure.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY 
OF NHS NORTH DURHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 24. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and 
adapted by the 2019/20 HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (the 2019/20 FReM) as 
contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019/20 
and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of 
the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the Accounts 
Direction). 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS North Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2020 and of its net operating costs for the year 
then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report 
below. We are independent of the clinical commissioning group in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the Comptroller and Auditor General’s (C&AG)  
AGN01, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

 
Emphasis of matter – Disclosures in relation to going concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 1.1 of the financial statements, which describes the financial and 
operational disruption the CCG is facing as a result of COVID-19 which is impacting financial 
planning and contractual arrangements for patient care within the NHS; and note 22 to the 
financial statements which explains that the CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having 
joined with NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG to establish NHS County 
Durham CCG with effect from 1 April 2020. In accordance with Department for Health and 
Social Care GAM requirements the financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis as described in note 1.1. Our opinion is not modified in respect of these 
matters. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require us to report to you where: 
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• the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of 
at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

 
Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on 
pages 1 to 124, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
In our opinion the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Accounts 
Directions issued thereunder. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required to report to you if: 

• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued 
by the NHS Commissioning Board; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an 
officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or 
would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has 
begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2020. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects.  
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set out on 
pages 83 and 84, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible 
for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing 
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Accountable Officer either intends to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is responsible for 
the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 
resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are 
satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.   

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in April 2020, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined 
this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in 
satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2020. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be 
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability 
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Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper 
arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Regularity opinion 
We are responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit 
Practice"). 
 
We are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS North Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of  NHS North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
 
Stephen Clark (Key Audit Partner) 
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor) 
Birmingham 
2 July 2020 
 
The maintenance and integrity of the NHS North Durham CCG web site is the responsibility of the 
members; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, 
accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the 
financial statements since they were initially presented on the web site. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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	In addition to the immediate pressure and demand on the health economy, the longer-term recovery of services to meet the demands of less urgent treatment for patients will represent a potential risk and challenge through 2020/21.
	The impact of COVID-19 on the health service and wider health economy is unprecedented and an evolving picture, which will continue to be managed over the coming months.
	The CCG received substantial assurance with three minor recommendations.

	Assurance over the relevant control environments in place for these systems has been gained from independent auditor reports for the year ended 31 March 2020, in accordance with ISAE3402. No significant control deficiencies have been identified from t...
	The reports provided in respect of Capita from 2016/17 to 2018/19 did identify a number of deficiencies in the operation of controls, although significant improvements had been seen over that time, with only a small number of control exceptions being ...
	Appropriate substantive work has been performed by the CCG’s external auditors which helps to mitigate the lack of assurance over the operation of control environment within Capita.
	Payroll services are also received from a third party provider in Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. The CCG’s own system of internal controls provides assurance over the operation of payroll, this includes the Scheme of Reservation and Dele...
	My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal ...
	As part of the CCG’s risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has been in place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of the principal risks and assurances to meeting and...
	The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in place against each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in controls and assurances where required. This is supplemented by detailed risk registers t...
	The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed.
	As highlighted above, the Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role in providing assurance to the Governing body on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and governance arrangements operated by the CCG. As part of this the work of both ...
	Similarly, no significant governance or internal control issues have been identified through Governing Body, Management Executive or any other assurance process which impact upon my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
	As described within the third party assurances section above, external assurances have been obtained over all significant outsourced services, including commissioning support services from NECS. No significant issues have been identified which impact ...
	The Head of Internal Audit opinion is set out above. This contributes to the assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG’s system of internal...
	Conclusion

	Remuneration and Staff Report

	Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

	00J_CCG_Statutory_Accounts_Template_2019-20_M12_FINAL.pdf
	Contents
	SOCNE
	SOFP
	SOCITE
	SCF
	Note 1
	Note 1 (2)
	Note 1 (3)
	Note 1 (4)
	Note 1 (5)
	Note 1-2
	3
	Note 3.4-3.5
	Note 4
	Note 5-9
	Note 10
	Note 11.
	Note 12-16
	Note 17-18
	Note 18-20
	Note 21.
	Note 21 (1)
	Note 22-24


	20 NDCCG - Draft audit report.pdf



